

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2023

# PROTACs – A Novel and Rapidly Developing Field of Targeted Protein Degradation

Hannah R. Gatley Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Amino Acids, Peptides, and Proteins Commons, Cancer Biology Commons, and the Molecular Biology Commons

© The Author

### Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/7476

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

# PROTACs – A Novel and Rapidly Developing Field of Targeted Protein Degradation

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University.

By

Hannah Rose Gatley

Bachelors of Science, Human Emphasis, University of California Merced, 2020

Director: Swadesh Das, Ph.D. Associate Professor Department of Human and Molecular Genetics School of Medicine

> Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia 2023

# Acknowledgements

The last three years have been a wild rollercoaster in the journey of completing my Master's degree. I entered the HMG program in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, uncertain of the current state of the world but excited to continue my education and expand my knowledge in order to delve into the field of genetics. I want to thank the Department of Human and Molecular Genetics and Virginia Commonwealth University for accepting me into their program and school so I can begin my graduate journey. I also want to thank the multiple professors, guest speakers, and my fellow genetic students in working alongside me to expand my knowledge and learn new skills. I would like to thank Dr. Rita Shiang for her assistance throughout my graduate program, from my initial application to VCU to now preparing for graduation, as well as Dr. Timothy York for accepting me in his lab for a rotation. I would like to thank Dr. Paul Fisher for accepting me into his lab and all the members of Dr. Fisher's laboratory for helping me with my thesis project as well as with improving my benchwork skills. I would like to extend extreme thanks for my project committee for their continued help and support in my graduate journey: Dr. Swadesh Das, my primary advisor, Dr. Luni Emdad, and Dr. Paul Dent. I also want to thank my family and friends for supporting me over the last three years. Finally, I want to thank myself for believing in me and pushing myself to work hard and strive to never give up. There were a lot of ups and downs, but I am proud of what I have accomplished and cannot wait to go out and tackle the professional world.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	2
Table of Contents	3
List of Figures/Tables	5
Abbreviations	6
Abstract	12
1. Introduction	13
2. PROTACs and Ubiquitin-Proteasome System	14
3. Classification of PROTACs	16
3.a. Peptide-based PROTACs	16
3.b. Small molecule-based PROTACs	
3.b.1. MDM2	20
3.b.2. cIAP	20
3.b.3. VHL	21
3.b.4. CRBN	22
3.c. Nucleotide-based PROTACs	22
4. PROTAC Application in Targeted Cancer Therapeutics	23
4.a. Targeting angiogenesis induction	24
4.b. Targeting apoptosis resistance	27
4.c. Targeting inflammation and immune evasion induction	31
4.d. Targeting cancer cell metastasis	
4.e. Targeting cancer cell proliferation	
5. PROTAC Application in Other Diseases	47
5.a. Cardiovascular diseases	49
5.b. Immune-mediated inflammatory diseases	50
5.c. Neurodegenerative diseases	51
5.d. Viral infections	53

6. PROTAC Transition into Clinical Setting	55
7. Novel PROTAC Technologies	59
7.a. CLIPTACs	61
7.b. Homo-PROTACs	62
7.c. PhotoPROTACs	63
7.c.1. Photoswitchable PhotoPROTACs	63
7.c.2. Photocaged PhotoPROTACs	63
7.d. Tag-based PROTACs	64
8. PROTAC Advantages and Limitations	64
8.a. Advantages of PROTAC technology	64
8.b. Limitations of PROTAC technology	65
9. Considerations for Future Directions	66
10. Conclusion	67
References	69

# List of Figures/Tables

Figure 1: Mechanism of Ubiquitin-Proteasome System and PROTAC	15
Table 1: Representative peptide-based PROTACs	17
Figure 2: Structures of most reported E3 ligands	19
Figure 3: Updated Hallmarks of Cancer graphic as of 2022	24
Table 2: Representative PROTACs targeting cancer angiogenesis	25
Table 3: Representative PROTACs targeting cancer apoptosis	29
Table 4: Representative PROTACs targeting cancer inflammation or immune evasion 32-3	34
Table 5: Representative PROTACs targeting cancer metastasis  36-3	37
Table 6: Representative PROTACs targeting cancer proliferation	45
Table 7: Representative PROTACs for Cardiovascular, IMID, Neurodegenerative, and Viral       Diseases       48-4	49
Table 8: PROTACs currently in clinical application or in clinical development	57
Figure 4: Structures of clinical trial PROTAC drugs	58
Figure 5: Mechanism of novel PROTAC technologies	61

# **Abbreviations**

- $\alpha$ -syn  $\alpha$ -synuclein
- ABC Activated B-cell
- *AbTAC* Antibody-based PROTAC
- AD Alzheimer's disease
- ALK Anaplastic lymphoma kinase
- ALL Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
- ALS Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
- AML Acute monocytic leukemia
- AMPK-AMP-activated protein kinase
- APC-Aptamer-PROTAC conjugate
- AR Androgen receptor
- AS Ankylosing spondylitis
- ATRA All-trans retinoic acid
- *AUTAC* Autophagy-targeting chimera
- BBB Blood brain barrier
- BC Breast cancer
- BCL-2 B-cell lymphoma 2
- $BCL-X_L$  B-cell lymphoma extra-large
- BCR B-cell receptor
- BET Bromodomain & extraterminal domain
- bFGF Basic fibroblast growth factor
- $BK_{Ca}$  Large-conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channel
- BRD2/3/4/7/9 Bromodomain-containing protein 2/3/4/7/9
- BTK Bruton's tyrosine kinase
- CD147 Cluster of differentiation 147
- cdc Cell division control

- CDK Cyclin-dependent kinase
- CHIP C-terminal Hsc70-interacting protein
- *c-IAP1/2* Cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 1/2
- CK2 Casein kinase II
- CML Chronic myeloid leukemia
- *CNS* Central nervous system
- COPD Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- CPP Cell-penetrating protein
- CRABP1/2 Cellular retinoic acid-binding protein 1/2
- CRBN Cereblon
- CRL Cullin-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase
- C-TPD-43 C-terminal TPD-43
- Da Dalton
- *DBP* DNA-binding protein
- dCas9HT7-dCas9-Halotag7 fusion protein
- DLBCL Diffuse large b-cell lymphoma
- DR Death receptor
- *E1* Ubiquitin-activating enzyme
- E2 Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme
- $E_2$  17 $\beta$ -estradiol hormone
- *E3* Ubiquitin ligase
- EC Endothelial cell
- eEF2K Eukaryotic elongation factor 2 kinase
- EGFR Epidermal growth factor receptor
- *EMT* Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
- $ER\alpha$  Estrogen receptor alpha
- $ERR\alpha$  Estrogen receptor-related receptor alpha
- FAK/PTK2 Focal adhesion kinase

- FOXM1 Forkhead box protein M1
- *GS* Glutamine synthetase
- $GSK-3\beta$  Glycogen synthase kinase 3
- *HA* Hemagglutinin
- *HBV/HCV* Hepatitis B/C virus
- HCMV Human cytomegalovirus
- HD Huntington's disease
- HDAC Histone deacetylases
- *HDACi* HDAC inhibitor
- *HCC* Hepatocellular carcinoma
- *HIF-1* $\alpha$  Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha
- *HIV* Human immunodeficiency virus
- HMG-CoA 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A
- HMGCR HMG-CoA reductase
- *H-PGD* Hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase
- HPK-1 Hematopoietic progenitor kinase 1
- *IAP* Inhibitor of apoptosis
- IBD Inflammatory bowel disease
- *ILF2* Interleukin enhancer-binding factor 2
- IMID Immune-mediated inflammatory disease
- *IMiD* Immunomodulatory imide drug
- INM Indomethacin
- ITK IL2-inducible T-cell kinase
- JAK-STAT Janus kinase-Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- *LDL* Low-density lipoprotein
- *LYTAC* Lysosome-targeting chimera
- *M1 protein* Matrix gene segment
- *mAbs* Monoclonal antibodies

- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- *MCL-1* Myeloid cell leukemia-1
- *mCRPC* Metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer
- MDCK.2 Madin-Darby canine kidney cells
- MDM2 Human murine / mouse double minute 2
- MeBS Methyl bestatin
- *MetAP-2* Methionine aminopeptidase-2
- *MM* Multiple myeloma
- MOA Mechanism of action
- *MOMP* Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
- MS Multiple sclerosis
- *mHtt* Mutant huntingtin protein
- MW-Molecular weight
- NA Neuraminidase
- NF- $\kappa B$  Nuclear factor  $\kappa B$
- NSCLC Non-Small cell lung cancer
- NS3 Nonstructural protein 3
- NSP7 Non-structural protein
- PARP1 Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1
- *PBMC* Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
- PCAF/GCNS P300/CBP-associated factor / general control nonderepressible 5
- PD Parkinson's disease
- *PEG* Polyethylene glycol
- PNS Peripheral nervous system
- PPI-Protein-protein interaction
- *POI* Protein of interest
- *PRC2* Polycomb repressive complex 2
- Pre-let-7 Let-7 precursor

- PROTAC Proteolysis targeting chimera
- *p-PROTAC* Peptide-based PROTAC
- *PTGES-2* Prostaglandin E synthase type-2
- PSA Prostate-specific antigen
- PsA Psoriatic arthritis
- RA Rheumatoid arthritis

*Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK* – Ras/Raf/mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase/extracellular-signal-regulated kinase

- RAR Retinoic acid receptor
- *RBP* RNA-binding protein
- RIBOTAC Ribonuclease-targeting chimera
- RIPK2 Receptor-interacting serine/threonine protein kinase 2
- RNAi RNA interface
- *RNP* Ribonucleoprotein particle
- *RTK* Receptor kinase domain
- SARM Selective androgen receptor modulator
- SARS-CoV-2 Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
- *SCF* Skp1-Cullin-F box complex
- SERD Selective estrogen receptor degraders
- SMI Small molecule inhibitor
- SMPI-Small-molecule proteolysis inducer
- SNIPER Specific & nongenetic IAP-dependent protein eraser
- SREBP Sterol regulatory element-binding protein
- STAT3 Signal transducer & activator of transcription 3
- T-ALL T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia
- *TCR* T-cell receptor
- $TEV_{CS}$  Tobacco etch virus cleavage site
- $TEV_P$  TEV protease
- TF Transcription factor

- *TME* Tumor microenvironment
- *TNBC* Triple negative breast cancer
- TPD Targeted protein degradation
- *TRAFTAC* Transcription factor targeting chimera
- UPS Ubiquitin-proteasome system
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- VEGFR Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
- VHL von Hippel-Lindau
- *XIAP* X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis

# **Abstract**

There is a continued need for new technology and strategies for tackling cancer and other diseases, and within the current century a novel therapeutic strategy has emerged in the realm of targeted protein degradation called Proteolysis-Targeting Chimeras (PROTACs). This technology specifically targets and degrades disease-causing proteins via the ubiquitin-proteasome system, and has seen an explosion of research and intrigue in both academia and industry over the past two decades. The diversity of PROTAC classes based on the E3 ligase recruiting ligand and the target protein allows for a universal molecular structure that can be customized for a specific target and disease. While it is primarily heavily focused in the realm of cancer therapeutics, PROTACs have expanded into other diseases such as cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and virus-caused diseases. The discovery of novel PROTAC designs also allows for the field to overcome its own shortcomings and develop into new directions. Overall, the intrigue of PROTAC technology's ability to degrade 'undruggable' targets has driven the field of research to expand rapidly in the short time since its initial discovery and continued intense efforts will help further shape the field to transition into the clinical setting to benefit the world.

## **1. Introduction**

Proteins are crucial to the vitality of all living cells and are responsible for a myriad of cellular functions. Misfolded proteins that are not degraded within the cell can develop further into malignant tumors or other diseases that can be detrimental to human health<sup>1</sup>. Over the past few decades multiple new therapeutic strategies have emerged in order to try and address these major issues. These strategies include utilizing RNA interference (RNAi) or CRISPR/Cas9 technologies to either correct or degrade protein-encoding genes, as well as utilizing monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) or small molecule inhibitors (SMIs) to bind to and subsequently inhibit proteins. Despite their therapeutic potential, these technologies suffer from several faults that limit their efficacy such as drug resistance and unwanted off-target effects<sup>2-4</sup>. A novel therapeutic strategy which is gaining immense intrigue is targeted protein degradation (TPD), which specifically targets and degrades disease-causing proteins. Two common TPD drug types currently utilized in oncology clinical trials are immunomodulatory imide drugs (ImiDs) and selective estrogen receptor degraders (SERDs). While both of these TPD classes are effective in degrading their specific targets, they still suffer from poor pharmacokinetics, drug toxicity, and observed side effects in patients<sup>5</sup>. One strategy of TPD that has seen a rapid development and rising interest since its initial discovery is the utilization of PRoteolysis TArgeting Chimeras (PROTACs) due to its event-driven mechanism of action (MOA) and potential for degrading "undruggable" targets<sup>6</sup>.

PROTACs are heterobifunctional small molecule compounds composed of three elements. First is the ligand that binds to the protein of interest (POI) called the POI ligand, the ligand that binds to the E3 ubiquitin ligase called the E3 ligand, and the linker that connects the two ligands together<sup>7</sup>. The first reported proof of concept for a PROTAC occurred in 2001 when Deshaies laboratory developed Protac-1 to successfully induce MetAP-2 degradation via ubiquitindependent proteolysis<sup>8</sup>. Several more papers were published afterwards utilizing peptide-based PROTACs that targeted disease-promoting proteins for degradation before the first small molecule-based PROTAC utilizing a human murine/mouse double minute 2 (MDM2) E3 ligase recruiting ligand was developed and reported in 2008<sup>9</sup>. The field of PROTACs underwent a transformation in the mid-2010s with the discovery and exploitation of several other small molecule-based PROTACs such as the Cereblon complex (CRBN), Von Hippel-Lindaucontaining complex (VHL), and inhibitor of apoptosis protein (IAP)<sup>2, 10</sup>. The development of numerous new PROTAC technologies and the transition into clinical trials within the past five years have caused an explosion of research interest within both academia and industry, with a PubMed search of PROTACs producing 480 resulting publications in 2022 alone. This paper will highlight PROTAC mechanism, classification, and current applications to the realm of cancer and other diseases. Newer PROTAC technologies will be addressed, along with current and future clinical trials. Finally, the advantages and limitations of PROTACs will be discussed, concluding with considerations for improvements and future research directions both in vitro and in vivo.

# 2. PROTACs and Ubiquitin-Proteasome System

There are two major pathways within eukaryotic cells that control and mediate protein degradation. The first is the lysosomal proteolysis pathway, which utilizes lysosomes for the uptake and degradation of proteins<sup>11</sup>. The second is the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), which utilizes the 76-amino-acid polypeptide ubiquitin and the 26S proteasome for protein degradation (Figure 1a). Ubiquitin is tagged onto the target protein through a cascade of enzymes, beginning with the ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1) before being transferred to the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2) and then finally the ubiquitin-ligase (E3). E3 previously underwent substrate recognition with the target protein, and its subsequent attachment with E2 allows for the transfer of ubiquitin onto the target protein via its lysine residue. Repeated ubiquitination leads to the formation of a polyubiquitin chain on the target protein, which then directs it to the 26S proteasome for ATP-dependent degradation<sup>12-15</sup>. This mechanism for degrading both normal and misfolded proteins is highly conversed within eukaryotic cells and is crucial in maintaining intracellular homeostasis, regulating numerous important biological processes including proliferation, cell cycle control, and apoptosis. Dysregulation of the UPS causes the loss of protein quality control within the cell, thus resulting in malignancy development and tumorigenesis<sup>16, 17</sup>.

#### A.





Figure 1) Mechanism of a) Ubiquitin-Proteasome System and b) PROTAC. Created using BioRender.com.

PROTACs have been designed to hijack the UPS in order to degrade target proteins (Figure 1b). Within the human proteasome, there are two E1s, roughly forty E2s, and over six hundred E3s. PROTACs simultaneously recruit and bind to the POI and E3 ligase, forming the "E3-PROTAC-POI" ternary complex. This allows for the ubiquitination of the POI and its subsequent degradation via the 26S proteasome<sup>18-20</sup>. The PROTAC is then recycled, targeting another copy of the POI to repeat the ubiquitination process once more. As such, a single PROTAC molecule can lead to a sub-stoichiometric protein knockdown, inducing more back-to-back protein degradation<sup>21, 22</sup>. While there has been significant investigation into the lipophilicity of PROTACs in order for them to interact with the UPS for degradation, there is currently no reports of the subsequent degradation and removal of PROTACs from both the cells and the body. Sub-stoichiometric activity would suggest that after a certain number of protein degradations the PROTAC will eventually lose functionality, but it is uncertain whether or not the PROTAC would be broken down into its individual components to then be degraded or exit

the cells as a whole molecule and then subsequently removed from the body. More research should be conducted into this area in order to answer this question.

# **3.** Classification of PROTACs

The categorization of PROTACs begins with the variations of the POI ligand, whose chemical structure allows for PROTACs to be divided into three distinct groups. First are peptide-based PROTACs (p-PROTACs), then small molecule-based PROTACs, and finally the most recently contrived nucleotide-based PROTACs. These groups can then be further classified depending on the chemical structure of the E3 ligand.

#### 3.a. Peptide-based PROTACs

p-PROTACs use peptidic POI ligands that simulate natural binding protein sequences, giving them a larger surface area contact for regulating protein-protein interaction (PPI) in comparison to small molecule PROTACs<sup>23</sup>. The very first PROTAC utilized I $\kappa$ Ba phosphopeptide as the E3 ligand which recognized a ubiquitin ligase complex Skp1-Cullin-F box complex (SCF), binding to the protein β-TRCP. The POI ligand, ovalicin, was selected as the other PROTAC domain to target methionine aminopeptidase-2 (MetAP-2) due to the compound's ability to inhibit MetAP-2 activity. Because MetAP-2 is not known to have any correlation to the SCF complex, Protac-1 was synthesized to artificially recruit MetAP-2 to the SCF<sup> $\beta$ -TRCP</sup> and was successful in MetAP-2 recruitment, ubiquitination, and degradation<sup>8</sup>. Two years later the concept of SCF <sup>β-TRCP</sup> recruitment was further expanded to develop p-PROTACs that targeted estrogen receptor alpha (Era) and androgen receptor (AR) for degradation, successfully showing proof of concept for PROTACs to artificially target other disease-promoting proteins to the UPS<sup>24</sup>. Despite their potential in clinical use, these early p-PROTACs had too high of a molecular weight and needed to be microinjected, along with the potential for the phosphopeptides to be susceptible to intracellular phosphatases. This challenge was overcome with the development of cell-permeable p-PROTACs that utilized von Hippel-Lindau protein (VHL) as the E3 ligand, with the first VHLlinked p-PROTACs successfully targeting and degrading PI3K and FRS2a within various cancer cell types<sup>25, 26</sup>.

Over the past two decades, several p-PROTACs have been successfully developed and demonstrated to target specific POIs within a myriad of cancers and neurodegenerative diseases (Table 1). p-PROTACs also benefit from the utilization of cell-penetrating peptides (CPPs), which are short peptides composed of less than 40 amino acids that can cross across the cell membrane through numerous mechanisms, namely endocytosis, direct penetration, and transitory structure translocation<sup>27</sup>. These peptides, such as poly-D-arginine and HIV-1 TAT, can deliver a myriad of bioactive cargo (peptides, proteins, oligonucleotides, drug molecules) into a cell via covalent or noncovalent interactions, making it an effective intracellular delivery technique<sup>23, 28, 29</sup>.

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	СРР	Cancer(s)/ Disease	Reference(s)
ErbB2PPPI3K	PI3K	VHL	PEG	ErbB2 phosphorylation site	Polyarginine	BC, OC	25, 26
TrkAPP FRS2a	FRS2α	VHL	Ahx	TrkA trans- autophosphorylation site	Polyarginine	Pheos	25, 26
PROTAC- X-protein	X- protein	VHL	NL	Oligomerization peptide	Polyarginine	HBV-induced HCC	30
PROTAC- Akt	Akt	VHL	PEG	tri_a	TAT	OC	31
NL	Tau- protein	VHL	GSGS	Tau recognition peptide (TH006)	Polyarginine	AD	32
TD- PROTAC	ERα	VHL	Ahx	TD-PERM	NL	BC	33
NL	Tau- protein	Keap1	GSGS	Tau recognition peptide	Polyarginine	BMC, NB, Pheos	34
Compound I-6	ERα	VHL	Ahx	Lactam cyclic peptide	NL	BC	35
PRTC	CREPT	VHL	Ahx	CREPT Ligand	Pentapeptide	PaC	36
xStAx- VHLL	Wnt/B- catenin	VHL	Ahx	xStAx	NA	CRC, HEK293T cells	37
FOXM1- PROTAC	FOXM1	Pomalidomide	PEG	F-1 peptide	TAT	Liver Cancer	38
Au-AR pep- PROTAC	AR DBD	MDM2	GGSGG	AR DBD targeting peptide	Au-peptide	CRPC	39

Table 1) Representative peptide-based PROTACs, arranged by publication date. (AD – alzheimer's disease, Ahx – aminohexanoic acid, BC – breast cancer, BMC – bone marrow cancer, CRC – colorectal cancer, CRPC – castration resistant prostate cancer, DBD – DNA binding domain, HBV-induced HCC – hepatitis b virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma, LC – lung cancer NA – not applicable, NB – Neuroblastoma, NL – not listed in publication, OC – ovarian cancer, PaC – pancreatic cancer, PEG – polyethylene glycol, Pheos -Pheochromocytoma)

#### 3.b. Small molecule-based PROTACs

Small molecule-based PROTACs utilize small molecules – particularly FDA approved drugs – as the POI ligand, allowing for increased cell permeability and digestion resistance<sup>18</sup>. The discovery of these small molecule-based PROTACs rapidly evolved and shaped the field, expanding the number of disease-promoting proteins that can be targeted. One of the major advancements with small molecule-based PROTACs is that it has more E3 ligands exploited and available for use in comparison to p-PROTACs. There are currently four major E3 ligases reportedly targeted for all small molecule-based PROTACs: MDM2, IAP, small-molecule VHL, and CRBN (Figure 2)<sup>2</sup>.







**Idasanutlin (RG7388)** 







VHL-L 107 (VHL 1)

VHL-L 122 (VHL 2)

D.





Lenalidomide

Figure 2) Structures of most reported E3 ligands for a) MDM2, b) IAP, c) small molecule VHL, and d) CRBN used for targeted protein degradation.

#### 3.b.1. MDM2

Within normal cells, the tumor suppressor p53 protein is a crucial transcription factor (TF) in cancer prevention, either inducing growth arrest for DNA damage repair or apoptosis for unrepairable cell degradation. This "guardian of the genome" can experience a loss of function via point mutation or gene deletion, allowing for the damaged DNA to undergo unrestrained proliferation and result in cancer and other disease development. Therefore, focus on restoring p53 within cancer cells has been one of the goals for cancer therapeutic research<sup>40-44</sup>. MDM2 is a well-known negative regulator of the p53 tumor suppressor, able to inhibit the protein and regulate its homeostasis through three general techniques<sup>45, 46</sup>. First, it can directly bind to the transactivation domain and subsequently inhibit p53. Second, it contains a nuclear export signal sequence, inducing p53 nuclear export once bound together and preventing p53 from being able to bind to its target DNAs. Third, and the most efficient, it is an E3 ubiquitin ligase which stimulates p53 ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation<sup>47-49</sup>. The MDM2-p53 interaction is uncoupled via numerous mechanisms upon exposure to different stress signals within the cell, resulting in activation of the p53 pathway<sup>50</sup>. Research targeting and disrupting the MDM2-p53 interaction to result in rehabilitation of p53 function has been explored in the field of cancer therapeutics, with two current variations of MDM2-related PROTAC degraders being utilized for TPD. The first recruits an MDM2 inhibitor as the POI ligand to degrade the MDM2, and the second recruits MDM2 as the E3 ligand to degrade other POIs for degradation (Figure 2a)<sup>46</sup>.

The first MDM2-based – and first ever small molecule-based – PROTAC utilized Nutlin-3, a powerful MDM2 inhibitor, as the E3 ligand and a non-steroidal selective androgen receptor modulator (SARM) as the POI ligand, with a PEG-based linker connecting the two domains. This SARM-nutlin PROTAC successfully recruited AR for ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation within HeLa cells<sup>9</sup>. Nutlin-3 (including variations 3a and 3b) is the primary E3 ligand utilized for MDM2-based PROTACs, along with RG7388 inhibitor (idasanutlin) which was discovered in 2013 as a second generation nutlin capable of MDM2-p53 interaction inhibition<sup>51, 52</sup>. MDM2-based PROTACs have also successfully targeted bromodomaincontaining protein 4 (BRD4), Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-I (PARP1), and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutants<sup>53-55</sup>. There has also been a recent study where a series of potent MDM2 degrading PROTACs have been synthesized, with the most promising compound MD-224 as the POI ligand and CRBN E3 ligand resulting in MDM2 degradation within human leukemia cells<sup>56</sup>. MG-277, an analogue of MD-224, showed that modifying the simple structure resulted in the first example of conversion of a bona fide MDM2 PROTAC degrader into a "molecular glue", inducing GSPT1 degradation<sup>57</sup>. Despite the therapeutic potential MDM2 portrays due to its dual-mode MOA, further inquiries had lagged as a result of interest directed towards other small molecule E3 ligands.

### 3.b.2. IAP

IAP family proteins are a class of negative regulators for apoptosis, inhibiting caspases in order to suppress apoptotic cell death. Along with their ability to inhibit apoptosis, IAP proteins can also have functions in a variety of other biological functions, such as mediating inflammatory signaling and mitogenic kinase signaling<sup>58-61</sup>. The IAP family consists of eight members, with

the most well-known being cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 1 (c-IAP1), cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (c-IAP2), and X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis  $(XIAP)^{62-64}$ . IAPs are often overexpressed in cancers and other diseases, making them a target of interest for cancer therapeutics. One of the most prominent functions of IAP is that they are an E3 ubiquitin ligase that can promote degradation of NIK, a key kinase in the noncanonical nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) signaling pathway<sup>65</sup>. As such, IAP-based PROTACs, also known as specific and nongenetic IAP-dependent protein erasers (SNIPERs), have been synthesized with IAP inhibitors and their derivatives as the E3 ligand (Figure 2b)<sup>66</sup>.

The first IAP-based PROTACs utilized methyl bestatin (MeBS), which binds to and promotes cIAP1 auto-ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation, as the E3 ligand and *all-trans* retinoic acid (ATRA) as the POI ligand, connected via a linker. This PROTAC targeted and successfully degraded cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins I and II (CRABP1/CRABP2) in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and fibrosarcoma cells<sup>67</sup>. Despite the successful degradation of the target protein, this PROTAC also induced auto-ubiquitylation and degradation of cIAP1, though this was overcome with a following study that redesigned the PROTAC by switching the ester group at the MeBS linker attachment with an amide group, allowing for only CRABP2 degradation<sup>68</sup>. IAP-based PROTACs have also successfully degraded a myriad of POIs across various cancers and diseases, including AR, BCR-ABL, BRD4, ER $\alpha$ , EGFR, mutant huntingtin protein (mHtt), and retinoic acid receptors (RARs)<sup>65, 69-71</sup>. These PROTACs have great therapeutic potential due to their parallel degrading pathways, though fewer reports of their utilization limit the target scope knowledge.

## 3.b.3. Small molecule VHL

The VHL protein functions as a substrate-recognizing subunit of the Cullin-RING E3 ligase complex (VHL-EloBC-Rbx1-Cul2 complex / CRL2<sup>VHL</sup> complex), where it is associated with the Cullin2 central scaffold subunit, ElonginB and ElonginC adaptor subunits, and Rbx1 RING subunit. Under normoxic conditions, VHL specifically binds to hydroxylated hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ), an oxygen-dependent TF with roles in tumor angiogenesis, resulting in its ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation<sup>72-75</sup>. This tumor suppressor protein acts as a negative regulator of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , playing a role in gene regulation and cell division control, thus making it a formidable drug target for cancer therapy<sup>76</sup>. VHL-linked p-PROTACs were designed to target the HIF-1 $\alpha$  peptide fragment, but had several drawbacks typically seen within p-PROTACs such as cell permeability difficulties. To overcome these limitations, VHL-based small molecule PROTACs were developed utilizing VHL ligands that focused on small molecule inhibitors as replacements for these fragments (Figure 2c)<sup>77-79</sup>.

After the discovery of the VHL ligands, the first VHL-based small molecule PROTACs were reported, successfully targeting and degrading the estrogen receptor-related receptor  $\alpha$  (ERR $\alpha$ ) and receptor-interacting serine/threonine protein kinase 2 (RIPK2) in breast cancer (BC) and acute monocytic leukemia (AML)<sup>21</sup>. This E3 ligand is one of the most reported variations of small molecule-based PROTACs published, with over 50 POIs reported over numerous cancers and other diseases including (but not limited to) the bromodomain and extraterminal domain (BET) family, BCR-ABL, anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK), and TRIM24<sup>80-84</sup>. One of the

main intrigues of VHL-based small molecule PROTACs is that they have a high targetspecificity, making them have high potency and thus are one of the two major PROTACs seen reported to date<sup>85</sup>.

## 3.b.4. CRBN

The CRBN protein has several diverse roles within the body, ranging from cell metabolism and proliferation to apoptosis and pathogenesis. It acts as the substrate recognizing subunit of the CRL4<sup>CRBN</sup> E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, which includes damaged DNA binding protein 1 (DDB1), Cullin-4A (Cul4A), and regulators of cullins 1 (ROC1)<sup>86</sup>. This complex results in the ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation of multiple POIs, including interleukin enhancerbinding factor 2 (ILF2), glutamine synthetase (GS), and Ikaros family zinc finger proteins (IFZF1/IFZF3)<sup>87-89</sup>. CRBN also plays a role in ion transport regulation, being responsible for targeting large-conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> (BK<sub>Ca</sub>) channels for ubiquitylation, as well as acting as a metabolic regulator of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling pathway<sup>86, 90-93</sup>. Defects to this cytoplasmic protein can lead to intellectual disabilities, cardiovascular disease, and varying types of cancer, thus making it a target of interest for therapeutic drug research<sup>94-96</sup>. CRBN is reported to be a primary target for IMiDs thalidomide, lenalidomide, and pomalidomide, these drugs being able to directly bind to the protein and mediate their anti-tumor and teratogenic activities<sup>97, 98</sup>. As such, many CRBN-based PROTACs have been developed utilizing these IMiDs as the E3 ligand, allowing for a rapid expansion of the PROTAC research field (Figure 2d)<sup>10, 80</sup>.

The first CRBN-based PROTACs utilized IMiD thalidomide as the E3 ligand and inhibitor of BET bromodomains (JQ1) as the POI ligand, connected via a linker. This PROTAC, named dBET1, successfully targeted and degraded BET proteins BRD2, BRD3, and BRD4 in AML cells. They also developed another PROTAC with a similar strategy that successfully targeted and degraded FK506 binding protein 12 (FKBP12), showing the easy expansion of CRBN-based PROTAC application to other POIs<sup>99</sup>. Another study from the same year reported the successful degradation of BRD4 in Burkitt's lymphoma cells with CRBN-based PROTAC ARV-825<sup>100</sup>. Several CRBN-based PROTACs have also been reported that have successfully targeted ALK, Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK), cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), epigenetic erasers Sirt2 and HDACs, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3)<sup>101-110</sup>. CRBN-based PROTACs potentially have a larger binding surface allowing for a broader range of target proteins in comparison to VHL-based small molecule PROTACs, along with having a lower molecular weight that makes them more desirable for oral bioavailable PROTAC development<sup>10</sup>.

## 3.c. Nucleotide-based PROTACs

Nucleotide-based PROTACs (RNA-PROTACs, TF-PROTACs) utilize oligonucleotides for their POI ligands, which can include DNA-binding proteins (DBPs), specifically TFs, and RNA-binding proteins (RBPs). DBPs directly bind to and interact with single- or double-stranded DNA and are vital for many DNA-centric processes, ranging from transcription and translation to packaging and repair<sup>111</sup>. TFs in particular are proteins vital for DNA transcription, able to bind directly to DNA-regulatory sequences while also possessing domains that interact with RNA

polymerase II or other TFs in order to control the rate of transcription within the cell<sup>112, 113</sup>. RBPs directly bind to RNA to form ribonucleoprotein particles (RNPs) and are vital for regulating all RNA-related aspects, such as transcription and translation, splicing and modifying, and RNA decay<sup>114</sup>. Several DBPs (ex. STAT3, SOX2, NF-κB) and RBPs (ex. HuR, IGF2BPs, AUF1) have been shown to be overexpressed within cancer, with genetic mutations promoting tumor development and treatment resistance<sup>115-119</sup>. There has been a challenge for discovering drugs that can target these proteins due to their lack of targetable binding proteins, thus the development of nucleotide-based PROTACs can overcome this challenge.

This is a very recently contrived field of PROTACs, with the first proof of concept reported in 2021. This RNA-PROTAC utilized let-7 precursor (pre-let-7) derived oligonucleotides able to bind to the RBP Lin28 as the POI ligand and LA[Hyp]YI - a shortened VHL-recruiting peptide as the E3 ligand, resulting in the successful ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation of Lin28 in leukemia cells. They also created a second RNA-PROTAC that successfully targeted RBFOX1 for degradation, demonstrating that RNA-PROTACs can be developed to target other RBPs using their binding elements as the POI ligand<sup>120</sup>. In the same year, another study was conducted that reported a DNA-based PROTAC called transcription factor targeting chimera (TRAFTAC) which utilized dsDNA to bind to the POI while also being covalently linked to a CRISPR/Cas9 binding RNA, which binds to dCas9-Halotag7 fusion protein (dCas9HT7). In the presence of a HaloPROTAC that recruits small molecule VHL E3 ligase to the proximity of the POI, TRAFTAC successfully resulted in the ubiquitination and degradation of the target NF- $\kappa B^{121}$ . There have also been PROTACs developed utilizing Aptamers – which are short, highly selective oligonucleotide segments (either DNA or RNA) - called aptamer-PROTACs or aptamer-PROTAC conjugates (APCs), which have been proven effective in targeting RBP nucleolin and BET, respectively<sup>122-124</sup>. This new concept of nucleotide-based PROTACs expanded the field of PROTAC research with the potential for new cancer treatment strategies.

## 4. PROTAC Application in Targeted Cancer Therapeutics

Cancer is the second highest cause of death worldwide, and it is projected that in 2023 roughly 2 million people will be diagnosed with cancer and around 610,000 people will have cancer-related deaths within the United States alone<sup>125</sup>. Despite the fact that there are over 200 varying types of cancer, each with their unique location within the body and resulting symptoms, all cancers have the same set of underlying principles that allow for vindicating these neoplastic diseases complexities. These 'hallmarks of cancer' characterize cancer induction and progression as causing angiogenesis, resisting apoptosis, avoiding growth suppressors, initiating metastasis, supporting proliferative signaling, and permitting replicative immortality. There have also been additions to these core six hallmarks over the years, such as nonmutational epigenetic reprogramming, avoiding immune destruction, senescent cells, and unlocking phenotypic plasticity (Figure 3)<sup>126</sup>. Some proteins that are overexpressed or inactivated within cancer cell have been shown to play vital roles in tumorigenesis, thus understanding their functionalities can

allow them to become potential therapeutic targets. PROTACs are synthesized and used to target specific proteins, thus there have been a wide application of this novel technology within targeted cancer therapeutic research.



Figure 3) Updated Hallmarks of Cancer graphic as of 2022. Reused with the permission from Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of cancer: new dimensions. Cancer Discovery, 12(1), 31-46.

### 4.a. Targeting angiogenesis induction

Angiogenesis, the growth of new blood vessels from the pre-existing vasculature, is a crucial process within the human body as it functions during both normal development and restoration of wounds. However, this process is critical for tumorigenesis as well, since neovasculature allows for the tumors to receive the nutrients and oxygen needed to survive and metastasize. Angiogenesis is regulated by both pro-angiogenic activators such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), angiogenin, transforming growth factor alpha and beta, and tumor necrosis factor alpha, along with anti-angiogenic inhibitors including angiostatin, endostatin, and interferon. An improper regulation of these two factors plus

activation of multiple growth factors via hypoxia triggers angiogenesis and induces neovasculature, making it crucial for exploring novel anti-angiogenesis therapeutic options (Table 2)<sup>127-129</sup>.

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
E <sub>2</sub> -octa	ER	p-VHL	CL	Estradiol	BC	130
E <sub>2</sub> -penta	ER	p-VHL	CL	Estradiol	HUVECs	131
Compound D	PI3K	CRBN	CL	ZSTK474	Liver Cancer	132
INY-03-041	pan-Akt	CRBN	CL	GDC-0068	TNBC	133
PROTAC 23a	eIF4E	CRBN	CL	Sulfamate-containing Bn <sup>7</sup> GMP	TNBC, CML	134
SGK3- PROTAC1	SGK3	VHL	PEG	Sanofi 308-R	BC	135
PROTAC-2, PROTAC-5	VEGFR-2	VHL	PEG	S7	EA.hy926, HEK293 cells	136
dCBP-1	CBP/p300	CRBN	PEG	GNE-781	ММ	137
d4E-4, d4E-6	eIF4E	CRBN	CL	i4EG-BiP	HEK293T cells	138
MS98	Akt	VHL	PEG	GDC-0068	BC, PC, TNBC	139
MS170	Akt	CRBN	PEG	GDC-0068	BC, PC, TNBC	139
PROTAC-1	VEGFR-2, BRAF	VHL	PEG	\$5	EA.hy926, NSCLC, TNBC, HEK293 cells	140

Table 2) Representative PROTACs targeting cancer angiogenesis, arranged by publication date. (CL – alkyl linker, CML – chronic myeloid leukemia, EA.hy926 – HUVEC / A549/8 fusion cell, HUVEC – human umbilical vein endothelial cell, PEG – polyethylene glycol, PC – prostate cancer, p-VHL – peptide VHL, S5/S7 – potent angiogenic inhibitors) 17β-estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>) is a potent endogenous estrogen hormone that promotes angiogenesis through a multitude of processes. It can induce the proliferation and migration of vascular endothelial cells (ECs) as well as promote VEGF, VEGF receptor (VEGFR), and bFGF upregulation, thus making it a potential target for anti-angiogenesis treatment<sup>141, 142</sup>. One of the earlier studies in the field of PROTACs showed the development of a cell-permeable small-molecule proteolysis inducer (SMPI) that successfully targeted ER for degradation in *in vivo* lung cancer cells<sup>130</sup>. This technology was further improved upon in a later study where the refined p-PROTAC was able to function at a lower dose concentration in the examined cell line, suggesting the potential ECtargeting activity of the PROTAC in a variety of angiogenic diseases<sup>131</sup>.

The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (Akt)/ mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway helps regulate several functions within the cell such as cell proliferation and apoptosis. It also contributes to regulating angiogenesis due to it increasing HIF-1α levels, which ultimately increases VEGF expression<sup>143, 144</sup>. Several PROTACs have been synthesized and reported to target various proteins within this pathway. One such report showed the development of a series of PROTACs targeting PI3K by utilizing PI3K inhibitor ZSTK474 as the POI ligand. Not only did a few of the synthesized PROTACs result in PI3K degradation and subsequent downregulation for other proteins (Akt, S6K and GSK-3β), but compound D also induced autophagy instead of apoptosis or cell cycle arrest<sup>132</sup>. Another study reported the synthesis of a PROTAC targeting Akt utilizing the Akt inhibitor GDC-0068 as the POI ligand. This PROTAC, called INY-03-041, demonstrated to be not only more efficient at degrading Akt than GDC-0068 by itself, but it also was able to induce sustained AKT degradation and downstream signaling inhibition for up to 96 hours even after compound washout<sup>133</sup>. The following year another study reported two Akt-targeting PROTACs, one with a VHL-recruiting E3 ligand called MS98 and one with a CRBN-recruiting E3 ligand called MS170. Both PROTACs were able to degrade Akt in breast cancer cells, along with demonstrate inhibitory activity in both breast cancer and prostate cancer cells<sup>139</sup>.Other proteins of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway that have had PROTACs developed targeting them include eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E), enhancer factors CREB-binding protein and p300 (CBP/p300), and serum- and glucocorticoid-inducible kinase 3 (SGK3)<sup>134, 135, 137, 138</sup>.

Within the VEGF system, the series of signaling pathways that result in vascular EC proliferation and angiogenesis are specifically moderated by the VEGFA/VEGFR-2 system. Within this system is the VEGFR-2, a receptor crucial for mediating several key signaling pathways which has become a prominent target for cancer therapy research<sup>145-147</sup>. In 2020 a study developed a series of PROTACs designed to specifically target and degrade VEGFR-2. Two of these PROTACs not only successfully degraded the protein and exhibited anti-proliferation activity but also had low cytotoxicity in HEK293 cells, displaying the PROTACs' safety to human cells that are VEGFR-2 negative<sup>136</sup>. A very recent study synthesized several PROTACs and examined them against both VEGFR-2 and BRAF, once again showing degradation for both proteins while also retaining low cytotoxicity in the HEK293 cells<sup>140</sup>.

#### 4.b. Targeting apoptosis resistance

Apoptosis, also referred to as programmed cell death, is the natural cellular process of removing aged cells from the body via recognition of cellular stress, DNA damage or compromised cellular health and immunity. It is a crucial process responsible for maintaining tissue homeostasis and overall organism development. Several signaling pathways and proteins are critical for apoptosis, including intrinsic cell death resulting from mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) with cytochrome c release and extrinsic cell death resulting from external pro-death signals interacting with death receptors (DR) such as Fas, TNF1/2, and TRAIL. Loss of apoptotic control can result in malignant cancer cells to evade cell death and undergo uncontrolled proliferation, making apoptosis reduction/resistance crucial for tumorigenesis. Multiple mechanisms contribute to cancer cell apoptosis evasion, including anti-apoptotic protein upregulation (BCL-2, BCL-X<sub>L</sub>, MCL-1, etc.), pro-apoptotic protein downregulation (Puma, BAX, BAK), DR signaling impairment, and caspase function reduction<sup>148-152</sup>. Apoptosis is one of the most targeted cellular functions for cancer therapeutics, and a multitude of PROTACs have been developed to target these affected proteins (Table 3).

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
Compound 4b	CRABP1/2	IAP	PEG	ATRA	NB	67
Compound 6	c-IAP, CRABP2	IAP	PEG	ATRA	FS	153
DAS-6-2-2-6- CRBN	BCR-ABL	CRBN	NL	Dasatinib	CML	81
SNIPER(ABL)- 38	BCR-ABL	IAP	PEG	Dasatinib	CML	154
MD-224	MDM2	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	MI-1061	ALL, AML	56
dMCL1-2	MCL-1	CRBN	PEG	A-1210477	ММ	155
GMB-475	BCR-ABL	VHL	Aryl ether	GNF-5	CML	156
WB156	MDM2	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	Nutlin	ALL	157
C3	MCL-1	CRBN	CL	Nap-1	CC, CML, NSCLC	158
C5	BCL-2	CRBN	PEG	Nap-1	CC, CML, NSCLC	158

SIAIS178	BCR-ABL	VHL	CL	Dasatinib	CML	159
DT2216	BCL-X <sub>L</sub>	VHL	CL	ABT-263	T-ALL	160
XZ424	BCL-XL	VHL	NL	A-1155463	T-ALL	161
B-NF-ATRA	CRABP1/2	AhR	PEG	ATRA	BC, NB	162
iRucaparib- AP6	PARP-1	CRBN	PEG	Rucaparib	CC, RCC, BC, PC	163
XZ739	BCL-XL	CRBN	PEG	ABT-263	T-ALL	164
PROTAC 4 (JPS004)	HDAC1/2/3	VHL	CL	CI-994	CRC	165
PZ15527	BCL-XL	CRBN	NL	ABT-263	WI38 NS cells	166
GMB-805	BCR-ABL	VHL	Aryl ether	ABL001	CML	167
BT1	BCR-ABL	RNF114	PEG	Dasatinib	CML	168
PROTAC 8a	BCL-XL	IAP	Alkane	ABT-263	CTCL, LC, TNBC, CRC, MM, and CHL-1 cells	169
PROTAC 6	BCL-X <sub>L</sub>	VHL	PEG	A-1155463	AML	170
TM-P4-Thal	Sirt2	CRBN	PEG	TM	BC	171
SK-575	PARP-1	CRBN	CL	Olaparib	BC, CRC, PC, PaC	172
Compound 111	eEF2K	CRBN	PEG	A484954	BC	173
Degrader 70	BCR-ABL	CRBN	CL	GZD824	CML	174
Compound 2	PARP-1	CRBN	CL	Olaparib	CRC	175
1B	MDM2	CRBN	PEG	Ursolic acid	Huh7 cells, LC, NSCLC	176
WB214	MDM2	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	Ugi ligand	ALL, AML, AML FAB M5, T-ALL	177
PZ703b	BCL- X <sub>L</sub> /BCL-2	VHL	CL	ABT-263	ALL	178

SIAIS056	BCR-ABL	CRBN	Sulfur- substituted CL	Dasatinib	CML	179
753b	BCL- X <sub>L</sub> /BCL-2	VHL	CL	ABT-263	HEK293T cells, AML	180
JPS014, JPS016	HDAC1/2/3	VHL	CL + 1 or 2 oxygen atoms	CI-994	CRC	181
BMM4	BCL-XL	MDM2	CL	ABT-263	AML FAB M5, GBM, NSCLC	182
PZ18753b	BCL- X <sub>L</sub> /BCL-2	VHL	NL	ABT-263	OSU-CLL	183

Table 3) Representative PROTACs targeting cancer apoptosis, arranged by publication date. (AML FAB M5 – AML biphenotypic b-myelomonocytic leukemia, CC – cervical cancer, CL – alkyl linker, OSU-CLL – chronic lymphocytic leukemia, CRC – colorectal cancer, CTCL – cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, FS – fibrosarcoma, GBM – glioblastoma, LC – lung cancer, MM – malignant melanoma, NL – not listed in publication, NS – non-senescent, NB – neuroblastoma, NSCLC – non-small cell lung cancer, PaC – pancreatic cancer, PEG – polyethylene glycol, PC – prostate cancer, RCC – renal cell carcinoma)

One of the members of the B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family is the B-cell lymphoma extralarge (BCL-X<sub>L</sub>) protein, an anti-apoptotic protein that prevents MOMP to encourage cell survival. This protein is commonly overexpressed in cancer cells and inhibitors such as ABT-263 and A-1155463 have been developed and profusely studied for cancer therapeutic research<sup>184-186</sup>. Despite their success for some hematological malignancies, these inhibitors are limited by low target engagement and dose-limiting thrombocytopenia, thus prompting the synthesis of several BCL-X<sub>L</sub>-targeting PROTACs in an attempt to develop safer and more effective cancer therapeutic options<sup>187, 188</sup>. The first BCL-X<sub>L</sub>-targeting PROTAC was reported in 2019, composed of ABT-263 as the POI ligand and a VHL E3 ligand. The resulting PROTAC DT2216 effectively degraded BCL-X<sub>L</sub> in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) cells, as well as inhibit xenograft tumor growth without significant thrombocytopenia due to low VHL expression in platelets<sup>160</sup>. A following study took the design concept of DT2216 and swapped the VHL E3 ligand for a CRBN one, resulting in the PROTAC XZ739 effectively degrading BCL-XL and demonstrating good antiproliferative activity in T-ALL cells<sup>164</sup>. A similar PROTAC named PZ15527 was designed with the same ligands as XZ739 and was found to not only effectively degrade BCL-XL in non-senescent W138 cells but also clear senescent cells and revitalize tissue stem and progenitor cells in aged mice without causing significant thrombocytopenia<sup>166</sup>. While VHL and CRBN are the most commonly used E3 ligases, there have been BCL-XL-targeting PROTACs designed with IAP and MDM2 E3 ligases, both effectively degrading BCL-X<sub>L</sub> in their respective cancer cell lines<sup>169, 182</sup>. PROTACs have also been developed utilizing the potent BCL-X<sub>L</sub> inhibitor A-1155463 as the POI ligand, demonstrating selectively-induced protein degradation in both a time- and dose-dependent manner<sup>161, 170</sup>. Finally, some PROTACs have been developed from prior BCL-X<sub>L</sub>-targeting PROTAC technology to develop BCL-X<sub>L</sub>/BCL-2 dual degrading PROTACs, which demonstrated both great degradation and growth inhibiting activity<sup>178, 180, 183</sup>. All of these PROTACs show that this technology has great cancer therapeutic potential and should be further investigated with the possibility of eventually transitioning into clinical settings.

BCR-ABL is an oncogenic fusion protein that activates BCL-2 which in turn prevents MOMP to halt apoptosis, and it is the key driving factor for chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). Three generations of BCR-ABL (Imatinib, Nilotinib, Dasatinib, Bosutinib, Ponatinib, etc.) have been clinically approved for treating CML, yet these inhibitors are suspectable to severe side effects and drug resistance<sup>189-191</sup>. There is a big need for new drug treatment options targeting BCR-ABL, and PROTAC technology has been extensively researched into degradation of this fusion protein. Although the first reported BCR-ABL-targeting PROTAC containing Dasatinib and CRBN was able to show potent protein degradation, it could not overcome simple drug-resistant mutants such as T315I mutant<sup>81</sup>. CRBN, along with other E3 ligases such as VHL, IAP, and RNF114 which is recruited by the natural product Nimbolide have been utilized for PROTACs that use Dasatinib inhibitor as the POI ligand to show effective BCR-ABL degradation<sup>154, 159, 168,</sup> <sup>179</sup>. Other inhibitors have been selected for PROTAC design, such as one report synthesizing a series of BCR-ABL-targeting PROTACs utilizing inhibitor GNF-5. The best PROTAC named GMB-475 not only induced rapid protein degradation and downstream biomarker inhibition but also inhibited cell proliferation of drug-resistant mutants (T312I and G250E) better than the Imatinib inhibitor by itself<sup>156</sup>. A follow-up study from the same group employed a scaffold hopping approach, where a novel core scaffold is obtained by changing a known active compound's core structure, to enhance GMB-475 into a new PROTAC. This new PROTAC, called GMB-805, utilized ABL001, a more potent allosteric BCR-ABL ligand, as the POI ligand and exhibited an over ten-fold ability to induce BCR-ABL protein degradation along with improved in vivo activity in comparison to GMB-475<sup>167</sup>. Finally, a series of PROTACs were developed based on GZD824, a BCR-ABL<sup>T3151</sup> inhibitor. Degrader 70 was found to have the most potent degradation of the mutant protein as well as show significant tumor regression in vivo<sup>174</sup>. These myriad of PROTACs show the potential of this technology in selective anticancer treatment for those affected with CML.

Another member of the BCL-2 family is myeloid cell leukemia-1 (MCL-1), an anti-apoptotic protein that prevents MOMP. This protein is often overexpressed in many types of solid tumors and hematological malignancies but it is a difficult drug target due to the competitive PPI binding in shallow binding regions<sup>192-194</sup>. Due to its status as a 'undruggable target', PROTAC technology could potentially be an effective therapeutic option due to its lack of specific binding region requirement. The first report of MCL-1-targeting PROTAC utilized MCL-1 inhibitor A-1210477 as the POI ligand and CRBN for the E3 ligase. This PROTAC, named dMCL1-2, was able to successfully induce MCL-1 degradation at nanomolar concentration, subsequently activating cellular apoptosis<sup>155</sup>. A study published in the same year developed a series of

PROTACs utilizing either S1-6 or Nap-1, both of which are MCL-1/BCL-2 dual inhibitors, as the POI ligand. The resulting PROTACs C3 and C5 successfully induced potent, selective, and reversible MCL-1 and BCL-2 degradation respectively, thus potentially supplying a new toolbox for selective therapeutic strategies for BCL-2 family protein<sup>158</sup>.

PARP-1 is a nuclear protein that plays a crucial role in repairing damaged DNA in order to maintain cellular genomic stability. It is also a well-known substrate of caspases, as its activation of caspases 3 and 7 via intrinsic cellular apoptosis results in the loss of PARP-1 and thus suppressing DNA repair. PARP-1 is often overexpressed in cancer and other diseases, making it a major target of interest for anticancer drug treatment. Currently several PARP-1 inhibitors (ex. Olaparib, Rucaparib, Niraparib, Talazoparib) have been clinically approved for cancer treatment, but these inhibitors still face challenges of drug resistance and PARP-1 trapping causing cytotoxicity<sup>195-197</sup>. In 2019 a series of PROTACs were synthesized utilizing various PARP-1 inhibitor Rucaparib, as it was able to not only induce significant PARP-1 degradation but also blocked PARP-1 catalytic and scaffolding functions without causing PARP-1 trapping, resulting in low cytotoxicity<sup>163</sup>. Two studies the following year developed PARP-1-targeting PROTACs utilizing Olaparib inhibitor as the POI ligand and was able to successfully induce PARP-1 degradation across multiple cancer cell lines<sup>172, 175</sup>.

There are multiple other PROTACs developed to target proteins with key regulatory roles in apoptosis. The extrinsic cell death signaling pathway has multiple targets in its cascade that have been discovered to be overexpressed in cancer cells. c-IAP is one of the adaptors attached to the DR TNF1/2 and is responsible for activating pro-caspases and ASK1, and a PROTAC was developed that dual degraded c-IAP and CRABP2 and prevented cancer cell proliferation<sup>153</sup>. Progressing further down the extrinsic cell death pathway is p53 that, when activated, promotes cell death. P53 can be regulated by MDM2 and Sirt2 and several PROTACs have been synthesized to degrade these proteins<sup>56, 157, 171, 176, 177</sup>. Other general proteins of apoptosis that have PROTACs developed targeting them include CRABP1/2, eukaryotic elongation factor 2 kinase (eEF2K), and histone deacetylases 1/2/3 (HDAC1/2/3)<sup>67, 162, 165, 173, 181</sup>.

### 4.c. Targeting inflammation and immune evasion induction

From initial tumorigenesis to eventual metastasis, cancer cells are reliant on strategies to evade detection and destruction from both the cell and body's immune system. Two ways cancer cells can achieve this is by inducing inflammation and immune evasion through multiple different processes. Inflammation can be the result of either an extrinsic factor (bacterial/viral infection, autoimmune diseases, obesity, etc.) or an intrinsic factor (cancer-initiating mutations), both of which contributes to malignant progression. Inflammation can also cause immune evasion by mutating the tumor microenvironment (TME), thus affecting immune cell crosstalk and preventing tumor detection. Several of the TMEs that can be affected include the B-cell receptor (BCR), T-cell receptor (TCR), and Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) signaling pathways<sup>198-203</sup>. There has been effort in immunotherapy research to develop immune-checkpoint inhibitors and anti-inflammatory drugs as potential treatment options. While several developed treatments have been clinically approved for treating various

cancers and diseases, drug resistance and unwanted effects limit their effectiveness<sup>204-206</sup>. As such, PROTACs have been developed targeting a myriad of proteins relating to cancer inflammation and immunity evasion (Table 4).

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
dFKBP-1	FKBP12	CRBN	CL	SLF	AML	99
SNIPER(PDE4)- 9	PDE4	IAP	PEG	PDE4 binding ligand	FS	154
dTAG-13	FKBP12	CRBN	CL	FKBP12 <sup>F36V</sup> selective ligand	AML	207
DD-04-015	ВТК	CRBN	PEG	RN486	DLBCL	208
TL12-186	ITK	CRBN	PEG	TAE648	AML, T-ALL	208
PROTAC 3i	TBK1	VHL	PEG	Compound 1a	NSCLC	209
CCT367766	Pirin	CRBN	PEG	CCT251236	OC	210
MT-802	BTK	CRBN	PEG	Ibrutinib	CLL	102
PROTAC 10	BTK	CRBN	PEG	BTK binding scaffold	BL, AML	211
FLT-3 PROTAC	FLT-3	VHL	PEG	Quizartinib	AML	212
DD-03-171	BTK	CRBN	CL	CGI1746	DLBCL, MCL	213
L18I	BTK	CRBN	PEG	Ibrutinib	ABC DLBCL, DLCBL, MCL	214
SD-36	STAT3	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	SI-109 (gem-difluoride)	AML, ALCL	109, 110
WL-40	Rpn13	CRBN	PEG	RA190	ММ	215
SJF620	BTK	CRBN	PEG	MT-802	BL	103
KB02-SLF	FKBP12	KB02	PEG	SLF	HEK293T cells, TNBC	216

PROTAC 1	PCR2	VHL	CL	EED ligand compound	DLBCL	217
UNC6852	PCR2	VHL	CL	EED ligand	CC, DLBCL	218
SPB5208	ВТК	CRBN	PEG	Ibrutinib	MCL	219
MS1943	PRC2	AM41- 44A	CL	C24	TNBC	220
JP-6	JAK	IAP	CL	Quinoxaline 2	AML	221
PROTAC 3	PDEδ	CRBN	CL	Deltazinone 1	CC, PaC, T-ALL	222
RC-3	BTK	CRBN	PEG + cyano- acrylamide	Ibrutinib	BL, CLL, MCL	223
Compound 17f	PDEδ	CRBN	CL	Deltazinone	CRC	224
SHP2-D26	SHP2	VHL	CL	SHP inhibitor 5	AML, EC	225
P22	PD-L1	CRBN	CL	BMS-8	M, NSCLC, TNBC	226
RC-1	ВТК	CRBN	CL + cyano- acrylamide	Ibrutinib + reversible covalent (RC)	AML, MCL	227
MS4332	PRMT5	VHL	PEG	EPZO15666	BC	228
SS44, SS47	HPK1	CRBN	CL	ZYF0033	BL, CAR-T cells, CML, MM	229
Compound 6a	CD147	CRBN	CL + nitrogen hinge	Pseudolaric acid B	М	230
PROTAC 7	BTK	VHL	PEG	Ibrutinib	BL, CML	231
ORN3P1	Lin28	VHL	CL	Pre-let-7	CML	119
BCP5	BTK	IAP	PEG	BTK ligand	AML	232
BCPyr	BTK	IAP	PEG + pyrazine	BTK ligand	AML	232
E7	PRC2	CRBN	CL	EPZ6438	DLBCL, OC, PC	233
SD-91	STAT3	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	SI-109 (ketone)	AML, ALCL	234
GW3965-PEG5- VHL032	LXR-β	VHLa	PEG	Gw3965	Huh7 cells	235

Compound 21a	PD-L1	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	BMS-37	CRC	236
YM181, YM281	PRC2	VHL	PEG	EPZ6438	DLBCL	237
MD13	MIF	CRBN	CL	MIF tautomerase inhibitor	LC	238
PROTAC 1 & 2	FLT3	CRBN	CL	Dovitinib	AML	239
PROTAC 6e	BTK	CRBN	PEG	ARQ531	DLBCL	240
Compounds 5, 6, 7, 8	JAK	CRBN	CL	Barictinib & Ruxptonib	Precursor B-ALL, T-ALL	241

Table 4) Representative PROTACs targeting cancer inflammation or immune evasion, arranged by publication date. (ABC DLBCL – activated b cell-line DLBCL, ALCL – anaplastic large cell lymphoma, BL – Burkitt's lymphoma, CC – cervical cancer, CL – alkyl linker, CLL – chronic lymphocytic leukemia, CRC – colorectal cancer, DLBCL – diffuse large b-cell lymphoma, EC – esophageal cancer, FS – fibrosarcoma, GBM – glioblastoma, LC – lung cancer, M – melanoma, MCL – mantle cell lymphoma, NL – not listed in publication, NS – non-senescent, NB – neuroblastoma, NSCLC – non-small cell lung cancer, OC – ovarian cancer, PaC – pancreatic cancer, PEG – polyethylene glycol, PC – prostate cancer)

BTK, a non-receptor cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase, is a key regulator of the BCR signaling pathway which is crucial for B-cell development, survival, and antibody production. This protein also plays a critical role in leukemia cell survival for multiple B cell malignancies, making it a key target for anticancer drug research. Several BTK inhibitors such as Ibrutinib and Zanubrutinib have been shown to treat multiple leukemias and lymphomas via BCR signal blocking. However, many patients treated with these inhibitors have shown drug resistance as a result of a missense mutation of the Ibrutinib binding site C4818, prompting PROTAC development to overcome this mutation and promote BTK degradation<sup>242, 243</sup>. Ibrutinib is the most commonly used BTK inhibitor utilized for BTK-targeting PROTACs, as PROTACs SPB5208 and MT-802 linked Ibrutinib with a CRBN recruiting E3 ligand to successfully induce BTK degradation in MCL and CLL cancer cells, respectively<sup>102, 219</sup>. Another study further improved upon the MT-802 PROTAC as it was also reported to have poor pharmacokinetic properties. By modifying the linker and E3 ligand, the resulting PROTAC SJF620 was found to exhibit both potent BTK degradation and better pharmacokinetic properties<sup>103</sup>. Despite Ibrutinib being an irreversible covalent inhibitor, the majority of BTK-targeting PROTACs used noncovalent binding, thus efforts for synthesizing covalent PROTACs have been made over the past few years. Two studies worked to develop irreversible covalent BTK-targeting PROTACs

with a Ibrutinib POI ligand, resulting in PROTAC 7 and L18I which recruited either VHL or CRBN E3 ligase respectively. Despite both PROTACs being shown to induce BTK degradation across multiple leukemia and lymphoma cell lines, they do not display the event driven MOA typically seen with PROTAC technology, thus lowering their potency<sup>214, 231</sup>. This issue was resolved in two later studies that developed reversible covalent BTK-targeting PROTACs RC-3 and RC-1 that utilized cyano-acrylamide moiety to enhance binding affinity without sacrificing sub-stoichiometric activity<sup>223, 227</sup>. Besides Ibrutinib, other non-covalent BTK inhibitors such as ARQ531, CGI1746, and RN486 have been utilized to form PROTACs with potent BTK degradation across multiple leukemia and lymphoma cell lines<sup>208, 213, 240</sup>. Other BTK-targeting PROTACs have been reported, indicating the interest in utilizing PROTAC technology for treating BTK-mutated cancers and potentially beginning the transition of these PROTACs into clinical setting<sup>211, 232</sup>.

The TCR signaling pathway is another member of the TME that can result in chronic inflammation and immune evasion. Two proteins that play a critical role in the regulation of the TCR are the IL2-inducible T-cell kinase (ITK) and the hematopoietic progenitor kinase 1 (HPK-1). ITK is the predominate Tec family that is a key regulator of the antigen receptor signaling in lymphocytes while HPK-1 negatively regulates the TCR by reducing the persistence of signaling microclusters<sup>244, 245</sup>. A study set out to create a potential multi-kinase degrader, developing an ITK-targeting PROTAC with ALK inhibitor as the POI ligand since it has been proven to bind to other kinase targets. This PROTAC, named TL12-186, not only was found to induce ITK degradation but was also found to degrade 14 other identified proteins in MOLM-14 cells, 12 of which were kinases<sup>208</sup>. A different study sought to synthesize a HPK-1-targeting PROTAC, utilizing inhibitor ZYF0033 as the POI ligand and CRBN as the E3 ligase. The resulting PROTAC SS44 showed induced HPK-1 degradation across multiple cancer cell lines as well as optimized linker PROTAC SS47 demonstrating HPK-1 degradation in *ex vivo* CAR-T cells<sup>229</sup>.

The JAK-STAT signaling pathway is a fundamental regulator of multiple cellular function such as haematopoiesis and inflammatory response, functioning through various cytokines, growth factors, interleukins, and kinases along with the cell receptor IL-6. Overexpression of several of these components can result in inflammatory and immune evasion, marking this pathway as one of the cornerstones of cancer progression<sup>246, 247</sup>. JAK is a non-receptor tyrosine kinase family which has interest in drug development research as by blocking the kinase results in the entire signaling pathway being blocked. The first JAK-targeting PROTACs utilized the JAK inhibitor Quinoxaline as the POI ligand and examined various E3 ligands for optimal degradation. Several PROTACs were developed with JP-6 in particular showing significantly JAK1/2 degradation, also demonstrating that PROTACs with IAP recruiting E3 ligands worked while those with CRBN or VHL recruiting E3 ligands did not<sup>221</sup>. Another study developed a series of JAKtargeting PROTACs utilizing either Ruxotinib or Barictinib inhibitors as the POI ligand. Several of the resulting PROTACs induced JAK1/2/3 degradation as well as have good degradation activity of GSPT1/IKZF1<sup>241</sup>. STAT3 is a member of the STAT family that helps to transmit external signals to the nucleus and its overexpression can inhibit immune response. The first study to develop a STAT3-targeting PROTAC utilized a gem-difluoride SI-109 inhibitor as the POI ligand. The resulting PROTAC SD-36 selectively degraded STAT3, inhibited leukemia and
lymphoma cell proliferation, and was able to induce tumor regression in *in vivo* xenograft models<sup>109, 110</sup>. A following study further improved upon SD-36 by converting the *gem*-difluoride into a ketone. SD-91 was found to be more potent in STAT3 degradation in comparison to SD-36, as well as achieved whole, long-lasting tumor regression in *in vivo* xenograft models<sup>234</sup>. There have been several more published reports of PROTACs designed to target other JAK-STAT pathway proteins, including FLT3, PD-L1, and SHP2<sup>212, 225, 226, 236, 239</sup>.

There are many other PROTACs that have been reported to target proteins involved in cancer cell inflammation and immune evasion. One such target is the polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2), an epigenetic transcription modulator with four subunits that catalyzes H3K27 methylation. H3K27 hyper-trimethylation can be found in several tumors and while a couple inhibitors have been designed there is still a need for other PRC2 cancer therapeutic options<sup>248</sup>, <sup>249</sup>. Two PROTACs have been designed to target PRC2 with EHZ2 inhibitor EPZ6438 as the POI ligand and another with inhibitor C24, which were able to degrade PRC2 across multiple cancer cell lines<sup>220, 233, 237</sup>. Two more PRC2-targeting PROTACs have been reported with VHL recruiting E3 ligase and EED ligand<sup>217, 218</sup>. Cluster of differentiation 147 (CD147) is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is part of the immunoglobulin superfamily that plays a crucial role in inflammation and tumor development. Compound 6a was a PROTAC developed utilizing pseudolaric acid B, a natural product that antagonizes CD147, as the POI ligand and was reported to successfully induce CD147 degradation in melanoma cells both in vitro and in vivo<sup>230</sup>. Other inflammation and immune evasion targets with PROTACs include FKBP12, Lin28, LXR-β, MIF, PDE4, PDEδ, Pirin, PRMT5, Rpn13, and TBK1<sup>99, 119, 154, 207, 209, 210, 215, 216,</sup> 222, 224, 228, 235, 238

### 4.d. Targeting cancer cell metastasis

Metastasis is one of the key hallmarks of cancer as the initial tumor cells extravasate and disperse throughout the body via circulatory systems in order to colonize distant organs and form new secondary tumors, making it responsible for the most cancer-related deaths worldwide. One key process during metastasis is epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), where epithelial cells convert to acquire mesenchymal features, as it allows for solid tumors to become more malignant. This process can be activated via multiple upstream cellular signaling pathways such as the integrin/FAK/PI3K/Akt axis<sup>250-254</sup>. Due to the slow process of discovering effective cancer therapeutic options to combat metastasis, PROTAC technology has been employed to target EMT-related proteins (Table 5).

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
PROTAC- Smad3	Smad3	VHL	CL	EN300-72284	RCC	255
PROTAC 1	p38	VHL	PEG	Foretinib	BC, CC	256

PROTAC-3	FAK	VHL	PEG	Defactinib	PC, TNBC	257
SJFa, SJFð	p38	VHL	PEG	Foretinib	BC, CC	258
BI-0319	FAK	VHL	PEG	PEG BI-4464 HCC		259
BI-3663	FAK	CRBN	PEG	BI-4464	HCC	259
ARV771	TCF4	VHL	PEG	BET inhibitor	ABC DLBCL	260
DT-6	TGF-β1	CRBN	CL	P144	BC, HCC, NSCLC	261
CPR3, CPR4	IGF-1R, SRC	CRBN	PEG	Compound C	BC, NSCLC	262
xStAx- VHLL	Wnt/β- catenin	VHL	Ahx	xStAx peptide	CRC, HEK293T cells	37
ND1-YL2	SRC	UBR box	NL	VL2	TNBC	263
GSK215	FAK	VHL	CL	VS-4718	LC, TNBC	264
Compound 17d	FOXM1	CRBN	PEG	FDI-6	TNBC	265
FOXM1- PROTAC	FOXM1	Pomalidomide	PEG	FIP-1	Liver Cancer	38
TEP PROTAC	c-Myc	CRBN	E Box DNA	TNA aptamer	TNBC	266

Table 5) Representative PROTACs targeting cancer metastasis, arranged by publication date. (ABC DLBCL – activated b cell-line DLBCL, Ahx – aminohexanoic acid, CC – cervical cancer, CL – alkyl linker, FIP-1 – F-1 peptide + TAT CPP, HCC – hepatocellular carcinoma, NL – not listed in publication, NSCLC – non-small cell lung cancer, PEG – polyethylene glycol, RCC – renal cell carcinoma)

Focal adhesion kinase (FAK/PTK2), a cytoplasmic non-receptor protein tyrosine kinase, is one of the most outstanding agents of integrin signaling that regulates multiple signaling pathways like PI3K/Akt and RAS/MAPK. As such, overexpression of FAK can result in cell invasion and metastasis via exertion of both kinase-dependent enzyme function and kinase-independent scaffold function. While multiple FAK inhibitors have been developed, the scaffolding function is unable to be affected by these current inhibitors, thus giving the opportunity for applying

PROTAC technology to examine these non-enzymatic functions<sup>267-269</sup>. The first report of a FAKtargeting PROTAC was published in 2018 and utilized FAK inhibitor Defactinib as the POI ligand with a VHL recruiting E3 ligand. PROTAC-3 was found to induce selective and potent FAK degradation, as well as suppress cancer cell migration and invasion<sup>257</sup>. Another study utilized the FAK inhibitor BI-4464 and developed two PROTACs (BI-0319, BI-3663) with VHL or CRBN recruiting E3 ligand respectively. Both PROTACs successfully induced FAK degradation in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cell lines<sup>259</sup>. In addition, FAK inhibitor VS-4718 has been utilized as the POI ligand to develop PROTAC GSK-215, which was able to both induce FAK degradation and prevent cell proliferation in various cancer cell lines<sup>264</sup>.

The p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family are serine/threonine-specific protein kinases composed of four p38 isoforms: p38 $\alpha$  (MAPK14), p38 $\beta$  (MAPK11), p38 $\gamma$  (MAPK12), and p38 $\delta$  (MAPK13). p38 $\alpha$  is the most common isoform seen across a myriad of cell types, its functionality varying based on the cell type and environment. It not only can regulate upstream cancer-causing TFs, but also act as a downstream target for TFs via various signaling pathways, making it a target of interest for cancer therapeutic research<sup>270-272</sup>. One study sought out to develop a PROTAC that could effectively bind to and subsequently degrade multiple kinases, utilizing c-Met tyrosine kinase inhibitor Foretinib. They were surprised to see p38 $\alpha$  was effectively degraded with the VHL PROTAC 1 despite it having a lower binding affinity in comparison to kinases with higher affinities that were not degraded such as SLK and Axl<sup>256</sup>. Another study developed two PROTACs targeting p38 $\alpha$  and p38 $\delta$ , the latter which does not have any current therapeutic options available. Both PROTACs were able to degrade their targeted isoform despite having the same E3 ligase and POI ligand (Foretinib), suggesting the importance of the ternary complex formed in order to induce degradation in cancer cells<sup>258</sup>.

There are several other PROTACs reportedly targeting proteins involved in cancer cell metastasis. One pathway that plays a critical role in normal cell development and migration is the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway, therefore mutations in this pathway can lead to carcinogenesis and eventual metastasis<sup>273</sup>. A study developed a p-PROTAC targeting  $\beta$ -catenin with stapled peptides xStAx as the POI ligand due to its ability to impair Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin. Despite the clinical limitations typically seen with p-PROTACs, xStAx-VHLL was reported to effectively induce long-term  $\beta$ -catenin degradation as well as significantly inhibit the signaling pathway in cancer cells<sup>37</sup>. PROTACs have also been developed to target forkhead box protein M1 (FOXM1), which is a downstream component of several signaling pathways. One study synthesized a p-PROTAC that successfully degraded FOXM1 in liver cancer cells<sup>38</sup>. Another study utilized FOXM1 inhibitor FDI-6 with a CRBN recruiting E3 ligand to form a series of PROTACs, with the best PROTACs being compound 17d which successfully induced FOXM1 degradation in TNBC cells<sup>265</sup>. Other metastasis targets with PROTACs include c-Myc, IGF-1R, Smad3, Src, TCF4, and TGF- $\beta$ 1<sup>255, 260-263, 266</sup>.

### 4.e. Targeting cancer cell proliferation

One of the most fundamental hallmarks of cancer is its ability to stimulate hyperactive cell proliferation, allowing for mutated DNA to replicate and the cancer cell to undergo the necessary cell cycle steps needed to divide and multiply. This process is encouraged by the overexpression

of growth-promoting and tumorigenic signals and proteins directly involved with or influencing cell cycle regulation, such as the Ras/Raf/mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase/extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK) signaling pathway<sup>274-277</sup>. Several drugs have been developed targeting the cell cycle, with many also entering clinical trials including drug inhibitors for BET proteins and CDKs. However, many of these drugs have been unsuccessful as a result of severe off-target effects and low response rates<sup>278-281</sup>. Due to its importance for tumorigenesis, there is a continued need for novel and improved cell cycle inhibiting drugs. PROTAC technology has been utilized to target several targets of cell proliferation, making several breakthroughs in the field of cancer therapeutic research (Table 6).

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
PROTAC 14	AR	MDM2	PEG	SARM	CC	9
SNIPER-9	Rar	IAP	PEG	Ch55	FS	282
SNIPER-11	ER	IAP	PEG	Estrone	BC	282
SNIPER-13	AR	IAP	PEG	DHT	BC	282
SNIPER(ER)-3	ERα	CRBN	CL	4-OHT	BC, FS, HeLa cells	283
SNIPER(TACC3)- 1	TACC3	IAP	PEG	KHS108	BC, CRC, FS, OS, PC	284
ARV-825	BRD4	CRBN	PEG	OTX015	BL	285
dBET1	BRD4	CRBN	CL	JQ1	AML	286
MZ1	BRD	VHL	PEG	JQ1	CC	287
ARV-771	BRD4	VHL	PEG	JQ1	CRPC	84
SNIPER(ER)-87	ERα	IAP	PEG	4-OHT	BC	154
SNIPER(BRD4)-1	BRD4	IAP	PEG	JQ1	BC	288
BETd-246	BRD4	CRBN	PEG	BETi-211	TNBC	289

dBRD9	BRD9	CRBN	PEG	BI7273	AML	290
AT1	BRD4	VHL	CL	JQ1	HeLa cells	22
MZ1	BRD4	VHL	PEG	JQ1	CC	22
PROTAC 3	CDK9	CRBN	CL	Aminopyrazole analog	CRC	291
dBET6	BRD4	CRBN	CL	JQ1	T-ALL	285
Probe 10	DHODH	VHL	PEG	Brequinar	PaC	292
TD-PROTAC	ERα	p-VHL	Ahx	TD-PERM	BC	33
Compound 1	EGFR, HER2	VHL	PEG	Lapatinib	CC, OC	293
Compound 7	c-Met	VHL	PEG	Foretinib	GC, TNBC	293
BETd-260/ ZBC260	BRD4	CRBN	CL	HJB97	ALL, AML	294
MZP-54	BRD4	VHL	PEG	I-BET726	AML, APL, HeLa cells	295
SNIPER(AR)-51	AR	IAP	PEG	AR ligand	РС	296
THAL-SNS-032	CDK9	CRBN	PEG	SNS-032	T-ALL	104
JH-XI-10-02	CDK8	CRBN	PEG	JH-VIII-49	T-ALL	297
SNIPER(ER)-110	ERα	IAP	PEG	4-OHT	BC	298
MS4077	ALK	CRBN	PEG	Ceritinib	ALCL, NSCLC	101
TL13-12	ALK	CRBN	PEG	TAE684	ALCL, NB, NSCLC	299
ZXH-326	BRD4	CRBN	CL	JQ1	MM	300
ARCC-4	AR	VHL	CL	Enzalutamide	РС	301
TD-004	ALK	VHL	CL	Ceritinib	ALCL, NSCLC	83
A1874	BRD4	MDM2	PEG	JQ1	AML, BL, CRC LC, M, OS	53

ARD-69	AR	VHL	S/RL	ARI-16	РС	302
VZ185	BRD4	VHL	CL	BI7273	HEK293T cells, HeLa cells	303
ERD-308	ER	VHL	PEG	Raloxifene	BC	304
BSJ-03-123	CDK4/6	CRBN	PEG	Palbociclib	AML	106
TD-428	BRD4	TD-106	PEG	JQ1	РС	305
BSJ-02-162	CDK4/6	CRBN	CL	Palbociclib	MCL	306
BSJ-04-132	CDK4/6	CRBN	CL	Ribociclib	T-ALL	306
Compound 2	BRAF <sup>V600E</sup>	CRBN	CL	RGS	Liver cancer, M, TNBC	307
KB02-JQ1	BRD4	KB02	PEG	JQ1	HEK293T cells	216
PROTAC 1, ACBI1	SMARCA2/4	VHL	PEG	BD ligand	AML FAB M5	308
XH2	BRD4	RNF114	CL	JQ1	CML, HEK293 cells, TNBC	309
CP5V	cdc20	VHL	PEG	apcin-A	BC, TNBC	310
PAP508	AR	CRBN	CL	RU-59063	РС	311
MS432	MEK1/2	VHL	CL	PD0325901	CRC, MM	312
ARD-266	AR	VHL	S/RL	ARI-16	РС	313
Compound 15	BRD2/4	CRBN	CL	Compound 6	AML, M, TNBC	314
Compound 3	MEK1/2	VHL	PEG	Refametinib	М	315
PROTAC 7	BLK	VHL	PEG	Ibrutinib	CML	231
XY-4-88	KRAS <sup>G12C</sup>	CRBN	CL	ARS-1620	NSCLC, PaC	316
ZNL-02-096	Wee1	CRBN	CL	AZD1775	OC, T-ALL	317
macroPROTAC	BRD4	VHL	2 cyclized PEG	JQ1	AML, PC	318

HBL-4	BRD4, PLK1	CRBN	PEG	BI2536	AML	319
Compound A9	CDK2	CRBN	PEG	AT-7519	BC, CRC, PC	320
Compound F3	CDK2/9	CRBN	PEG	FN-1501	BC, CRC, PC	320
Compound I-6	ERα	p-VHL	Ahx	Lactam cyclic peptide	BC	35
MS39	EGFR	VHL	CL	Gefitinib	LC	321
MS154	EGFR	CRBN	CL	Gefitinib	LC	321
ARD-61	AR	VHL	S/RL	ARI-16	РС	322
Compound 2	EGFR	CRBN	CL	EGFR-TK	NSCLC	323
Compound 10	EGFR	VHL	CL	EGFR-TKI	NSCLC	323
Compound 34	CDK2/4/6	VHL	PEG	Palbociclib	ALL, AML, MM, TNBC	324
Compound 14o	EGFR	VHL	CL	XTF-262	NSCLC	55
Compound 12	BRAF <sup>V600E</sup>	CRBN	CL	Vermurafenib	CRC, M	325
Compound 23	BRAF <sup>V600E</sup>	CRBN	CL	BI 882370	CRC, M	325
YX-2-107	CDK2/4/6	CRBN	CL	Palbociclib	ALL	326
ERD-148	ERα	VHL	CL	Raloxifene	BC, TNBC	327
SIAIS117	ALK	VHL	CL	Brigatinib	ALCL, NSCLC	328
PROTAC 15	AR	CRBN	PEG	Enzalutamide	РС	329
Compound 16c	EGFR	CRBN	PEG	Osimertinib	NSCLC	330
d9A-2	SLC9A1	CRBN	PEG	W9a	CML	331
AM-A3	ER	VHL	CL	Raloxifene	BC	332
DP1	BRD4	E7820	PEG	JQ1	DLBCL	333

TMX-2172	CDK2/5	CRBN	PEG	TMX-3010	OC	334
DDC-01-163	EGFR	CRBN	PEG	EA1001	LC	335
LC-2	KRAS <sup>G12C</sup>	VHL	PEG	MRTX849	NSCLC	336
ARD-61	AR	VHL	S/RL	ARI-16	PC, TNBC	337
JB170	AURORA-a	CRBN	PEG	Alisertib	AML, HCC, NB, OS	338
P4B	BRAF <sup>V600E</sup>	CRBN	PEG	BI 882370	CRC, M	339
CG416	TRKA/C	CRBN	CL	GNF-8625	AML, CRC	340, 341
CG428	TRKA/C	CRBN	PEG	GNF-8625	AML, CRC	340, 341
dAURK-4	AURORA-a	CRBN	PEG	Alisertib	GC, HEK293T cells, MCL, MM, NB, OS, T- ALL	342
Compound P3	EGFR	VHL	CL	Compound F	NSCLC	343
TD-802	AR	CRBN	RL	TD-106	РС	344
MS928, MS934	MEK1/2	VHL	CL	PD0325901	CRC, MM	345
MS910	MEK1/2	CRBN	PEG	PD0325901	CRC, MM	345
Compound 11	CDK2/4/6	CRBN	CL	Ribociclib	М	346
Compound 45	CDK9	CRBN	PEG	BAY-1143572	AML	347
SJF-0628, SJF-0661	BRAF <sup>V600E</sup>	VHL	RL	Vemurafenib	LC, M, NSCLC	348
В3	ALK	CRBN	PEG	Ceritinib	NSCLC	280
UI-EP002	ER	VHL	PEG	E2	BC, TNBC	349
MTX-23	AR	VHL	CL	AR ligand	CRPC, PC	350
21-ARL	AR	DACF11	PEG	ARI-16	РС	351

		-				-
A031	AR	VHL	PEG	AR-1	РС	352
Compound 13b	AR	CRBN	PEG	Bicalutamide	HEK293T cells, PC	353
SIAIS001	ALK	CRBN	CL + alkyne group	Alectinib	ALCL, NSCLC	354
SIAIS091	ALK	CRBN	CL	Alectinib	ALCL, NSCLC	354
PROTAC-D	AURORA-a	CRBN	PEG	Alisertib	HeLa cells, OS	355
NL	EGFR	VHL	PEG	Gefitinib	NSCLC	356
SIAIS125, SIAIS126	EGFR	CRBN	CL	Canertinib	NSCLC	357
BSJ-4-116	CDK12	CRBN	CL	THZ531 fragment 5	T-ALL	358
PROTAC 2	CDK9	CRBN	CL	Aminopyrazole analog	HEK293 cells, Pac	359
Compound 17	ALK	CRBN	CL	Alectinib	ALCL, NSCLC	360
DGY-09-192	FGFR1/2	VHL	CL	BGJ398	CCC, GC	361
SIAIS164018	ALK	CRBN	CL	Brigatinib	NSCLC, TNBC	362
ARD-2128	AR	CRBN	RL	ARI-16	РС	363
ARD-2585	AR	CRBN	RL	Compound 10	РС	364
Compound 45	CDK9	CRBN	CL	CDK9 ligand	BC, TNBC	365
Compound 15	BRD4	CRBN	CL	ABBV-075	ALL, AML	366
PROTAC-04I2	SF3B1	CRBN	CL	O4I	CML, HCC, HEK- OCT4 cells, HeLa cells	367
SM1	BRD2/4	VHL	Branched VHL	Bi-BET	AML, HEK293 cells, LC, PC	368
SJ995973	BRD4	CRBN	CL	JQ1	AML	369
KP-14	KRAS <sup>G12C</sup>	CRBN	CL	KRas G12C-IN-3	NSCLC	370
PP-C8	CDK12	CRBN	CL	SR-4835	TNBC	371

Compound						
Ĝ	AR	VHL	CL	VPC-14228	CRPC	372
WWL0245	BRD4, PLK1	CRBN	CL	WNY0824	РС	373
BP3	HSP90	CRBN	CL	BIIB021	TNBC	374
AU-15330	SMARCA2/4	VHL	CL	BD ligand	HEK293 cells, HeLa cells	375
YF135	KRAS <sup>G12C</sup>	VHL	PEG	MRTX849	NSCLC	376
MDEG-541	MYC	CRBN	CL	10058-F4 derivative 28RH	GIC	377
dAurA383	AURORA-a	CRBN	PEG	MLN8054	AML, APL, HEK293T cells, NHL	378
dAurA425	AURORA-a	VHL	PEG	MLN8054	AML, APL, HEK293T cells, NHL	378
dAurA450	AURORA-a	IAP	PEG	MLN8054	AML, APL, HEK293T cells, NHL	378
JB301	AURORA-a	CRBN	PEG	MK-5108	AML	379

Table 6) Representative PROTACs targeting cancer proliferation, arranged by publication date.
(Ahx – aminohexanoic acid, ALCL – anaplastic large cell lymphoma, AML FAB M5 – AML biphenotypic b-myelomonocytic leukemia, APL – acute promyelocytic leukemia, BD – bromodomain, BL – burkitt's lymphoma, CC – cervical cancer, CCC – cholangiocarcinoma cancer, CL – alkyl linker, CRC – colorectal cancer, CRPC – castrate resistant prostate cancer, FS – fibrosarcoma, GC – gastric cancer, GIC – gastrointestinal cancer, HCC – hepatocellular carcinoma, M – melanoma, MCL – mantle cell lymphoma, NB – neuroblastoma, NHL – nonhodgkin's lymphoma, NL – not listed in publication, NSCLC – non-small cell lung cancer, OC – ovarian cancer, OS – osteosarcoma, PaC – pancreatic cancer, PEG – polyethylene glycol, p-VHL – peptide VHL, RL – rigid linker, S/RL – soluble/rigid linker, T-ALL – t-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia)

The Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathway is one of the most crucial pathways in cell biology, assisting in cell growth and differentiation regulation. Overexpression of this pathway promotes mutated proliferative gene expression and replication and is reported in over 40% of cancer cases<sup>276, 380</sup>. Multiple PROTACs have been synthesized targeting several components of this pathway, starting from the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) embedded in the cell membrane that receive extracellular signals, down the signaling cascade, and eventually to the cell division

control (cdc) proteins to affect the cell cycle. One important RTK is EGFR, which has inhibitors (gefitinib, lapatinib, afatinib) approved for use but suffers from severe drug resistance from druginduced mutations<sup>381</sup>. One study developed a series of EGFR-targeting PROTACs utilizing the inhibitor Gefitinib as the POI and different E3 ligases, resulting in the most significant degraders as MS39 and MS154 with an E3 ligand recruiting VHL and CRBN respectively. These two PROTACs not only effectively degraded mutant EGFR proteins but also were unable to degrade the EGFR in WT cells, indicating that they are selective against mutant-type EGFR<sup>321</sup>. Another study published the same year created an EGFR-targeting PROTAC utilizing another inhibitor, Osimertinib, as the POI ligand and was reported to induce EGFR mutation degradation in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. It was also reported that the PROTAC was able to significantly induce apoptosis and G0/G1 phase arrest in the NSCLC cell line<sup>330</sup>. Several other PROTACs have been synthesized to target EGFR and HER2, another member of the same RTK family<sup>55, 293, 323, 335, 343, 356, 357</sup>. Progressing down from the RTKs there are PROTACs developed to target Ras and Raf, specifically mutants KRAS<sup>G12C</sup> and BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> respectively<sup>307, 316, 325, 336, 339,</sup> <sup>348, 370, 376, 382</sup>. Next in the signaling cascade is MEK1/2, with one study that developed a PROTAC that utilized the non-ATP competitive inhibitor PD0325901 as the POI ligand. The resulting PROTAC, named MS432, showed effective degradation without being selective for MEK1/2 as well as ERK phosphorylation blockage in cancer cells<sup>312</sup>. There are a couple more reports for MEK1/2-targeting PROTACs, as well as one ERK1/2 PROTAC that is discussed later in this paper<sup>315, 345</sup>.

AURORA kinases are serine/threonine protein kinases crucial for mitosis initiation, particularly AURORA-a which promotes G2/M phase change via centrosome maturation mitotic spindle regulation. If overexpressed AURORA-a will be unable to halt G2/M transition to induce apoptosis, promoting tumorigenesis<sup>383</sup>. The first reported selective PROTAC targeting AURORA-a utilized the AURORA-a inhibitor Alisertib as the POI ligand and the resulting PROTAC, JB170, had strong kinase binding and degradation. It is important to note JB170 only caused cell accumulation in the S phase instead of the G2/M arrest phase, suggesting that it regulated AURORA-a's non-enzymatic activity<sup>338</sup>. Another study wanted to create a series of novel AURORA-a-targeting PROTACs with different E3 ligases but all utilizing the same inhibitor MLN8054 as the POI ligand. The end result showed that three major PROTACs with CRBN, VHL, or IAP as the E3 ligase were able to induce AURORA-a degradation across multiple cancer cell lines<sup>378</sup>. A few more PROTAC studies have been published in recent years with AURORA-a as the POI, further suggesting the kinase's importance in cell cycle regulation<sup>342, 355, 379</sup>.

The BET family, and BRD4 in particular, are epigenetic histone readers that trigger proproliferative gene transcription. A huge number of inhibitors targeting BET family proteins have been reported though they require a high dosage amount, resulting in the desire for more effective therapeutic options<sup>384-386</sup>. The majority of BRD4-targeting PROTACs utilize the inhibitor JQ1 as the POI ligand <sup>22, 53, 84, 216, 287, 288, 300, 305, 309, 318, 333, 369</sup>. One study developed PROTAC dBET1 which induced not only BRD4 and c-Myc degradation both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, but also BRD2 and BRD3 as JQ1 is a nonselective inhibitor<sup>286</sup>. A follow-up study focused on optimizing the PROTAC, the resulting dBET6 demonstrating improved potency and global productive transcription elongation disruption in T-ALL cells<sup>285</sup>. Other BET inhibitors such as BETi-211 and OTX015 have been employed as POI ligands for PROTACs<sup>289, 294, 295, 314, 366, 368, 387</sup>. PROTACs have also been utilized for dual degradation, targeting both BRD4 and PLK1<sup>319, 373</sup>. In addition to BRD2/3/4, there are also two important non-BET BRDs called BRD7 and BRD9 that are epigenetic histone readers and, if overexpressed, promote tumorigenesis. Two studies have developed PROTACs targeting BRD7/9 with the inhibitor BI7273 as the POI ligand. The two PROTACS – dBRD9 and VZ185 – successfully induced degradation across multiple cancer cell lines<sup>290, 303</sup>.

CDKs are serine/threonine kinases that are key regulators of cell cycle progression and division. CDK2/4/6 in particular regulate G1/S phase transition and have several inhibitors such as Palbociclib and Ribociclib <sup>388-390</sup>. PROTAC technology has been employed to target CDKs for degradation, such as one study that formed PROTAC YX-2-107 with Palbociclib as the POI ligand which effectively induced CDK2/4/6 degradation in ALL cells and inhibited S phase cells<sup>326</sup>. Another study developed two PROTACs either with Palbociclib and Ribociclib as the POI ligand and synthesized BSJ-02-162 and BSJ-04-132, respectively<sup>306</sup>. Along with Palbociclib and Ribociclib, other inhibitors such as FN-1501 and TMX-3010 have been used for CDK2/4/6-targeting PROTAC development<sup>106, 320, 324, 334, 346</sup>. While CDK2/4/6 is a major target of interest for PROTAC technology research, PROTACs have also been made targeting CDK8, CDK9, and CDK12<sup>104, 291, 297, 347, 358, 359, 365, 371</sup>. There are several other PROTACs reported targeting proteins involved in cancer cell proliferation including ALK, AR, BLK, cdc20, c-Met, DHODH, ER/Erα, FGFR1/2, HSP90, MYC, Rar, SF3B1, SLC9A1, SMARCA2/4, TACC3, TRKA/C, and Wee-1<sup>9</sup>, 33, 35, 83, 101, 154, 282, 283, 292, 293, 296, 298, 299, 301, 302, 304, 308, 310, 311, 313, 317, 322, 327-329, 331, 332, 337, 340, 341, 344, 349-354, 360-364, 367, 372, 374, 375, 377, 391-393

## 5. PROTAC Application in Other Diseases

Cancer is the second highest cause of death both in the US and worldwide. While it is incredibly crucial for continued effort in the field of cancer therapeutics, other diseases are prevalent and demand the same rigorous research into treatment options<sup>394</sup>. While the majority of PROTAC research is concentrated on cancer therapeutics, there are other fields of diseases that the technology has been applied to. Because of the conception and design of PROTACs, they can be tailored to target specific proteins that are affected within a multitude of diseases, making it a universally customizable therapeutic option. PROTAC research has been seen to expand into the realm of cardiovascular, immune-mediated, neurodegenerative, and viral diseases, showing several proofs of concept of the technology's capability to target and degrade disease-promoting proteins (Table 7).

Name	Target	E3 Ligase	Linker	POI Ligand	Name of Disease / Cell Line	Reference(s)
PROTAC- RIPK2	RIPK2	VHL	PEG	Vandetanib	BC, AML, THP-1 cells	21
Compound 1	mHtt	cIAP1	PEG	BTA	HD	70
Compound 2	mHtt	cIAP1	PEG	PDB	HD	70
Compound 7	mHtt	cIAP1	PEG	PDB	HD	395
GSK983	PCAF/ GCN5	CRBN	NL	GSK4027	LPS-stimulated macrophages and dendritic cells	396
QC-01-175	Tau protein	CRBN	NL	PET tracer T807	PET tracer T807 AD	
Compound 3	IRAK4	VHL	HPHO all- carbon chain	PF-06650833	PF-06650833 PBMC and human dermal fibroblasts	
Degrader 12d	HDAC6	CRBN	CL	Nex A	Nex A MM	
DGY-08-097	NS3	CRBN	NL	VX-950 Hepatitis C		400
NP8	HDAC6	CRBN	NL	Nex A MM		401
Compound 3j	HDAC6	VHL	NL	Nex A	MM1S cells	402
PROTAC 2	RIPK2	IAP	PEG	RIPK2 inhibitor	THP-1 cells	403
PROTAC 3	RIPK2	CRBN	PEG	RIPK2 inhibitor	THP-1 cells	403
P22A	HMGCR	CRBN	Via click chemistry	Atorvastatin	SRD-15 cells Huh7 cells	404
Compound 4	α-syn	VHL	NL	α-syn binder	AD & PD	405
PROTAC 23	IIRAK3	CRBN	NL	Pyrrolotriazines	THP-1 cells Primary macrophages	406
XZ9002	HDAC3	VHL	PEG	SR-3558	MDA-MB-468 cells T47D cells	407
Degrader 2c	IDO1	CRBN	PEG	Epacadostat	CAR-T cells HeLa cells	408
Compound 9	IRAK4	CRBN	PEG	IRAK4 inhibitor 1	DLBCL	409

HD-TAC7	HDAC3	CRBN	PEG	CI-994 LPS/IFNγ-stin RAW 264.7 mag		410
Degrader 5	IRAK4	CRBN	CL	Compound 1	ABC DLBCL	411
PROTAC(H- PCDS)-1	H-PGDs	CRBN	PEG	TFC-007	KU812 cells	412
PG21	GSK-3β	CRBN	PEG	Pyridine thiazole-based inhibitor	Pyridine thiazole-based inhibitor AD	
C004019	Tau protein	VHL	NL	Tau binder	AD	414
Compound 21b	HMGCR	VHL	CL	Lovastatin acid	Lovastatin acid MFD-induced mouse model with hypercholesterolemia	
Compound 21c	HMGCR	VHL	CL	Lovastatin acid HepG2		415
THAL- SNS032	CDK9	CRBN	NL	PKI SNS032	HCMV	416
Compound 14a	HDAC6	CRBN	NL	Indirubin derivatives	K562 cells THP-1 cells	417
Compound 3	PTGES-2	VHL	6-methylene units	INM	SARS-CoV-2	418
Compound 5	PTGES-2	VHL	Piperazine- based	INM	SARS-CoV-2	418
Compound 8e	NA	VHL	NL	Oseltamivir	Influenza type B	419
JMF4560	C-TPD-43	CRBN	PEG	BTA	ALS	420

Table 7) Representative PROTACs for Cardiovascular, IMID, Neurodegenerative, and Viral Diseases, arranged by publication date. (ABC DLBCL – activated b-cell-like diffuse large b-cell lymphoma, BTA – benzothiazole-aniline derivative, CAR-T – chimeric antigen receptormodified t, CL – alkyl chain, HPHO – hydrophobic, LPS/IFNγ – lipopolysaccharide/gamma interferon, MFD – medium fat diet, MM – multiple myeloma, NA – neuraminidase, Nex A – Nexturastat A, NL – not listed in publication, PDB – phenyldiazenyl benzothiazole derivative, PKI – protein kinase inhibitor)

### 5.a. Cardiovascular diseases

3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase (HMGCR) is the rate-limiting enzyme for cholesterol biosynthesis, catalyzing conversion of HMG-CoA into mevalonate.

HMGCR acts as the target for cholesterol-lowering drugs called statins, which are typically prescribed to patients to prevent or treat cardiovascular diseases<sup>421, 422</sup>. While they are extremely efficient in lowering plasma low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels, statins can provoke compensatory HMGCR protein upregulation, thus limiting the drug's maximal effectiveness<sup>423-425</sup>. There was a study published in 2020 that reported the synthesis of a CRBN-based PROTAC with atorvastatin – a class of statins – as the POI ligand. This PROTAC, called P22A, was successful in not only degrading HMGCR levels, but also activating the sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP) pathway to block cholesterol synthesis<sup>404</sup>. In the same year, another study reported two VHL-based small molecule PROTACs utilizing lovastatin acid as the HMGCR-targeting POI ligand. One compound (21c) was effective in degrading HMGCR in Insig-silenced HepG2 cells, while the second compound (21b) induced HMGCR degradation and cholesterol reduction during *in vivo* studies<sup>415</sup>. Recently the Heart Research Institute in Australia announced a research project with the aims of developing Akt-isoform-specific PROTACs and examining their therapeutic possibility in thrombosis, a major complication of cardiovascular disease<sup>426</sup>.

### 5.b. Immune-mediated inflammatory diseases

Immune-mediated inflammatory diseases (IMIDs) are a broad collection of multifactorial diseases with systemic inflammation and a severely dysregulated immune system. IMIDs include ankylosing spondylitis (AS), asthma, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), multiple sclerosis (MS), psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis (PsA), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), uveitis, and several more. These common diseases lower an individual's quality of life significantly with severe morbidity and potential premature death, thus research for drug therapeutic options against these diseases is constantly ongoing<sup>427-429</sup>. PROTAC technology has begun to emerge in the field of IMID treatment research, having been successfully applied against a myriad of IMID targets.

HDACs are a group of enzymes that regulate gene expression via deacetylating acetylated histones, as well as targeting non-histone proteins such as NF-kB, a crucial regulator for numerous inflammatory genes. Among the 18 members of this protease family are HDAC3, which can directly repress or indirectly activate gene expression, and HDAC6, which helps regulate gene expression and is crucial for the assembly and activation of NLRP3 inflammasome. These two proteins have been reported to affect several IMIDs such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), IBD, and RA, making them targets of interest for treatment research<sup>430-434</sup>. A study in 2020 synthesized a HDAC3-targeting PROTAC composed of a HDAC inhibitor (HDACi) CI-994 as the POI ligand connected to the CRBN ligand via a linker. The HD-TAC7 had little impact on the LPS/IFNy-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophage gene expression but was able to selectively reduce HDAC3 levels in comparison to siRNA. The most likely reason for the low effect was due to the consequential downregulation of the NF- $\kappa$ B subunit p65, which is a known pomalidomide treatment side effect<sup>410</sup>. In the same year another group reported a HDAC3-targeting PROTAC composed of a HDACi SR-3558 as the POI ligand connected to the VHL ligand via a linker. This PROTAC, called XZ9002, was able to induce and selectively degrade HDAC3, potentially due to its catalytic MOA and

isoenzyme selectivity<sup>407</sup>. Several reports have been published displaying PROTAC technology targeting HDAC6, with the first being in 2018 utilizing previous reported pan-HDACi<sup>435</sup>. This PROTAC was later refined with different E3 ligands and a more selective HDAC6i, thus resulting in improved PROTAC activity<sup>399, 402, 436</sup>. Concurrently, another group published about two PROTACs that were also successful in degrading HDAC6 in different cell lines<sup>108, 401</sup>. Finally, in 2021 a study reported the development of a HDAC6-targeting PROTAC using a HDACi from a natural product called indirubin. A downregulation of NLRP3 levels, along with downregulation of related cytokines, were reported in the THP-1 cells that constructed the NLRP3 inflammasome activation model<sup>417</sup>.

The IRAK family are a group of Ser/Thr kinases that play a central role in inflammatory responses due to regulating multiple inflammatory genes. In particular, both IRAK3 and IRAK4 are crucial to mediating TLR/IL-1R signaling pathways, and mutations of these two kinases have been seen in several IMIDs such as autoimmune diseases, IBD, RA, and sepsis<sup>437-440</sup>. As such, both IRAK3 and IRAK4 have potential as targets for therapeutic research against IMIDs. In 2020 the first PROTACs targeting IRAK3 were synthesized, with PROTAC 23 resulting in more than 98% of IRAK degradation in both THP1 cells and primary macrophages<sup>406</sup>. The first IRAK4-targeting PROTACs was reported in 2019, where several PROTACs were synthesized but specifically compound 3 was able to successfully degrade IRAK4 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and human dermal fibroblasts<sup>398</sup>. A following report from the same group found another PROTAC that successfully degraded more than 90% of the IRAK4 in HEK293T cells 24 hours after treatment, along with hindering the NF-κB signaling pathway in activated B-cell-like (ABC) diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (DLBCLs)<sup>411</sup>. Finally, another study screened a PROTAC capable of inducing IRAK4 degradation in DLBCL cells<sup>409</sup>. These reports highlight the potential for PROTAC technology to target IRAK3/4 in IMIDs.

Other IMID targets have also been utilized for PROTAC development. RIPK2 plays an important role in inflammation and innate immunity by releasing several inflammatory cytokines when activated. Dysregulation in this pathway is associated with several IMIDs such as autoimmune diseases and IBD<sup>441, 442</sup>. In 2015 a PROTAC was announced to effectively degrade more than 95% of RIPK2 at nanomolar concentration<sup>21</sup>. Five years later another study synthesized two PROTACs that, when compared to the previous study's PROTAC, was not as effective in degrading RIPK2 in the THP-1 cells. However, the two PROTACs had a stronger binding ability to RIPK2<sup>403</sup>. Other IMID targets with PROTACs reported include hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthases (H-PGDs), IDO1, and P300/CBP-associated factor / general control nonderepressible 5 (PCAF/GCN5)<sup>396, 408, 412</sup>.

### 5.c. Neurodegenerative diseases

The central nervous system (CNS) is made up of the brain and spinal cord and has ultimate control over all bodily functions. More than 600 known diseases affect the CNS, ranging across a broad spectrum of neurological, neurodegenerative, and neurodevelopmental disorders. This system poses several unique challenges that has made drug development widely unsuccessful, from poor understanding of the disease as a whole and its underlying pathophysiology to malfunctioning proteins expressed in both the CNS and peripheral nervous system (PNS) that

make CNS-specific treatment targeting more difficult<sup>443, 444</sup>. PROTAC technology could be a potential new strategy to targeting CNS disorders for therapeutic treatment, with several published reports examining their utilization against common neurodegenerative diseases.

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is one of the most common neurodegenerative disorders worldwide, characterized by a slow progression of deteriorating cognition, memory, and other mental functions<sup>445</sup>. There have been several hypotheses made towards understanding the complex and widely unknown pathophysiology of AD, one of which being caused by presence of abnormally regulated tau proteins. Tau proteins are microtubule-associated proteins profusely expressed in neurons responsible for microtubule stabilization and axonal transport and are associated with a myriad of neurodegenerative diseases, making it a major target of interest for drug therapeutic research<sup>446</sup>. Several reports have shown the development and success of tau-targeting PROTACs over the past several years, with two papers published in 2016 and 2018 showing the first proofs of concept with p-PROTACs that used VHL and Keap1 E3 ligands, respectively<sup>32, 33</sup>. The following year the first small molecule PROTACs targeting tau was reported, with the patent stating six PROTACs were developed with either CRBN or VHL ligands. These PROTACs were able to successfully degrade tau in both tau-p301L and tau-a152T, along with many other favorable pharmacokinetic parameters being met<sup>447</sup>. Another study the same year synthesized numerous tau-targeting PROTACs with PET tracer T807 as the POI ligand and CRBN for the E3 ligand. One of the PROTACs, called QC-01-175, effectively degraded WT and mutant tau, as well as preferentially degrading frontotemporal dementia FTD neuron tau protein in comparison to normal cells<sup>397</sup>. There has also been reported preclinical evidence from Arvinas for a PROTAC that successfully targeted pathological tau. This PROTAC was able to cross the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) degrade the pathological tau while avoiding the WT tau in the mouse models 24 hours after treatment<sup>414</sup>. Finally, glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3 $\beta$ ) is a serine/threonine protein kinase capable of boosting tau phosphorylation as well as amyloid-β peptide production to induce AD development<sup>448</sup>. In 2021 there was the first report of GSK-3β-targeting PROTACs capable of accomplishing kinase degradation at a nanomolar level. Specifically, the PROTAC PG21 was also able to prevent mouse hippocampal neuron HT-22 cells from dying after being induced by glutamate<sup>413</sup>. All these reports give evidence showing that PROTAC technology can be beneficial in treating tricky neurodegenerative disorders such as AD.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) is a multisystem neurodegenerative disorder consisting of onset focal muscle weakening and decay which eventually spread throughout the body by the disease progression. While more than 20 genes have been linked to ALS, two of the most common neuropathological signatures are the aggregation of cytoplasmic TDP-43 protein, and the aggregation of mutant SOD1 protein<sup>449</sup>. A study in 2018 discovered and utilized a unique E3 ligase Zfn179 which has autoubiquitination features to specifically target and degrade TDP-43 as well as regulate the protein aggregate clearance<sup>450</sup>. Another study published in 2023 synthesized a PROTAC targeting C-terminal TPD-43 (C-TPD-43) which successfully degraded the aggregated protein and reduced its compactness and oligomer population<sup>420</sup>. For mutant SOD1 protein one study developed a Dorfin-CHIP PROTAC where the two components are an E3 protein Dorfin that binds to the mutant protein and the U-box domain for C-terminal Hsc70-interacting protein (CHIP) which also exhibits strong E3 ligase activity. This PROTAC was able

to successfully target and degrade the mutant SOD1 and cause decrease aggregation formation while not affecting the WT SOD1<sup>451</sup>. While more research is needed, these beginning studies show potential for PROTAC technology in ALS therapeutic research.

An autosomal dominant neurodegenerative disorder called Huntington's disease (HD) is caused by an excessive expansion of a CAG trinucleotide repeat in the HTT gene's exon 1 that results in mHtt aggregating in nerve cells<sup>452</sup>. A study in 2017 designed two PROTACs targeting mHtt, successfully reducing mHtt levels in the fibroblasts of HD patient primary cells and mHtttransfected HeLa cells. These PROTACs were able to reduce the mHtt levels via protein degradation without knowing the specific POI ligand that was targeted, showing that this technology can successfully target neurodegenerative disease-causing aggregate-prone proteins even when the specific POI ligand is unknown<sup>70</sup>. A year later the same group synthesized a new PROTAC which used IAP inhibitor MV1 which was found to have stronger affinity for the E3 ligase in comparison to the previous PROTACs. Additionally, this PROTAC was able to degrade mHtt in HD-affected fibroblasts in both time- and dose-dependent manner<sup>395</sup>. Despite the success of these PROTACs to effectively degrade mHtt, all of the compounds struggled to differentiate between the WT Htt and mHtt and ultimately resulted in decreased WT Htt levels<sup>453</sup>. As a result, the potential for PROTAC-mediated HD treatment needs to be further investigated.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that severely affects the individual's motor system and is the second most common neurodegenerative disease after AD. Its main characteristic is the accumulation of aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein proteins ( $\alpha$ -syn), which leads to the aggregation of Lewy bodies and eventual neuronal degeneration<sup>454</sup>. In 2020 a study developed six PROTACs targeting  $\alpha$ -syn for PD and AD treatment. Four of the PROTACs were able to significantly lower  $\alpha$ -syn levels *in vitro*, degrading more than 65% of the total  $\alpha$ -syn while the other two PROTACs degraded 30-65%<sup>405</sup>. Another study synthesized a cell-permeable p-PROTAC for  $\alpha$ -syn proteasomal degradation, combining a CPP domain,  $\alpha$ -syn protein binding domain and a proteasome-targeting motif. The p-PROTAC was able to successfully target and degrade  $\alpha$ -syn in primary neurons and neuroblastoma cells, thus decreasing the cytotoxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction<sup>455</sup>.

### 5.d. Viral infections

Diseases caused by viral infections have resulted in some of the highest mortality pandemics seen across human history, affecting hundreds of millions of people worldwide and acting as a serious threat to public health and safety. These include mostly eradicated diseases such as smallpox and polio to devastating diseases still prevalent today such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis B/C virus (HBV/HCV). The most recent addition to this list was the outbreak of COVID-19 via the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) virus in 2020, having since been labeled as one of the deadliest pandemics within the last century<sup>456-458</sup>. Current prevention and treatment options against these diseases rely on a combination of vaccines and drugs, either administered at birth, during age milestones, or at/after viral infection. Nevertheless, developing drug-resistant viral strains and failure of vaccines against altered and novel viruses provide extreme challenges against the currently available antiviral therapeutic options, making it crucial to discover new cutting-edge antiviral

strategies<sup>459-461</sup>. PROTAC technology has begun to be implemented into the field of antiviral therapeutic research, targeting various viral targets such as surface proteins, proteases, host proteins, and CDKs<sup>462</sup>.

A virus is surrounded by a lipid bilayer which is embedded with several glycoproteins, such as hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA). These surface proteins help the virus attach to and penetrate the host cell via attachment to specific cell receptors, along with allowing for the release of newly created virion particles. Due to their unique composition that separates them from the host cell's receptors, these surface proteins have become new targets of interest for antiviral therapeutic research<sup>463, 464</sup>. Oseltamivir is a type of NA inhibitor that prevents the exit of the new virion particles and has been widely utilized in treating influenza A and B virus infections<sup>465</sup>. A PROTAC has been developed utilizing oseltamivir as the POI against NA for the influenza A virus, which connected to a VHL ligand via a linker. This oseltamivir-based PROTAC tended to have two functions by first connecting to and inhibiting NA and then degrading the surface protein via the UPS, subsequently preventing newly synthesized virion particles from leaving the host cell. Further investigation found that the PROTAC was also effective against oseltamivir-resistant virus strains as well<sup>419</sup>.

Hepatitis C is caused by HCV infection and is one of the main causes for liver diseases such as chronic hepatitis, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and liver cirrhosis. The HCV nonstructural protein 3 (NS3) plays several crucial roles in the virus's infection cycle, making the NS3/4A serine protease a target for drug treatment<sup>466, 467</sup>. One such drug called Telaprevir (VX-950) has been approved for treatment of HCV, though patients run the risk of developing drug resistance, resulting in the need for new treatment options<sup>468</sup>. A study in 2019 developed a PROTAC targeting NS3 with VX-950 as the protease-binding ligand and CRBN as the E3 ligand connected via a linker. This PROTAC called DGY-08-097 was able to effectively degrade NS3 in human hepatoma-derived Huh7.5 cells, as well as degrade A156S and V55A mutant NS3<sup>400</sup>.

Vaccines are biological preparations of disease-causing microorganisms able to induce an immune response upon detection of foreign entities, thus helping to develop the body's humoral immunity. The current most common vaccine types are either inactivated (killed disease-causing microorganism) or live attenuated (weakened disease-causing microorganism), with the live attenuated vaccines being the most conventional technology used against influenza viral infections. While this technology can potentially induce robust and broad immune responses, it also is limited by insignificant immunogenicity, time-consuming manufacturing procedures, and overall safety concerns<sup>469, 470</sup>. A study in 2022 utilized PROTAC technology to create an attenuated influenza PROTAC virus strain which would target and degrade influenza viral proteins via the host cell's UPS, thus dramatically decreasing viral replication. Synthesis of the attenuated influenza PROTAC virus linked the proteasome targeting domain (PTD), which acted as the E3 ligand due to it containing a peptide region recognized by VHL, with a matrix gene segment (M1 protein) via a tobacco etch virus cleavage site (TEVcs) linker. This linker can be specifically cleaved by TEV protease (TEVp) to separate M1 protein from PTD and prevent its degradation, allowing for normal influenza virus replication in stable TEVp-expressed cells which can produce viral particles crucial for vaccine production. The study reported that M1PTD successfully controlled M1 protein degradation, along with effective PROTAC virus replication occurring within TEVp-expressing Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK.2) cells in comparison to a WT virus. In vivo, it was able to cause robust and broad immunity (humoral, mucosal, cellular) against both homologous and heterologous virus challenges<sup>471</sup>. Overall, PROTAC viruses have a lot of potential for vaccine manufacturing, not only against influenza but also other pathogens, though further investigation into PROTAC vaccine safety is needed<sup>472, 473</sup>.

Several other PROTACs have emerged in recent years against various other viral infections. Indomethacin (INM) is a drug that was designed to inhibit the SARS-CoV-2 replication cycle by targeting and inhibiting the host cell's prostaglandin E synthase type-2 (PTGES-2), which interacts with non-structural protein (NSP7), one of the NSPs involved in viral RNA replication<sup>474</sup>. INM-based PROTACs were developed by conjugating INM as the POI ligand with VHL via either an aliphatic or polyethylene glycol linkers, successfully targeting the host protein PTGES-2 and provide proof of concept for PROTAC-based pan-CoV antiviral treatments<sup>418</sup>. The X-protein for HBV, a disease that affects more than 1/3 of the human population and runs a major risk for developing HCC, is crucial in maintaining viral infection and productivity<sup>475</sup>. A p-PROTAC was developed that targeted and successfully degraded the Xprotein, allowing for not only the therapeutic treatment of HBV but also in preventing HCC<sup>30</sup>. CDKs are well known for playing important roles in virus life cycles and act as potential targets against multiple viruses such as HIV, Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), and SARS-CoV-2<sup>476</sup>. THAL-SNS032 is a commercially available PROTAC developed coupling CRBN ligand and CDK inhibitor SNS032 as the POI ligand. This PROTAC not only successfully degraded CDK9 but also CDK1/2/7 as well as targeting HCMV-encoded ortholog pUL97, showing that THAL-SNS032 was significantly sensitive to the HCMV virus<sup>416</sup>.

### 6. PROTAC Transition into Clinical Setting

As the research of PROTACs progress in the laboratory both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, there becomes a need to begin implementing this technology into clinical settings. Bench-to-bedside research is a crucial transition for medicinal research as it allows for the application of laboratory results in the clinic to observe their effectiveness in human patients. If the novel treatment is effective enough to progress through all clinical trial phases, then it will transition into general practice for treating the targeted cancer or disease<sup>477</sup>. Since 2013, several companies such as Arvinas and C4 Therapeutics have been established focusing on the development of PROTACs and other TPD technologies. Several pharmaceutical giants such as Pfizer, Genentech, and Merck have also branched into this field, pushing the industry to begin implementing this technology into clinical settings<sup>478</sup>. However, there were four key questions remaining that needed to be answered for PROTACs: 1) Were they safe for humans? 2) Would they have drug-like properties? 3) Would they accurately work for their target protein? 4) Are they therapeutically effective? In 2019 the first two PROTACs entered phase I clinical trials and their results reported the following year

positively answered all four of these questions, allowing them to progress to phase II clinical testing. These positive clinical proof-of-concepts also paved the way for more PROTACs to enter the clinical setting, resulting in at least 15 PROTACs from various biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies currently undergoing clinical trials (Table 8)<sup>479</sup>.

PROTAC Name	Target	E3 Ligand	Cancer(s)/ Disease	Current Trial Phase	Current Trial Start Date	ROA	Company	Clinical Trial No.
AC682	ER	CRBN	Locally Advanced or Metastatic ER+/HER- Breast Cancer	Phase I	2021	Oral	Accutar Biotech	NCT05080842
ARV-110	AR	CRBN	mCRPC	Phase II	2020	Oral	Arvinas	NCT03888612
ARV-471	ER	CRBN	Advanced Breast Cancer	Phase III	2023	Oral	Arvinas / Pfizer	NCT04072952
ARV-766	AR	NL	mCRPC	Phase I/II	2021	Oral	Arvinas	NCT05067140
CC-94676	ARB	CRBN	mCRPC	Phase I	2020	Oral	Bristol Myers Squibb	NCT04428788
CG001419	TRK	CRBN	Cancer and Other Indications	IND-e	2021	Oral	Cullgen	NL
CFT8634	BRD9	CRBN	Synovial Sarcoma, Soft Tissue Sarcoma	Phase I/II	2022	Oral	C4 Therapeutics	NCT05355753
CFT8919	EGFR- L858R	CRBN	NSCLC	IND-e	2021	Oral	C4 Therapeutics	NL
DT2216	BCL- X <sub>L</sub>	VHL	Solid Tumors & Hematologic Malignancy	Phase I	2021	IV	Dialectic Therapeutics	NCT04886622
FHD-609	BRD9	NL	Advanced Synovial Sarcoma	Phase I	2021	IV	Foghorn Therapeutics	NCT04965753
KT- 333	STAT3	NL	Solid Tumors, CTCL, LGL-L, NHL, PTCL	Phase I	2022	NL	Kymera	NCT05225584
KT-413	IRAK4	CRBN	DLBCL	Phase I	2022	IV	Kymera	NCT05233033
KT-474	IRAK4	NL	Autoimmune Diseases (AD/HS)	Phase I	2021	Oral	Kymera / Sanofi	NCT04772885
NX-2127	BTK	CRBN	B Cell Malignancies	Phase I	2021	Oral	Nurix Therapeutics	NCT04830137
NX-5948	BTK	CRBN	B Cell Malignancies	Phase I	2022	Oral	Nurix Therapeutics	NCT05131022

Table 8) PROTACs currently in clinical application or in clinical development, arranged by PROTAC name. (AD – atopic dermatitis, CTCL – cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, DLBCL – diffuse large B cell lymphoma, HS – hidradenitis suppurativa, IND-e – in IND-enabling preclinical studies, IV – intravenous, LGL-L – large granular lymphocytic leukemia, mCRPC – metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, NHL – non hodgkin lymphoma, NL – not listed in publication, NSCLC – non-small cell lung cancer, PTCL – peripheral T-cell lymphoma, ROA – route of administration)

One of the first PROTACs to enter clinical trials in 2019 was Vepdegestrant (ARV-471), a CRBN-based PROTAC co-developed by Arvinas and Pfizer targeting ER in patients with locally advanced or metastatic ER+/HER- breast cancer that have previously received CDK4/6 inhibitors (Figure 4a). In preclinical trials ARV-471 exhibited tumor growth suppression in breast cancer models, as well as significant tumor reduction when combined with palbociclib in comparison to fulvestrant treatment<sup>480</sup>. The clinical trials for ARV-471 is a Phase 1/2 dose escalation and cohort expansion study that has previously presented data showing that PROTAC monotherapy in a heavily pretreated population demonstrated a 42% clinical benefit rate. It was also seen that ARV-471 was well tolerated at all dose levels (30 mg – 700 mg) with no reported dose-limiting toxicities, as well as robust ER degradation (up to 89%) reported at all doses daily in paired biopsy samples<sup>481</sup>. The phase II clinical trial is still ongoing, examining the combination of ARV-471 with palbociclib (NCT04072952). Additionally, recruitment for a Phase III trial began in March 2023, with the aim to randomly assign half the patients ARV-471 and the other half fulvestrant in order to examine the safety and efficiency of ARV-471 in comparison to fulvestrant in patients with advanced breast cancer (NCT05654623).



В.



Figure 4) Structures of clinical trial PROTAC drugs a) ARV-471 and b) ARV-110. Chemical structures created using MolView.

The other PROTAC to enter clinical trials in 2019 was Bavdegalutamide (ARV-110), a CRBNbased PROTAC developed by Arvinas targeting AR in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC) (Figure 4b). These patients were recruited due to their severely limited therapeutic options as a result of the mainstream method of antiandrogen therapy being ineffective<sup>482</sup>. The clinical trials for ARV-110 is a Phase 1/2 dose escalation study with initial trial data reporting the PROTAC to have an acceptable safety profile, being well tolerated with doses ranging between 35 mg and 420 mg. ARV-110 also demonstrated degradation of AR within tumors as 46% of patients with AR T878A/S and/or H875Y mutations showed a prostate-specific antigen (PSA) decline of over 50%, giving early signs of antitumor activity<sup>483</sup>. Phase II initiated in 2020 with a dosage of 420 mg and is currently ongoing (NCT03888612).

Beyond the initial two PROTACs there are other PROTACs that are currently in clinical settings. AC682 is a CRBN-based PROTAC developed by Accutar Biotech targeting ER in patients with locally advanced or metastatic ER+/HER- breast cancer. Preclinical data reported robust reduction of ER levels and anti-tumor efficacy within ER+ breast cancer cell models, including those with ESR1 mutation<sup>484, 485</sup>. The phase I for AC682 began in 2021 and is currently ongoing (NCT05080842). DT2216, designed by Dialectic Therapeutics, is unique as it is a VHL-based small molecule PROTAC in comparison to other PROTACs undergoing clinical trials that are CRBN-based. It targets BCL-X<sub>L</sub> in multiple solid and hematologic tumors and successfully demonstrated antitumor activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*<sup>160, 486</sup>. Phase I for DT2216 began in 2021 and is currently ongoing (NCT04886622). KT-474 is a PROTAC co-developed by Kymera and Sanofi targeting IRAK4 in patients with autoimmune diseases Atopic Dermatitis or Hidradenitis Suppurativa. The phase I trial began in 2021 and finished the following year with KT-474 showing an acceptable safety and tolerability profile, with more than 95% IRAK4 degradation after a single dose (NCT04772885).

### 7. Novel PROTAC Technologies

As there have been rapid developments in the discovery of proteins that can be targeted, there have also been developments of the PROTAC technology as a whole. These newer technologies help to address certain limitations that the general PROTAC structures (p-PROTACs, small molecule-based, nucleotide-based) currently face. Based on previously reported research demonstrating the effectiveness of these techniques within other fields of science, many laboratories have synthesized PROTACs with similar concepts that have shown high success. These technologies include CLIPTACs, Homo-PROTACs, PhotoPROTACs, and Tag-based PROTACs (Figure 5)



B.



C.





PROTAC

Figure 5) Mechanism of novel PROTAC technologies a) CLIPTACs, b) Homo-PROTACs, c) Photoswitchable PhotoPROTACs, d) Photocaged PhotoPROTACs, and e) Tag-based PROTACs. Created using BioRender, adapted from Li., X. (2022). Proteolysis-targeting chimeras (PROTACs) in cancer therapy. Molecular Cancer, 21(1), 99.

### 7.a. CLIPTACs

The term 'click chemistry' was first introduced in 2001 as an approach used to develop new compounds that are clearly defined and controlled via a series of 'spring-loaded' chemical reactions<sup>487</sup>. Through the use of heteroatom links (C-X-C) and covalent conjugation, these new compounds have the advantage of being highly reliable, selective, and able to work on a broad

scope. This technology has been seen successfully applied in multiple scientific disciplinaries, from its application among nucleic acids in biochemistry to development of prodrugs and other beneficial biotechnologies<sup>488-490</sup>. As such, CLIPTACs utilize the concept of click chemistry, where two small precursors are covalently built to form a conjugated biomolecule (Figure 5a). The first reported development and utilization of this concept was in 2016 when Heightman laboratory synthesized a trans-cyclooctene-tagged JQ1 as the POI ligand and a tetrazine-tagged thalidomide as the E3 ligand for the two precursors that formed a covalent six-membered ring moiety via a click reaction. This CLIPTAC was able to successfully degrade BRD4 and ERK1/2 in HeLa and A375 cells, respectively<sup>491</sup>. Two years later another CLIPTAC was created targeting casein kinase II (CK2) with CK2 inhibitor CX-4945 as the POI ligand and a CRBN recruiting E3 ligand. Of the four CLIPTACs synthesized, compound 2 was able to induce CK2 degradation in TNBC and NSCLC cells, resulting in more apoptosis in a shorter period of time<sup>492</sup>. In 2020 a series of BCR-ABL-targeting PROTACs were synthesized to form a global PROTAC toolbox for WT and T315I-mutated BCR-ABL degradation utilizing multiple BCR-ABL inhibitors. Three prominent PROTACs (PD22, P19A, P19P) based on Dasatinib, Asciminib, and Ponatinib respectively utilized 'click chemistry' in their linkers and all three of these PROTACs displayed effective protein degradation activity<sup>493</sup>. More target proteins that have PROTACs designed with a 'click chemistry' linker for their degradation include  $\alpha_{1A}$ -AR, AR, BRD4, BTK, CDKs, CYP1B1, Era, FAK, FKBP12, FLT3, p38, PARP-1, Sirt2, and TRKC<sup>52, 107, 494-509</sup>. Due to the smaller molecular weight of the precursors that will eventually link within the cell to form the full biomolecule, it makes it easier for cell permeability and thus has become a very intriguing solution for reducing PROTAC molecular weight.

### 7.b. Homo-PROTACs

E3 ligases are the most plentiful and specific enzymes within the UPS, having key roles in regulating protein degradation by directly interacting with and affecting protein levels within the cell. As such, deregulation of these E3 ligases can result in cancer proliferation and tumorigenesis due to the altered expression and activity of the proteins that it interacts with. E3 ligases themselves have become therapeutic targets of interest for a multitude of diseases due to their protein regulation abilities<sup>510-514</sup>. Homo-PROTACs are homo-bivalent PROTACs which recruit dimerized E3 ligases able to induce their own protein degradation<sup>515</sup>. This classifies the biomolecule as a chemical inducer of dimerization since it forms a PROTAC ternary complex where the E3 ligase is concurrently the enzyme and the POI (Figure 5b). In 2017, a Homo-PROTAC was developed to target the VHL E3 ligase with the most potent degrader across the three cell lines (HeLa, U2OS, HEK293) synthesized to be symmetric via the acetyl groups connection<sup>516</sup>. Similar techniques have also been used to develop Homo-PROTACs that resulted in the self-degradation of E3 ligases CRBN and MDM2<sup>517, 518</sup>. This concept has also been further built upon with the development of 'heterodimerizing' PROTACs, which are PROTACs that target two different E3 ligases for degradation. The premier report of this concept highlighted a PROTAC that targeted CRBN and VHL E3 ligases, successfully degrading the two in HeLa and HEK293 cells. However, it was seen that the specificity for either ligase within these heterodimerizing PROTACs was determined by their concentration, with a higher

PROTAC concentration resulting in potent CRBN degradation and lower concentration in potent VHL degradation<sup>519</sup>.

# 7.c. PhotoPROTACs

There has been extensive research conducted to find and utilize different techniques of controlling biomolecular activity in either a reversible or irreversible manner. One ideal element that could be employed as an external control for intracellular manipulation is light, since it is generally noninvasive, mostly bioorthogonal, and can be precisely regulated (wavelength, intensity)<sup>520, 521</sup>. The field of photopharmacology has seen rapid growth over the past decade due to high spatiotemporal resolution light being used to either generate or activate small molecules. PhotoPROTACs utilize the concept that some moieties within molecules (ex. azobenzene) could undergo reversible or irreversible changes from light stimulation, thus switching on or off the PROTAC for protein degradation<sup>522-524</sup>.

## 7.c.1. Photoswitchable photoPROTACs

Photoswitchable PROTACs use a photoswitchable moiety on the linker or E3 ligand to reversibly control protein degradation (Figure 5c). This PROTAC will rest in the inactive state until light exposure of a desired wavelength results in activation and subsequent PROTAC binding<sup>525</sup>. The first report of photoswitchable PROTACs added a light-controllable azobenzene group on the CRBN ligand that would be inactive in the dark but activate PROTAC function with blue-violet light (390 nm). Continued exposure under the desired wavelength resulted in the degradation of BRD2/4 and FKBP12 in ALL cells<sup>526</sup>. A later study showed a similar technique used to develop a photoswitchable PROTAC that resulted in the degradation of ABL and BCR-ABL proteins within CML<sup>527</sup>. An interesting observation found across multiple research papers was that at certain light exposures the photoswitchable PROTACs would revert back into its inactive state, thus ceasing protein degradation and proving the concept that a specific light exposure range is necessary for activation.

### 7.c.2. Photocaged photoPROTACs

In comparison to the photoswitchable PROTACs, photocaged PROTACs use photoliable blocking groups (ex. nitroveratryloxycarbonyl group, NVOC) to irreversibly control protein degradation (Figure 5d). This PROTAC will rest with a photocaging group label on the POI ligand, preventing binding until light exposure releases the photocaging group and results in activation and subsequent PROTAC binding<sup>528, 529</sup>. The first report of this PROTAC utilized photoliable blocker dimethoxy-2-nitrobenzyl group to the JQ1 POI ligand that activated under blue-violet light (365 nm), thus resulting in the degradation of BRD4 within live cells and zebrafish<sup>530</sup>. Another report developed multiple photocaged PROTACs that used the blocking group NVOC on the CRBN ligand which activated under blue-violet light (365 nm), resulting in the degradation proteins across multiple cancer lines<sup>531</sup>. Photocage technology is not a 'one-size-fits-all' method, allowing for specificity to be incorporated into the design of the PROTACs.

#### 7.d. Tag-based PROTACs

One of the challenges faced with developing new PROTACs is the tedious, multistep process required, from designing the molecular structure and establishing the chemical synthesis to evaluating its effectiveness in *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. Selecting the appropriate E3 ligase ligand is critical for PROTAC development progression, but there are hundreds of E3 ligases in the human proteasome to select from, thus making it difficult to differentiate potential POI-E3 ligase interactions that would be efficient for PROTAC structures<sup>532, 533</sup>. Tag-based PROTACs have been developed where the tag-POI fusion protein is expressed in the cell so then a universal PROTAC can be utilized to recruit candidate E3 ligases and the tag of the fusion protein (Figure 5e). Measuring the levels of fusion protein within the cell can allow for the determination of the candidate E3 ligase's effectiveness for degrading the targeted POI<sup>534</sup>. HaloPROTACs and dTAGs are the most widely used tag-based PROTACs, having been reported to successfully degrade fusions including oncogenic BRDs, ERK1, HRAS, KRAS, MEK1, and Sirt2<sup>535-542</sup>. While these tag-based PROTACs can be efficient in aiding researchers in examining potential E3 ligase ligands for future PROTAC development, they cannot be utilized as a disease therapeutic option.

# 8. PROTAC Advantages and Limitations

As the field of PROTAC continues to expand and evolve, many advantages have been declared that makes the utilization of this technology favorable in cancer and disease research. But it is important to address and understand the limitations the technology faces as well, allowing for an equal balance of pros and cons researchers must consider before deciding whether or not to use PROTAC technology.

### 8.a. Advantages of PROTAC technology

PROTACs function with catalytic MOA via event-driven mechanisms, allowing for complete degradation of the protein. The vast majority of inherited/acquired diseases are based on overexpression of proteins so current small molecule treatment strategies rely largely on occupancy-driven pharmacology. This means that inhibitors bind to the disease-causing proteins in order to block their signaling and the longer the binding occurs, the better the clinical benefits are. Despite the effectiveness of this strategy, high doses are typically required to encourage higher competitive binding activity which contributes to drug toxicity and severe side effects, plus the increased risk of the disease-causing protein mutating to resist the inhibitor treatment. Occupancy-driven MOA also suffers from its inability to work with all biological targets, especially enzymatic activity-lacking targets<sup>543</sup>. The utilization of event-driven MOA means that instead of simply inhibiting the protein's function, the PROTAC triggers the UPS for protein degradation, thus lowering the amount of the protein within the cell and providing overall control of abundant protein levels<sup>543, 544</sup>. Complete degradation of the protein means that not only is the protein's enzymatic activity knocked down but its non-enzymatic activity as well, which can

counter drug resistance<sup>478, 545</sup>. Occupancy-driven MOA also functions stoichiometrically, meaning that the inhibitor is used up on the disease-promoting protein in a 1:1 ratio, which is why higher doses are required in order to induce higher blockage. On the other hand, event-driven MOA PROTACs function sub-stoichiometrically, meaning that a single PROTAC can cause more protein degradation at lower dosage, which in terms lowers the potential for drug toxicity to occur<sup>22</sup>.

Another advantage of PROTACs is that they are highly selective as a result of their ternary complex. Many protein and kinase families have several isotypes. Being able to selectively target one isotype for degradation without subsequent degradation of the other isotypes is crucial for targeted cancer and disease therapeutic research. Small molecule inhibitors are also mostly designed to be non-specific to their target protein, which can result in unwanted off-target effects<sup>546</sup>. PROTACs are a universal tool due to their customization ability depending on the POI ligand and E3 ligand, allowing for specificity to be considered in the design. By keeping in mind the inhibitor and E3 recruiting ligand, varying types of PROTACs can be customized for different isotypes without dramatic redesigns of the PROTAC itself, contributing to more precise therapeutic options<sup>546, 547</sup>.

Finally, the biggest advantage that PROTAC technology benefits from is the potential for it to treat 'undruggable' targets. Majority of small molecule inhibitors require specific binding pockets on the disease-promoting protein in order to cause subsequent inhibition, meaning that a mutated or lack of that binding pocket increases drug resistance. There are several 'undruggable' targets resulting from lack of binding pockets or non-enzymatic activity, such as TFs, scaffolding proteins, and cofactors. PROTACs have the advantage of being able to, theoretically speaking, bind to any nook and cranny of the disease-promoting protein so it is not restricted to a specific enzymatic binding location, also allowing it to bind to and subsequently degrade non-enzymatic proteins and kinases<sup>2, 3, 18, 479, 548</sup>. The ability for PROTACs to bind to anywhere on the protein has resulted in PROTACs having extreme intrigue in the field of cancer and disease therapeutic research as it opens door to treating targets that were previously inaccessible.

### 8.b. Limitations of PROTAC technology

While the ternary complex is crucial for PROTAC function, there is a possibility for a 'hook effect' to occur. This means that binary complexes – either POI-PROTAC or PROTAC-E3 – will form instead of the required ternary complex due to an excessive amount of PROTAC in the cell. 'Hook effect' can also occur if the structure of the PROTAC is not appropriate, mostly as a result of a too short or too long linker chain between the two ligands<sup>549, 550</sup>. There is also the important factor that while there are over 600 different types of E3 ligases reported in the human genome, only less than 1% of them have been utilized for PROTAC development. The few E3 ligases that have been successfully validated and utilized have been useful so far but each have their own limitations that must be considered<sup>551</sup>. PROTACs, due to completely degrading the protein instead of just inhibiting the function, significantly lowers the protein levels within the cell. While this is beneficial for lowering disease-causing protein levels, complete degradation of particular proteins that have crucial function at normal levels can cause harmful results. Some PROTACs have also been reported to cause unwanted off-target effects. While this is not as

common as for small molecule inhibitors, it is still important to note that it can occur and be harmful to the cell as well<sup>10</sup>.

One of the major limitations of PROTAC technology is that many suffer from cell permeability difficulties as a result of high molecular weight (MW) and polarity. PROTACs typically weigh between 900 to 1100 daltons (Das) and the drastic decrease of passive permeability for a molecule ranges typically between 800 and 1000 Das. This also negatively affects the PROTAC's pharmacokinetic ability, making its lower cell permeability potentially prevent its ability to enter the cell and perform its necessary functions<sup>552-554</sup>. Due to this high molecular weight, PROTACs are considered to lie "beyond [the] rule of five". Lipinski's rule of five (MW < 500 Das, hydrogen bond donors < 5, hydrogen bond acceptors < 10, clogP < 5) is a principle for orally delivered drug development; if a drug does not meet one of the criteria it falls 'outside the rule of five' and thus should not be used for drug treatment<sup>555</sup>. While some PROTACs have been developed into orally available drugs despite lying outside the rule of five, the high molecular weight of the molecule still makes it difficult for it to penetrate cells and solid tumors<sup>556</sup>.

### 9. Considerations for Future Directions

As the field of PROTAC technology continues to evolve, many considerations should be taken in terms of which directions research should move. One such consideration is the improvement of the PROTAC structure as a whole, focusing on refining the individual components to vastly improve the overall product. E3 ligase and POI recruitment are crucial for PROTAC functionality, as both need to be linked simultaneously in order to induce ubiquitination and subsequent degradation. As such, the two components cannot be too far apart from one another or else the Ub will not be able to smoothly transition from the E2 to the POI for tagging. One thing that can assist in improving the E3/POI structure is improving linker structure for PROTAC use. The vast majority of linkers found in reports are either alkyl linkers or polyethylene glycol (PEG), with varying lengths of the chain and combinations chemicals. However, the process to optimize linker length and format is arduous and time-consuming, relying on the traditional 'trial-and-error' PROTAC synthesis to examine PROTACs and linkers. There is also the challenge that a linker that is not the proper size will assist in the formation of 'hook effect'. While new styles of linkers have been developed for novel PROTACs, finding technology or techniques to optimize linker examination will not only save time and money but also help to minimize the possibility of 'hook effect' occurring<sup>557, 558</sup>.

Another improvement that is necessary for PROTAC structure is to identify new E3 ligase and E3 ligase ligands for utilization. There have been new strategies developed to help with researching potential E3 ligases for possible PROTAC usage, such as the activity-based protein profiling (ABPP), function first approach, and rational design strategy. For example, ABPP is a chemoproteomic strategy where a broad proteome spectrum profile is probed in order to provide quantitative and site-specific assessment to determine potential E3-ligand pairs<sup>559</sup>. Several new

E3 ligases and ligands have recently been discovered over the past few years: DCAF15, RNF4, RNF114, AhR, and DCAF16. While steps have been taken in the right direction, there are still hundreds of E3 ligases to examine and validate so new strategies of screening will be necessary in order to uncover new E3 ligases and, subsequently, new PROTACs<sup>560</sup>.

Another crucial step for the future of PROTAC technology is to fix the problem of the high MW and polarity. There is constant research occurring in an attempt to tackle this pressing issue, taking different kinds of approaches. One approach is to add CPPs to p-PROTACs in order to help with penetration through the membrane and into the cell. Another is to break the PROTAC into two smaller MW parts with better solubility and polarity to cross the membrane and then assemble into the full PROTAC once inside via 'click chemistry'. A third technique is using solubility predictive technology in order to compute experimental trials to examine and distinguish soluble and insoluble degraders<sup>561</sup>. The combined forces of improving PROTAC solubility and decreasing overall MW is needed to expand PROTAC lipophilicity and increase delivery options.

Finally, as improvements are continued on PROTAC structures as a whole, another direction that can begin to be examined is researching PROTAC involvement in combinational therapy. PROTACs have successfully reported the degradation of several dozen target proteins and kinases with a wide range of functions by utilizing established inhibitors as the POI ligand, so it is possible that these effectively-proven PROTACs can work well when combined with another inhibitor or FDA-approved drug. How this could work is by, for example, treating cancer cells with PROTACs targeting a specific POI as the primary treatment, allowing for degradation to occur and significantly lowering the protein level within the cell. Next, another FDA-approved drug can be used to treat the cancer cells as the secondary treatment in order to inhibit any of remaining disease-promoting proteins and effectively stall the hyperactive signaling and proliferation. A few published studies have begun to examine this strategy of combination therapy, with one such report combining PROTAC PP-C8 and the PARP inhibitor Olaparib to significantly lower CDK12 protein levels in TNBC cell lines<sup>371</sup>. By combining two treatment options it can result in lower dosage required by both for the desired effect, thus lowering the chances of drug toxicity and severe side effects.

### **10.** Conclusion

PROTACs are heterobifunctional molecules that can selectively degrade a POI via the UPS, allowing for significantly decreased levels of disease-promoting proteins within cancer or other disease cells. The field of PROTACs has rapidly evolved since its initial introduction in 2001 due to its event-driven MOA and potential for degrading 'undruggable' targets. With newer PROTACs being synthesized and limitations discovered, new techniques and technologies are being developed to address them. Some recent variations of the PROTAC technology that have since come out in the last few years include Antibody-based PROTACs (AbTACs), Lysosome-Targeting Chimeras (LYTACs), autophagy-targeting chimeras (AUTACs), and Ribonuclease-

targeting chimeras (RIBOTACs)<sup>562-564</sup>. PROTAC-DB 2.0 is an online database of structural and experimental PROTACs that was recently updated in 2023. This database lists the number of PROTACs, POI ligands, linkers, and E3 ligands currently published. It also has a PROTAC-Model technology to predict strong PROTAC ternary complexes as well as a E3 ligase filtering strategy, which can be incredibly beneficial in improving and validating new PROTACs for research<sup>565</sup>. With the continued extreme interest in TPD and the rapid development of the field over the last two decades, the realm of PROTAC technology can be projected to further expand and break into the clinical setting, ushering in a new era of therapeutic access for all.

# **References**

1. Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., & Walter, P. (2002). "Analyzing Protein Structure and Function." Molecular Biology of the Cell, 4th edition. New York: Garland Science. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK26820/.

2. Liu J, Ma, J., Liu, Y., Xia, J., Li, Y., Wang, Z.P., & Wei, W. PROTACs: A novel strategy for cancer therapy. Seminars in Cancer Biology. 2020;67(2):171-9. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.02.006.

3. Lai AC, & Crews, C.M. Induced protein degradation: an emerging drug discovery paradigm. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. 2017;16(2):101-14. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2016.211.

4. Burnett JC, & Rossi, J.J. RNA-based therapeutics: current progress and future prospects. Chemistry & Biology. 2012;19(1):60-71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2011.12.008.

5. Fang Y WS, Han S, Zhao Y, Yu C, Liu H, Li N. Targeted protein degrader development for cancer: advances, challenges, and opportunities. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 2023;44(5):303-17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2023.03.003.

6. Neklesa TK, Winkler, J.D., & Crews, C.M. Targeted protein degradation by PROTACs. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2017;174:138-44. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.027.

7. Li X, & Song, Y. Proteolysis-targeting chimera (PROTAC) for targeted protein degradation and cancer therapy. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2020;13:50. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00885-3.

8. Sakamoto KM, Kim KB, Kumagai A, Mercurio F, Crews CM, Deshaies RJ. Protacs: chimeric molecules that target proteins to the Skp1-Cullin-F box complex for ubiquitination and degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(15):8554-9. Epub 20010703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.141230798. PubMed PMID: 11438690; PMCID: PMC37474.

9. Schneekloth AR, Pucheault, M., Tae, H.S., & Crews, C.M. Targeted intracellular protein degradation induced by a small molecule: en route to chemical proteomics. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2008;18(22):5904-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2008.07.114.

10. Khan S, He, Y., Zhang, X., Yuan, Y., Pu, S., Kong, Q., Zheng, G., & Zhou, D. PROteolysis TArgeting Chimeras (PROTACs) as emerging anticancer therapeutics. . Oncogene. 2020;39(26):4909-25. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-020-1336-y.

11. Cooper GM. "Protein Degradation.". Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; 2000. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK9957/.

12. Glickman MH, & Ciechanover, A. . The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. Physiological Reviews. 2002;82(2):373-428. doi: https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00027.2001.

13. Nandi D, Tahiliani, P., Kumar, A., & Chandu, D. The ubiquitin-proteasome system. Journal of Biosciences. 2006;31:137-55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02705243.

14. Suresh B, Lee, J., Kim, K.S., & Ramakrishna, S. The importance of ubiquitination and deubiquitination in cellular reprogramming. Stem Cells International. 2016;2016:6705927. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6705927.

15. Grigoreva TA, Tribulovich, V.G., Garabadzhiu, A.V., Melino, G., & Barlev, N.A. . The 26S proteasome is a multifaceted target for anti-cancer therapies. . Oncogtarget. 2015;6:24733-49. doi: https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4619.

16. Park J, Cho, J., & Song, E.J. . Ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) as a target for anticancer treatment. . Archives of Pharmacal Research. 2020;43:1144-61. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-020-01281-8.

17. Fhu CW, & Ali, A. Dysregulation of the ubiquitin proteasome system in human malignancies: a window for therapeutic intervention. Cancers. 2021;13(7):1513. doi: https://doi.org/10.2390/cancers12071513

https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13071513.

18. Li X, Pu, W., Zheng, Q., Ai, M., Chen, S., & Peng, Y. . Proteolysis-targeting chimeras (PROTACs) in cancer therapy. Molecular Cancer. 2022;21(1):99. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-021-01434-3.

19. Alabi SB, & Crews, C.M. . Major advances in targeted protein degradation: PROTACs, LYTACs, and MADTACs. Journal of Biological Chemistry Reviews. 2021;296:100647. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100647.

20. Madan J, Ahuja, V.K., Dua, K., Samajdar, S., Ramchandra, M., & Giri, S. PROTACs: current trends in protein degradation by proteolysis-targeting chimeras. BioDrugs. 2022;36:609-23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40259-022-00551-9.

21. Bondeson DP, Mares, A., Smith, I.E.D., Ko, E., Campos, S., Miah, A.H., Mulholland, K.E., Routly, N., Buckley, D.L., Gustafson, J.L., Zinn, N., Grandi, P., Shimamura, S., Bergamini, G., Faelth-Savitski, M., Bantscheff, M., Cox, C., Gordon, D.A., Willard, R.R., Flanagan, J.J., Casillas, L.N., Votta, B.J., den Besten, W., Famm, K., Carter, P.S., Harling, J.D., Churcher, I., & Crews, C.M. . Catalytic in vivo protein knockdown by small-molecule PROTACs. Nature Chemical Biology. 2015;11:611-7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1858.

22. Gadd MS, Testa, A., Lucas, X., Chan, K.H., Chen, W., Lamont, D.J., Zengerle, M., & Ciulli, A. Structural basis of PROTAC cooperative recognition for selective protein degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2017;13(5):514-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2329.

23. Jin J, Wu, Y., Chen, J., Shen, Y., Zhang, L., Zhang, H., Chen, L., Yuan, H., Chen, H., Zhang, W., & Luan, X. . The peptide PROTAC modality: a novel strategy for targeted protein ubiquitination. Theranostics. 2020;10(22):10141-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.46985.

24. Sakamoto KM, Kim, K.B., Verma, R., Ransick, A., Stein, B., Crews, C.M., & Deshaies, R.J. Development of protacs to target cancer-promoting proteins for ubiquitination and degradation. Molecular and Cellular Proteomics. 2003;2(12):1350-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.T300009-MCP200.

25. Hines J, Gough, J.D., Corson, T.W., & Crews, C.M. . Posttranslational protein knockdown coupled to receptor tyrosine kinase activation with phosphoPROTACs. The Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013;110(22):8942-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217206110.

26. Gu S, Cui, D., Chen, X., Xiong, X., & Zhao, Y. . PROTACs: an emerging targeting technique for protein degradation in drug discovery. Bioessays. 2018;40(4):e1700247. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201700247.

27. Copolovici DM, Langel, K., Eriste, E., & Langel, Ü. . Cell-penetrating peptides: design, synthesis, and applications. AMC Nano. 2014;8(3):1972-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/nn4057269.

28. Guidotti G, Brambilla, L., & Rossi, D. Cell-penetrating peptides: from basic research to clinics. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 2017;38(4):406-24. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2017.01.003.

29. He Y, Li, F., & Huang, Y. . Chapter six – smart cell-penetrating peptide-based techniques for intracellular delivery of therapeutic macromolecules. Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology. 2018;112:183-220. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.apcsb.2018.01.004.

30. Montrose K, & Krissansen, G.W. . Design of a PROTAC that antagonizes and destroys the cancerforming x-protein of the hepatitis b virus. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2014;453(4):735-40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.10.006. 31. Henning RK, Varghese, J.O., Das, S., Nag, A., Tang, G., Tang, K., Sutherland, A.M., & Heath, J.R. . Degradation of akt using protein-catalyzed capture agents. Journal of Peptide Science. 2016;22(4):196-200. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/psc.2858.

32. Chu TT, Gao, N., Li, Q.Q., Chen, P.G., Yang, X.F., Chen, Y.X., Zhao, Y.F., & Li, Y.M. . Specific knockdown of endogenous tau-protein by peptide-directed ubiquitin-proteasome degradation. Cell Chemistry Biology. 2016;23(4):453-61. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2016.02.016.

Jiang Y, Deng, Q., Zhao, H., Xie, M., Chen, L., Yin, F., Qin, X., Zheng, W., Zhao, Y., & Li, Zigang.
 Development of stabilized peptide-based PROTACs against estrogen receptor α. ACS Chemical Biology.
 2018;13(3):628-35. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.7b00985.

34. Lu M, Liu, T., Jiao, Q., Ji, J., Tao, M., Liu, Y., You, Q., & Jiang, Z. Discovery of a keap1-dependent peptide PROTAC to knockdown tau by ubiquitination-proteasome degradation pathway. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;146:251-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.01.063.

35. Dai Y, Yue, N., Gong, J., Liu, C., Li, Q., Zhou, J., Huang, W., & Qian, H. Development of cellpermeable peptide-based PROTACs targeting estrogen receptor α. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;187:111967. doi: doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111967.

36. Ma D, Zou, Y., Chu, Y., Liu, Z., Liu, G., Chu, J., Li, M., Wang, J., Sun, S.Y., & Chang, Z. A cellpermeable peptide-based PROTAC against the oncoprotein crept proficiently inhibits pancreatic cancer. Theranostics. 2020;10(8):3708-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.41677.

37. Liao H, Li, X., Zhao, L., Wang, Y., Wang, X., Wu, Y., Zhou, X., Fu, W., Liu, L., Hu, H.G., & Chen, Y.G. . A PROTAC peptide includes durable β-catenin degradation and suppresses wnt-dependent intestinal cancer. Cell Discovery. 2020;6:35. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-020-0171-1.

38. Wang K, Dai, X., Yu, A., Feng, C., Liu, K., & Huang, L. . Peptide-based PROTAC degrader of foxm1 suppresses cancer and decreases glut1 and pd-l1 expression. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research. 2022;41:289. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-022-02483-2.

39. Ma B, Fan, Y., Zhang, D., Wei, Y., Jian, Y., Liu, D., Wang, Z., Gao, Y., Ma, J., Chen, Y., Xu, S., & Li, L. De novo design of an androgen receptor DNA binding domain-targeted peptide PROTAC for prostate cancer therapy. Advanced Science. 2022;9(28):2198-3844. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202201859.

40. Oren M. Regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1999;274(51):36031-4. doi: https://oi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.51.36031.

41. Blagosklonny MV. P53: an ubiquitous target of anticancer drugs. International Journal of Cancer. 2002;98(2):161-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.10158.

42. Muller PA, & Vousden, K.H. . p53 mutations in cancer. Nature Cell Biology. 2013;15(1):2-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2641.

43. Levine AJ. The many faces of p53: something for everyone. Journal of Molecular Cell Biology. 2019;11(7):524-30. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjz026.

44. Marei HE, Althani, A., Afifi, N., Hasan, A., Caceci, T., Pozzoli, G., Morrione, A., Giordano, A., & Cenciarelli, C. . p53 signaling in cancer progression and therapy. Cancer Cell International. 2021;21(1):703. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-021-02396-8.

45. Karakostis K, & Fåhraeus, R. . Shaping the regulation of the p53 mRNA tumour suppressor: the co-evolution of genetic signatures. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):915. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-6118-y.

46. Han X, Wei, W., & Sun, Y. . PROTAC degraders with ligands recruiting mdm2 e3 ubiquitin ligase: an updated perspective. Acta Materialia. 2022;1(2):244-59. doi: https://doi.org/10.15212/amm-2022-0010.

47. Chao CC. Mechanisms of p53 degradation. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2015;438:139-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2014.08.015.

48. Shangary, S, & Wang, S. (2008). Targeting the MDM2-p53 interaction for cancer therapy. Clinical Cancer Research, 14(17), 5318-5324. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5136
49. Hu J, Cao, J., Topatana, W., Juengpanich, S., Li, S., Zhang, B., Shen, J., Cai, L., Cai, X., & Chen, M. Targeting mutant p53 for cancer therapy: direct and indirect strategies. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2021;14(1):157. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01169-0.

50. Poyurovsky MV, Priest, C., Kentsis, A., Borden, K.L., Pan, Z.Q., Pavletich, N., & Prives, C. . The mdm2 ring domain c-terminus is required for supramolecular assembly and ubiquitin ligase activity. The EMBO Journal. 2007;26(1):90-101. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601465.

51. Ding Q, Zhang, Z., Liu, J.J., Jiang, N., Zhang, J., Ross, T.M., Chu, X.J., Bartkovitz, D., Podlaski, F., Janson, C., Tovar, C., Filipovic, Z.M., Higgins, B., Glenn, K., Packman, K., Vassilev, L.T., & Graves, B. Discovery of rg7388, a potent and selective p53-mdm2 inhibitor in clinical development. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2013;56(14):5979-83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jm400487c.

52. Fang Y, Liao, G., & Yu, B. Small-molecule mdm2/x inhibitors and PROTAC degraders for cancer therapy: advances and perspectives. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2020;10(7):1253-78. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.01.003.

53. Hines J, Lartigue, S., Dong, H., Qian, Y., & Crews, C.M. MDM2-recruiting PROTAC offers superior, synergistic antiproliferative activity via simultaneous degradation of BRD4 and stabilization of p53. Cancer Research. 2019;79(1):251-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2918.

54. Zhao Q, Lan, T., Su, S., & Rao, Y. . Induction of apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells by a parp1-targeting PROTAC small molecule. Chemical Communications. 2019;55(3):369-72. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c8cc07813k.

55. Zhang X, Xu, F., Tong, L., Zhang, T., Xie, H., Lu, X., Ren, X., & Ding, K. Design and synthesis of selective degraders of egfrl858r/t790m mutant. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;192:112199. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112199.

56. Li Y, Yang, J., Aguilar, A., McEachern, D., Przybranowski, S., Liu, L., Yang, C.Y., Wang, M., Han, X., & Wang, S. Discovery of md-224 as a first-in-class, highly potent, and efficacious proteolysis targeting chimera murine double minute 2 degrader capable of achieving complete and durable tumor regression. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(2):448-66. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b00909.

57. Yang J, Li, Y., Aguilar, A., Liu, Z., Yang, C.Y., & Wang, S. Simple structural modifications converting a bona fide mdm2 PROTAC degrader into a molecular glue molecule: a cautionary tale in the design of PROTAC degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(21):9471-87. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00846.

58. Deveraux QL, & Reed, J.C. IAP family proteins--suppressors of apoptosis. Genes & Development. 1999;13(3):239-52. doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.13.3.239.

59. Salvesen GS, & Duckett, C.S. . IAP proteins: blocking the road to death's door. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2002;3(6):401-10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm830.

60. LaCasse EC, Mahoney, D.J., Cheung, H.H., Plenchette, S., Baird, S., & Korneluk, R.G. IAP-targeted therapies for cancer. Oncogene. 2008;27(48):6252-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.302.

61. Gyrd-Hansen M, & Meier, P. . IAPs: from caspase inhibitors to modulators of nf-kappab,

inflammation and cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2010;10(8):561-74. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2889.

62. Rothe M, Pan, M.G., Henzel, W.J., Ayres, T.M., & Goeddel, D.V. . The tnfr2-traf signaling complex contains two novel proteins related to baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. Cell. 1995;83(7):1243-52. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90149-3.

63. Varfolomeev E, Goncharov, T., Fedorova, A.V., Dynek, J.N., Zobel, K., Deshayes, K., Fairbrother, W.J., & Vucic, D. . c-iap1 and c-iap2 are critical mediators of tumor necrosis factor alpha (tnfalpha)induced nf-kappab activation. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2008;283(36):24295-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C800128200. 64. Obexer P, & Ausserlechner, M.J. X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein - a critical death resistance regulator and therapeutic target for personalized cancer therapy. Frontiers in Oncology. 2014;4:197. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00197.

65. Silke J, & Meier, P. . Inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) proteins-modulators of cell death and inflammation. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2013;5(2):a008730. doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008730.

66. Wang C, Zhang, Y., Shi, L., Yang, S., Chang, J., Zhong, Y., Li, Q., & Xing, D. Recent advances in iapbased PROTACs (SNIPERs) as potential therapeutic agents. Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;37(1):1437-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/14756366.2022.2074414.

67. Itoh Y, Ishikawa, M., Naito, M., & Hashimoto, Y. . Protein knockdown using methyl bestatin-ligand hybrid molecules: design and synthesis of inducers of ubiquitination-mediated degradation of cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 2010;132(16):5820-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/ja100691p.

68. Itoh Y, Ishikawa, M., Kitaguchi, R., Sato, S., Naito, M., & Hashimoto, Y. . Development of target protein-selective degradation inducer for protein knockdown. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry. 2011;19(10):3229-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2011.03.057.

69. Ma Z, Ji, Y., Yu, Y., & Liang, D. . Specific non-genetic iap-based protein erasers (SNIPERs) as a potential therapeutic strategy. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;216:113247. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113247.

70. Tomoshige S, Nomura, S., Ohgane, K., Hashimoto, Y., & Ishikawa, M. . Discovery of small molecules that induce the degradation of huntingtin. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2017;56(38):11530-3. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201706529.

71. Ishikawa M, Tomoshige, S., Demizu, Y., & Naito, M. Selective degradation of target proteins by chimeric small-molecular drugs, PROTACs and SNIPERs. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2020;13(4):74. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ph13040074.

72. Tanimoto K, Makino, Y., Pereira, T., & Poellinger, L. . Mechanism of regulation of the hypoxiainducible factor-1 alpha by the von hippel-lindau tumor suppressor protein. The EMBO Journal. 2000;19(16):4298-309. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.16.4298.

73. Frost J, Rocha, S., & Ciulli, A. Von hippel-lindau (vhl) small-molecule inhibitor binding increases stability and intracellular levels of vhl protein. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2021;297(2):100910. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100910.

74. Nguyen HC, Wang, W., & Xiong, Y. Cullin-ring e3 ubiquitin ligases: bridges to destruction. Subcellular Biochemistry. 2017;83:323-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46503-6\_12.

75. Lee JW, Bae, S.H., Jeong, J.W., Kim, S.H., & Kim, K.W. . Hypoxia-inducible factor (hif-1)alpha: its protein stability and biological functions. Experimental & Molecular Medicine. 2004;36(1):1-12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2004.1.

76. Garg N, Kumar, P., Gadhave, K., & Giri, R. . The dark proteome of cancer: intrinsic disorderedness and functionality of hif-1α along with its interacting proteins. Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science. 2019;166:371-403. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2019.05.006.

77. Buckley DL, Van Molle, I., Gareiss, P.C., Tae, H.S., Michel, J., Noblin, D.J., Jorgensen, W.L., Ciulli, A., & Crews, C.M. . Targeting the von hippel-lindau e3 ubiquitin ligase using small molecules to disrupt the vhl/hif-1α interaction. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 2012;134(10):4465-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/ja209924v.

78. Buckley DL, Gustafson, J.L., Van Molle, I., Roth, A.G., Tae, H.S., Gareiss, P.C., Jorgensen, W.L., Ciulli, A., & Crews, C.M. . Small-molecule inhibitors of the interaction between the e3 ligase vhl and hif1α. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2012;51(46):11463-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201206231.

79. Van Molle I, Thomann, A., Buckley, D.L., So, E.C., Lang, S., Crews, C.M., & Ciulli, A. . Dissecting fragment-based lead discovery at the von hippel-lindau protein:hypoxia inducible factor  $1\alpha$  protein-protein interface. Chemistry & Biology. 2013;19(10):1300-12. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.08.015.

80. An S, & Fu, L. Small-molecule PROTACs: an emerging and promising approach for the development of targeted therapy drugs. eBioMedicine. 2018;36:553-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.09.005.

Lai AC, Toure, M., Hellerschmied, D., Salami, J., Jaime-Figueroa, S., Ko, E., Hines, J., & Crews, C.M.
Modular PROTAC design for the degradation of oncogenic bcr-abl. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2016;55(2):807-10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201507634.

82. Gechijian LN, Buckley, D.L., Lawlor, M.A., Reyes, J.M., Paulk, J., Ott, C.J., Winter, G.E., Erb, M.A., Scott, T.G., Xu, M., Seo, H.S., Dhe-Paganon, S., Kwiatkowski, N.P., Perry, J.A., Qi, J., Gray, N.S., & Bradner, J.E. Functional trim24 degrader via conjugation of ineffectual bromodomain and vhl ligands. Nature Chemical Biology. 2018;14(4):405-12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-018-0010-y.

83. Kang CH, Lee, D.H., Lee, C.O., Du Ha, J., Park, C.H., & Hwang, J.Y. . Induced protein degradation of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (alk) by proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications. 2018;505(2):542-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.09.169.

84. Raina K, Lu, J., Qian, Y., Altieri, M., Gordon, D., Rossi, A.M.K., Wang, J., Chen, X., Dong, H., Siu, K., Winkler, J.D., Crew, A.P., Crews, C.M., & Coleman, K.G. . PROTAC-induced bet protein degradation as a therapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2016;113(26):7124-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521738113.

85. Diehl CJ, & Ciulli, A. . Discovery of small molecule ligands for the von Hippel-Lindau (vhl) e3 ligase and their use as inhibitors and PROTAC degraders. Chemical Society Review. 2022;51(19):8216-57. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d2cs00387b.

86. Shi Q, & Chen, L. . Cereblon: a protein crucial to the multiple functions of immunomodulatory drugs as well as cell metabolism and disease generation. Journal of Immunology Research. 2017;2017:9130608. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9130608.

87. Lian Q, Gao, Y., Li, Q., He, X., Jiang, X., Pu, Z., & Xu, G. Cereblon promotes the ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of interleukin enhancer-binding factor 2. The Protein Journal. 2020;39(5):411-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10930-020-09918-9.

88. Nguyen TV, Lee, J.E., Sweredoski, M.J., Yang, S.J., Jeon, S.J., Harrison, J.S., Yim, J.H., Lee, S.G., Handa, H., Kuhlman, B., Jeong, J.S., Reitsma, J.M., Park, C.S., Hess, S., & Deshaies, R.J. . Glutamine triggers acetylation-dependent degradation of glutamine synthetase via the thalidomide receptor cereblon. Molecular Cell. 2016;61(6):809-20. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.02.032.

89. Bjorklund CC, Lu, L., Kang, J., Hagner, P.R., Havens, C.G., Amatangelo, M., Wang, M., Ren, Y., Couto, S., Breider, M., Ning, Y., Gandhi, A.K., Daniel, T.O., Chopra, R., Klippel, A., & Thakurta, A.G. . Rate of crl4(crbn) substrate ikaros and aiolos degradation underlies differential activity of lenalidomide and pomalidomide in multiple myeloma cells by regulation of c-myc and irf4. Blood Cancer Journal. 2016;5(10):e354. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2015.66.

90. Jo S, Lee, K.H., Song, S., Jung, Y.K., & Park, C.S. . Identification and functional characterization of cereblon as a binding protein for large-conductance calcium-activated potassium channel in rat brain. Journal of Neurochemistry. 2005;94(5):1212-24. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03344.x.

91. Lee KM, Jo, S., Kim, H., Lee, J., & Park, C.S. . Functional modulation of amp-activated protein kinase by cereblon. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Molecular Cell Research. 2011;1813(3):448-55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.005.

92. Liu J, Ye, J., Zou, X., Xu, Z., Feng, Y., Zou, X., Chen, Z., Li, Y., & Cang, Y. . CRL4A(crbn) e3 ubiquitin ligase restricts bk channel activity and prevents epileptogenesis. Nature Communications. 2014;5:3924. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4924.

93. Kim HK, Ko, T.H., Nyamaa, B., Lee, S.R., Kim, N., Ko, K.S., Rhee, B.D., Park, C.S., Nilius, B., & Han, J. . Cereblon in health and disease. Pflügers Archiv – European Journal of Physiology. 2016;468(8):1299-309. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-016-1854-1.

94. Choi TY, Lee, S.H., Kim, Y.J., Bae, J.R., Lee, K.M., Jo, Y., Kim, S.J., Lee, A.R., Choi, S., Choi, L.M., Bang, S., Song, M.R., Chung, J., Lee, K.J., Kim, S.H., Park, C.S., & Choi, S.Y. . Cereblon maintains synaptic and cognitive function by regulating bk channel. . The Journal of Neuroscience. 2018;38(14):3571-83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2081-17.2018.

95. Beauloye C, Bertrand, L., Horman, S., & Hue, L. . AMPK activation, a preventive therapeutic target in the transition from cardiac injury to heart failure. Cardiovascular Research. 2011;90(2):224-33. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvr034.

96. Shin HJ, Lee, K.J., & Gil, M. . Multiomic analysis of cereblon expression and its prognostic value in kidney renal clear cell carcinoma, lung adenocarcinoma, and skin cutaneous melanoma. Journal of Personalized Medicine. 2021;11(4):263. doi: https://doi.org.10.3390/jpm11040263.

97. Ito T, Ando, H., Suzuki, T., Ogura, T., Hotta, K., Imamura, Y., Yamaguchi, Y., & Handa, H. . Identification of a primary target of thalidomide teratogenicity. Science. 2010;327(5971):1345-50. doi: https://doi.org10.1126/science.1177319.

98. Lopez-Girona A, Mendy, D., Ito, T., Miller, K., Gandhi, A.K., Kang, J., Karasawa, S., Carmel, G., Jackson, P., Abbasian, M., Mahmoudi, A., Cathers, B., Rychak, E., Gaidarova, S., Chen, R., Schafer, P.H., Handa, H., Daniel, T.O., Evans, J.F., & Chopra, R. . Cereblon is a direct protein target for immunomodulatory and antiproliferative activities of lenalidomide and pomalidomide. Leukemia. 2012;26(11):2326-35. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.119.

99. Winter GE, Buckley, D.L., Paulk, J., Roberts, J.M., Souza, A., Dhe-Paganon, S., & Bradner, J.E. . Selective target protein degradation via phthalimide conjugation. Science. 2015;348(6241):1376-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab1433.

100. Lu J, Qian, Y., Altieri, M., Dong, H., Wang, J., Raina, K., Hines, J., Winkler, J.D., Crew, A.P., Coleman, K., & Crews, C.M. . Hijacking the e3 ubiquitin ligase cereblon to efficiently target brd4. Chemistry & Biology. 2015;22(6):755-63. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.05.009.

101. Zhang C, Han, X.R., Yang, X., Jiang, B., Liu, J., Xiong, Y., & Jin, J. . Proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (alk). European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;151:304-14. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.03.071.

102. Buhimschi AD, Armstrong, H.A., Toure, M., Jaime-Figueroa, S., Chen, T.L., Lehman, A.M., Woyach, J.A., Johnson, A.J., Byrd, J.C., & Crews, C.M. . Targeting the c481s ibrutinib-resistance mutation in bruton's tyrosine kinase using PROTAC-mediated degradation. Biochemistry. 2018;57(26):3564-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.8b00391.

103. Jaime-Figueroa S, Buhimschi, A.D., Toure, M., Hines, J., & Crews, C.M. . Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) as a btk degraders with improved pharmacokinetic properties. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;30(3):126877. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2019.126877.

104. Olson CM, Jiang, B., Erb, M.A., Liang, Y., Doctor, Z.M., Zhang, Z., Zhang, T., Kwiatkowski, N., Boukhali, M., Green, J.L., Haas, W., Nomanbhoy, T., Fischer, E.S., Young, R.A., Bradner, J.E., Winter, G.E., & Gray, N.S. . Pharmacological perturbation of cdk9 using selective cdk9 inhibition or degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2018;14(2):163-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2538.

105. Su S, Yang, Z., Gao, H., Yang, H., Zhu, S., An, Z., Wang, J., Li, Q., Chandarlapaty, S., Deng, H., Wu, W., & Rao, Y. . Potent and preferential degradation of ckd6 via proteolysis targeting chimera degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(16):7575-82. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00871.

106. Brand M, Jiang, B., Bauer, S., Donovan, K.A., Liang, Y., Wang, E.S., Nowak, R.P., Yuan, J.C., Zhang, T., Kwiatkowski, N., Müller, A.C., Fischer, E.S., Gray, N.S., & Winter, G.E. Homolog-selective degradation as

a strategy to probe the function of cdk6 in aml. Cell Chemical Biology. 2019;26(2):300-6.e9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.11.006.

107. Schiedel M, Herp, D., Hammelmann, S., Swyter, S., Lehotzky, A., Robaa, D., Oláh, J., Ovádi, J., Sippl, W., & Jung, M. . Chemically induced degradation of sirtuin 2 (Sirt2) by a proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) based on sirtuin rearranging ligands (sirreals). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(2):482-91. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01872.

108. Yang H, Lv, W., He, M., Deng, H., Li, H., Wu, W., & Rao, Y. Plasticity in designing PROTACs for selective and potent degradation of hdac6. Chemical Communications. 2019;55(98):14848-51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c9cc08509b.

109. Bai L, Zhou, H., Xu, R., Zhao, Y., Chinnaswamy, K., McEachern, D., Chen, J., Yang, C.Y., Liu, Z., Wang, M., Liu, L., Jiang, H., Wen, B., Kumar, P., Meagher, J.L., Sun, D., Stuckey, J.A., & Wang, S. . A potent and selective small-molecule degrader of stat3 achieves complete tumor regression in vivo. Cancer Cell. 2019;36(5):498-511.e17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.10.002.

110. Zhou H, Bai, L., Xu, R., Zhao, Y., Chen, J., McEachern, D., Chinnaswamy, K., Wen, B., Dai, L., Kumar, P., Yang, C.Y., Liu, Z., Wang, M., Liu, L., Meagher, J.L., Yi, H., Sun, D., Stuckey, J.A., & Wang, S. . Structurebased discovery of sd-36 as a potent, selective, and efficacious PROTAC degrader of stat3 protein. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(24):11280-300. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01530.

111. Lin M, & Guo, J.T. . New insights into protein-DNA binding specificity from hydrogen bond based comparative study. Nucleic Acids Research. 2019;47(21):11103-13. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz963.

112. Aerts S. Computational strategies for the genome-wide identification of cis-regulatory elements and transcriptional targets. Current Topics in Developmental Biology. 2012;98:121-45. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386499-4.00005-7.

113. Elsevier. Transcription factors. Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. 2014. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.05466-0.

114. Gebauer F, Schwarzl, T., Valcárcel, J., & Hentze, M.W. . RNA-binding proteins in human genetic disease. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2021;22(3):185-98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-020-00302-y. 115. Shiroma Y, Takahashi, R.U., Yamamoto, Y., & Tahara, H. Targeting DNA binding proteins for cancer therapy. Cancer Science. 2020;111(4):1058-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.14355.

Qin H, Ni, H., Liu, Y., Yuan, Y., Xi, T., Li, X., & Zheng, L. RNA-binding proteins in tumor progression.
Journal of Hematology and Oncology. 2020;13(1):90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00927-w.
Kamran MZ, Patil, P., & Gude, R.P. . Role of stat3 in cancer metastasis and translational advances.
BioMed Research International. 2013;2013:421821. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/421821.

118. Kang D, Lee, Y., & Lee, J.S. . RNA-binding proteins in cancer: functional and therapeutic perspectives. Cancers. 2020;12(9):2699. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12092699.

119. Cen Y, Chen, L., Liu, Z., Lin, Q., Fang, X., Yao, H., & Gong, C. . Novel roles of RNA-binding proteins in drug resistance of breast cancer: from molecular biology to targeting therapeutics. Cell Death Discovery. 2023;9:52. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-023-01352-x.

120. Ghidini A, Cléry, A., Halloy, F., Allain, F.H.T., & Hall, J. . RNA-PROTACs: degraders of RNA-binding proteins. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(6):3163-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202012330.

121. Samarasinghe KTG, Jaime-Figueroa, S., Burgess, M., Nalawansha, D.A., Dai, K., Hu, Z., Bebenek, A., Holley, S.A., & Crews, C.M. . Targeted degradation of transcription factors by TRAFTACs: transcription factor targeting chimeras. Cell Chemistry Biology. 2021;28(5):648-61.e5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2021.03.011.

122. Zhang L, Li, L., Wang, X., Liu, H., Zhang, Y., Xie, T., Zhang, H., Li, X., Peng, T., Sun, X., Dai, J., Liu, J., Wu, W., Ye, M., & Tan, W. . Development of a novel PROTAC using the nucleic acid aptamer as a targeting

ligand for tumor selective degradation of nucleolin. Molecular Therapy - Nucleic Acids. 2022;30:66-79. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2022.09.008.

123. Chen M, Zhou, P., Kong, Y., Li, J., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., Ran, J., Zhou, J., Chen, Y., & Xie, S. . Inducible degradation of oncogenic nucleolin using an aptamer-based PROTAC. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2023;66(2):1339-48. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.2c01557.

124. He S, Gao, F., Ma, J., Ma, H., Dong, G., & Sheng, C. . Aptamer-PROTAC conjugates (apcs) for tumor-specific targeting in breast cancer. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(43):23299-305. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202107347.

125. Cancer stat facts: common cancer sites SEER. Available from:

https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/common.html

126. Hanahan D. Hallmarks of cancer: new dimensions. Cancer Discovery. 2022;12(1):31-46. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059.

127. Nishida N, Yano, H., Nishida, T., Kamura, T., & Kojiro, M. . Angiogenesis in cancer. Vascular Health and Risk Management. 2006;2(3):213-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.2147/vhrm.2006.2.3.213.

128. Rajabi M, & Mousa, S.A. . The role of angiogenesis in cancer treatment. Biomedicines. 2017;5(2):34. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines5020034.

129. Lugano R, Ramachandran, M., & Dimberg, A. Tumor angiogenesis: causes, consequences, challenges and opportunities. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2020;77(9):1745-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03351-7.

130. Zhang D, Baek, S.H., Ho, A., & Kim, K. . Degradation of target protein in living cells by smallmolecule proteolysis inducer. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2004;14(3):645-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2003.11.042.

131. Bargagna-Mohan P, Baek, S.H., Lee, H., Kim, K., & Mohan, R. . Use of PROTACS as molecular probes of angiogenesis. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2005;15(11):2724-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2005.04.008.

132. Li W, Gao, C., Zhao, L., Yuan, Z., Chen, Y., & Jiang, Y. . Phthalimide conjugations for the degradation of oncogenic pi3k. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;151:237-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.03.066.

133. You I, Erickson, E.C., Donovan, K.A., Eleuteri, N.A., Fischer, E.S., Gray, N.S., & Toker, A. . Discovery of an akt degrader with prolonged inhibition of downstream signaling. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(1):66-73.e7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.11.014.

134. Kaur T, Menon, A., & Garner, A.L. . Synthesis of 7-benzylguanosine cap-analogue conjugates for eif4e targeted degradation. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;166:339-50. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.01.080.

135. Tovell H, Testa, A., Zhou, H., Shpiro, N., Crafter, C., Ciulli, A., & Alessi, D.R. Design and characterization of SGK3-PROTAC1, an isoform specific sgk3 kinase PROTAC degrader. ACS Chemical Biology. 2019;14(9):2024-34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.9b00505.

136. Shan Y, Si, R., Wang, J., Zhang, Q., Li, J., Ma, Y., & Zhang, J. . Discovery of novel anti-angiogenesis agents. part 11: development of PROTACs based on active molecules with potency of promoting vascular normalization. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;205:112654. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112654.

137. Vannam R, Sayilgan, J., Ojeda, S., Karakyriakou, B., Hu, E., Kreuzer, J., Morris, R., Herrera Lopez, X.I., Rai, S., Haas, W., Lawrence, M., & Ott, C.J. . Targeted degradation of the enhancer lysine acetyltransferases cbp and p300. Cell Chemical Biology. 2021;28(4):503-14.e12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.12.004.

138. Fischer PD, Papadopoulos, E., Dempersmier, J.M., Wang, Z.F., Nowak, R.P., Donovan, K.A., Kalabathula, J., Gorgulla, C., Junghanns, P.P.M., Kabha, E., Dimitrakakis, N., Petrov, O.I., Mitsiades, C., Ducho, C., Gelev, V., Fischer, E.S., Wagner, G., & Arthanari, H. . A biphenyl inhibitor of eif4e targeting an

internal binding site enables the design of cell-permeable PROTAC-degraders. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;219:113435. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113435.

Yu X, Xu, J., Xie, L., Wang, L., Shen, Y., Cahuzac, K.M., Chen, X., Liu, J., Parsons, R.E., & Jin, J. .
Design, synthesis, and evaluation of potent, selective, and bioavailable akt kinase degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(24):18054-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c01476.
Si R, Hai, P., Zheng, Y., Liu, N., Wang, J., Zhang, Q., Li, Y., Pan, X., & Zhang, J. . Discovery of novel PROTACs based on multi-targeted angiogenesis inhibitors. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2023;87:129275. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2023.129275.

141. Rubanyi GM, Johns, A., & Kauser, K. . Effect of estrogen on endothelial function and angiogenesis. Vascular Pharmacology. 2002;38(2):89-98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-3623(02)00131-3.

142. Feng ZY, Huang, T.L., Li, X.R., Chen, L., Deng, S., Xu, S.R., Ma, K.T., Li, L., & Si, J.Q. 17β-estradiol promotes angiogenesis of stria vascular in cochlea of c57bl/6j mice. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2021;913:174642. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2021.174642.

143. Karar J, & Maity, A. . PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in angiogenesis. Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience. 2011;4:51. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2011.00051.

144. Zhang Z, Yao, L., Yang, J., Wang, Z., & Du, G. . PI3K/Akt and hif 1 signaling pathway in hypoxia ischemia (review). Molecular Medicine Reports. 2018;18(4):3547-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2018.9375.

145. Abhinand CS, Raju, R., Soumya, S.J., Arya, P.S., & Sudhakaran, P.R. . VEGF-A/VEGFR2 signaling network in endothelial cells relevant to angiogenesis. Journal of Cell Communication and Signalling. 2016;10(4):347-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12079-016-0352-8.

146. Apte RS, Chen, D.S., & Ferrara, N. . VEGF in signaling and disease: beyond discovery and development. Cell. 2019;176(6):1248-364. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.021.

147. Wang X, Bove, A.M., Simone, G., & Ma, B. . Molecular bases of vegfr-2-mediated physiological function and pathological role. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2020;8:599281. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.599281.

148. Wong RS. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research. 2011;30(1):87. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-30-87.

149. Mohammad RM, Muqbil, I., Lowe, L., Yedjou, C., Hsu, H.Y., Lin, L.T., Siegelin, M.D., Fimognari, C., Kumar, N.B., Dou, Q.P., Yang, H., Samadi, A.K., Russo, G.L., Spagnuolo, C., Ray, S.K., Chakrabarti, M., Morre, J.D., Coley, H.M., Honoki, K., Fujii, H., Georgakilas, A.G., Amedei, A., Niccolai, E., Amin, A., Ashraf, S.S., Helferich, W.G., Yang, X., Boosani, C.S., Guha, G., Bhakta, D., Ciriolo, M.R., Aquilano, K., Chen, S., Mohammed, S.I., Keith, W.N., Bilsland, A., Halicka, D., Nowsheen, S., & Azmi, A.S. . Broad targeting of resistance to apoptosis in cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology. 2015;35(Suppl 0):S78-S103. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.001.

150. Letai A. Apoptosis and cancer. Annual Review of Cancer Biology. 2017;1:275-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-050216-121933.

151. Pfeffer CM, & Singh, A.T.K. . Apoptosis: a target for anticancer therapy. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2018;19(2):448. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19020448.

152. Carneiro BA, & El-Deiry, W.S. . Targeting apoptosis in cancer therapy. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology. 2020;17(7):395-417. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-0341-y.

153. Itoh Y, Ishikawa, M., Kitaguchi, R., Okuhira, K., Naito, M., & Hashimoto, Y. . Double protein knockdown of ciap1 and crabp-II using a hybrid molecule consisting of atra and iaps antagonist. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2012;22(13):4453-7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2012.04.134.

154. Ohoka N, Okuhira, K., Ito, M., Nagai, K., Shibata, N., Hattori, T., Ujikawa, O., Shimokawa, K., Sano, O., Koyama, R., Fujita, H., Teratani, M., Matsumoto, H., Imaeda, Y., Nara, H., Cho, N., & Naito, M. . In vivo

knockdown of pathogenic proteins via specific and nongenetic inhibitor of apoptosis protein (iap)dependent protein erasers (SNIPERs). Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2017;292(11). doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.768853.

155. Papatzimas JW, Gorobets, E., Maity, R., Muniyat, M.I., MacCallum, J.L., Neri, P., Bahlis, N.J., & Derksen, D.J. . From inhibition to degradation: targeting the antiapoptotic protein myeloid cell leukemia 1 (mcl1). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 62(11), 5522-5540 2019;62(11):5522-40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00455.

156. Burslem GM, Schultz, A.R., Bondeson, D.P., Eide, C.A., Savage Stevens, S.L., Druker, B.J., & Crews, C.M. . Targeting bcr-abl1 in chronic myeloid leukemia by PROTAC-mediated targeted protein degradation. Cancer Research. 2019;79(18):4744-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-1236.

157. Wang B, Wu, S., Liu, J., Yang, K., Xie, H., & Tang, W. . Development of selective small molecule mdm2 degraders based on nutlin. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;176:476-91. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.05.046.

158. Wang Z, He, N., Guo, Z., Niu, C., Song, T., Guo, Y., Cao, K., Wang, A., Zhu, J., Zhang, X., & Zhang, Z. . Proteolysis targeting chimeras for the selective degradation of mcl-1/bcl-2 derived from nonselective target binding ligands. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(17):8152-63. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00919.

159. Zhao Q, Ren, C., Liu, L., Chen, J., Shao, Y., Sun, N., Sun, R., Kong, Y., Ding, X., Zhang, X., Xu, Y., Yang, B., Yin, Q., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. . Discovery of SIAIS178 as an effective bcr-abl degrader by recruiting von hippel-lindau (vhl) e3 ubiquitin ligase. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(20):9281-98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01264.

160. Khan S, Zhang, X., Lv, D., Zhang, Q., He, Y., Zhang, P., Liu, X., Thummuri, D., Yuan, Y., Wiegand, J.S., Pei, J., Zhang, W., Sharma, A., McCurdy, C.R., Kuruvilla, V.M., Baran, N., Ferrando, A.A., Kim, Y.M., Rogojina, A., Houghton, P.J., Huang, G., Hromas, R., Konopleva, M., Zheng, G., & Zhou, D. . A selective BCL-XL PROTAC degrader achieves safe and potent antitumor activity. Nature Medicine. 2019;25(12):1938-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0668-z.

161. Zhang X, Thummuri, D., He, Y., Liu, X., Zhang, P., Zhou, D., & Zheng, G. Utilizing PROTAC technology to address the on-target platelet toxicity associated with inhibition of bcl-xl. Chemical Communications. 2019;55(98):14765-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c9cc07217a.

162. Ohoka N, Tsuji, G., Shoda, T., Fujisato, T., Kurihara, M., Demizu, Y., & Naito, M. . Development of small molecule chimeras that recruit ahr e3 ligase to target proteins. ACS Chemical Biology. 2019;14(12):2822-32. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.9b00704.

163. Wang S, Han, L., Han, J., Li, P., Ding, Q., Zhang, Q.J., Liu, Z.P., Chen, C., & Yu, Y. Uncoupling of parp1 trapping and inhibition using selective parp1 degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2019;15(12):1223-31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0379-2.

164. Zhang X, Thummuri, D., Liu, X., Hu, W., Zhang, P., Khan, S., Yuan, Y., Zhou, D., & Zheng, G. . Discovery of PROTAC bcl-xl degraders as potent anticancer agents with low on-target platelet toxicity. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;192:112186. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ojmoch.2020.112186

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112186.

165. Smalley JP, Adams, G.E., Millard, C.J., Song, Y., Norris, J.K.S., Schwabe, J.W.R., Cowley, S.M., & Hodgkinson, J.T. . PROTAC-mediated degradation of class I histone deacetylase enzymes in corepressor complexes. Chemical Communications. 2020;56(32):4476-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cc01485k. 166. He Y, Zhang, X., Chang, J., Kim, H.N., Zhang, P., Wang, Y., Khan, S., Liu, X., Zhang, X., Lv, D., Song, L., Li, W., Thummuri, D., Yuan, Y., Wiegand, J.S., Ortiz, Y.T., Budamagunta, V., Elisseeff, J.H., Campisi, J., Almeida, M., Zheng, G., & Zhou, D. . Using proteolysis-targeting chimera technology to reduce navitoclax platelet toxicity and improve its senolytic activity. Nature Communications. 2020;11(1):1996. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15838-0.

167. Burslem GM, Bondeson, D.P., & Crews, C.M. . Scaffold hopping enables direct access to more potent PROTACs with in vivo activity. Chemical Communications. 2020;56(50):6890-2. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cc02201b.

168. Tong B, Spradlin, J.N., Novaes, L.F.T., Zhang, E., Hu, X., Moeller, M., Brittain, S.M., McGregor, L.M., McKenna, J.M., Tallarico, J.A., Schirle, M., Maimone, T.J., & Nomura, D.K. . A nimbolide-based kinase degrader preferentially degrades oncogenic bcr-abl. ACS Chemical Biology. 2020;15(7):1788-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.0c00348.

169. Zhang X, He, Y., Zhang, P., Budamagunta, V., Lv, D., Thummuri, D., Yang, Y., Pei, J., Yuan, Y., Zhou, D., & Zheng, G. . Discovery of iap-recruiting bcl-xl PROTACs as potent degraders across multiple cancer cell lines. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;199:112397. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112397.

170. Chung CW, Dai, H., Fernandez, E., Tinworth, C.P., Churcher, I., Cryan, J., Denyer, J., Harling, J.D., Konopacka, A., Queisser, M.A., Tame, C.J., Watt, G., Jiang, F., Qian, D., & Benowitz, A.B. . Structural insights into PROTAC-mediated degradation of bcl-xl. ACS Chemical Biology. 2020;15(9):2316-23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.0c00266.

171. Hong JY, Jing, H., Price, I.R., Cao, J., Bai, J.J., & Lin, H. . Simultaneous inhibition of sirt2 deacetylase and defatty-acylase activities via a PROTAC strategy. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(11):2305-11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00423.

172. Cao C, Yang, J., Chen, Y., Zhou, P., Wang, Y., Du, W., Zhao, L., & Chen, Y. . scovery of SK-575 as a highly potent and efficacious proteolysis-targeting chimera degrader of parp1 for treating cancers. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(19):11012-33. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00821.

173. Liu Y, Zhen, Y., Wang, G., Yang, G., Fu, L., Liu, B., & Ouyang, L. Designing an eef2k-targeting PROTAC small molecule that induces apoptosis in mda-mb-231 cells. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;204:112505. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112505.

174. Jiang L, Wang, Y., Li, Q., Tu, Z., Zhu, S., Tu, S., Zhang, Z., Ding, K., & Lu, X. . Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of bcr-abl PROTACs to overcome T315I mutation. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2021;11(5):1315-28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.11.009.

175. Zhang Z, Chang, X., Zhang, C., Zeng, S., Liang, M., Ma, Z., Wang, Z., Huang, W., & Shen, Z. . Identification of probe-quality degraders for poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (parp-1). Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;35(1):1606-15. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1080/14756366.2020.1804382.

176. Qi Z, Yang, G., Deng, T., Wang, J., Zhou, H., Popov, S.A., Shults, E.E., & Wang, C. Design and linkage optimization of ursane-thalidomide-based PROTACs and identification of their targeted-degradation properties to mdm2 protein. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2021;111:104901. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.104901.

177. Wang B, Liu, J., Tandon, I., Wu, S., Teng, P., Liao, J., & Tang, W. Development of mdm2 degraders based on ligands derived from ugi reactions: lessons and discoveries. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;219:113425. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113425.

178. Pal P, Thummuri, D., Lv, D., Liu, X., Zhang, P., Hu, W., Poddar, S.K., Hua, N., Khan, S., Yuan, Y., Zhang, X., Zhou, D., & Zheng, G. . Discovery of a novel bcl-xl PROTAC degrader with enhanced bcl-2 inhibition. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(19):14230-46. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00517.

179. Liu H, Ding, X., Liu, L., Mi, Q., Zhao, Q., Shao, Y., Ren, C., Chen, J., Kong, Y., Qiu, X., Elvassore, N., Yang, X., Yin, Q., & Jiang, B. . Discovery of novel bcr-abl PROTACs based on the cereblon e3 ligase design, synthesis, and biological evaluation. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;223:113645. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113645. 180. Lv D, Pal, P., Liu, X., Jia, Y., Thummuri, D., Zhang, P., Hu, W., Pei, J., Zhang, Q., Zhou, S., Khan, S., Zhang, X., Hua, N., Yang, Q., Arango, S., Zhang, W., Nayak, D., Olsen, S.K., Weintraub, S.T., Hromas, R., Konopleva, M., Yuan, Y., Zheng, G., & Zhou, D. . Development of a bcl-xl and bcl-2 dual degrader with improved anti-leukemic activity. Nature Communications. 2021;12(1):6896. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27210-x.

181. Smalley JP, Baker, I.M., Pytel, W.A., Lin, L.Y., Bowman, K.J., Schwabe, J.W.R., Cowley, S.M., & Hodgkinson, J.T. Optimization of class I histone deacetylase PROTACs reveals that hdac1/2 degradation is critical to induce apoptosis and cell arrest in cancer cells. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;65(7):5642-59. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c02179.

182. Chang M, Gao, F., Chen, J., Gnawali, G., & Wang, W. . MDM2-BCL-XL PROTACs enable degradation of bcl-xl and stabilization of p53. Acta Biomaterialia Gold Medal. 2022;1(13):333-42. doi: https://doi.org/10.15212/amm-2022-0022.

183. Rohena DD, Slawin, B., Rayikrishnan, J., Liu, C., Hu, W., Zhang, P., Thompson, P.A., Wierda, W.G., Jain, N., Zheng, G., Zhou, D., Wovach, J.A., & Sampath, D. . Targeting venetoclax resistant cll using a protac-based bcl-2/bcl-xl degrader. Blood. 2022;140(Supplement 1):497-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2022-168345.

184. Kaefer A, Yang, J., Noertersheuser, P., Mensing, S., Humerickhouse, R., Awni, W., & Xiong, H. . Mechanism-based pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic meta-analysis of navitoclax (abt-263) induced thrombocytopenia. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology. 2014;74(3):593-602. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2530-9.

185. Zhang T, Na, J.H., Li, S., Chen, Z., Zhang, G., Pang, S., Daniyan, A.F., Li, Y., Shi, L., & Du, Y.N. . Functional impact of cancer patient-associated bcl-xl mutations. MedComm. 2020;1(3):328-37. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/mco2.36.

186. Bharti V, Watkins, R., Kumar, A., Shattuck-Brandt, R.L., Mossing, A., Mittra, A., Shen, C., Tsung, A., Davies, A.E., Hanel, W., Reneau, J.C., Chung, C., Sizemore, G.M., Richmond, A., Weiss, V.L., & Vilgelm, A.E. . BCL-xL inhibition potentiates cancer therapies by redirecting the outcome of p53 activation from senescence to apoptosis. Cell Reports. 2022;41(12):111826. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colrep.2022.111826

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111826.

187. Wilson WH, O'Connor, O.A., Czuczman, M.S., LaCasce, A.S., Gerecitano, J.F., Leonard, J.P., Tulpule, A., Dunleavy, K., Xiong, H., Chiu, Y.L., Cui, Y., Busman, T., Elmore, S.W., Rosenberg, S.H., Krivoshik, A.P., Enschede, S.H., & Humerickhouse, R.A. . Navitoclax, a targeted high-affinity inhibitor of bcl-2, in lymphoid malignancies: a phase 1 dose-escalation study of safety, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and antitumour activity. The Lancet Oncology. 2010;11(12):1149-59. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70261-8.

188. Souers AJ, Leverson, J.D., Boghaert, E.R., Ackler, S.L., Catron, N.D., Chen, J., Dayton, B.D., Ding, H., Enschede, S.H., Fairbrother, W.J., Huang, D.C., Hymowitz, S.G., Jin, S., Khaw, S.L., Kovar, P.J., Lam, L.T., Lee, J., Maecker, H.L., Marsh, K.C., Mason, K.D., Mitten, M.J., Nimmer, P.M., Oleksijew, A., Park, C.H., Park, C.M., Phillips, D.C., Roberts, A.W., Sampath, D., Seymour, J.F., Smith, M.L., Sullivan, G.M., Tahir, S.K., Tse, C., Wendt, M.D., Xiao, Y., Xue, J.C., Zhang, H., Humerickhouse, R.A., Rosenberg, S.H., & Elmore, S.W. . ABT-199, a potent and selective bcl-2 inhibitor, achieves antitumor activity while sparing platelets. Nature Medicine. 2013;19(2):202-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3048.

189. Deming PB, Schafer, Z.T., Tashker, J.S., Potts, M.B., Deshmukh, M., & Kornbluth, S. . Bcr-abl-mediated protection from apoptosis downstream of mitochondrial cytochrome c release. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2004;24(23):10289-99. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.23.10289-10299.2004.
190. Huang N, Huang, Z., Gao, M., Luo, Z., Zhou, F., Liu, L., Xiao, Q., Wang, X., & Feng, W. . Induction of apoptosis in imatinib sensitive and resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells by efficient disruption of bcr-abl oncogene with zinc finger nucleases. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research.
2018;37(1):62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0732-4.

191. Rossari F, Minutolo, F., & Orciuolo, E. . Past, present, and future of bcr-abl inhibitors: from chemical development to clinical efficacy. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2018;11(1):84. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-018-0624-2.

192. Dang CV, Reddy, E.P., Shokat, K.M., & Soucek, L. . Drugging the 'undruggable' cancer targets. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2017;17(8):502-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.36.

193. Bolomsky A, Vogler, M., Köse, M.C., Heckman, C.A., Ehx, G., Ludwig, H., & Caers, J. . MCL-1 inhibitors, fast-lane development of a new class of anti-cancer agents. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2020;13(1):173. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-01007-9.

194. Wang H, Guo, M., Wei, H., & Chen, Y. . Targeting MCL-1 in cancer: current status and perspectives. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2021;14(1):67. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01079-1.

195. Chaitanya GV, Steven, A.J., & Babu, P.P. . PARP-1 cleavage fragments: signatures of cell-death proteases in neurodegeneration. Cell Communication and Signaling. 2010;8:31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-8-31.

196. Gibson BA, & Kraus, W.L. . New insights into the molecular and cellular functions of poly(ADP-ribose) and parps. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2012;13(7):411-24. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3376.

197. Mashimo M, Onishi, M., Uno, A., Tanimichi, A., Nobeyama, A., Mori, M., Yamada, S., Negi, S., Bu, X., Kato, J., Moss, J., Sanada, N., Kizu, R., & Fujii, T. . The 89-kDa parp1 cleavage fragment serves as a cytoplasmic par carrier to induce aif-mediated apoptosis. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2021;296:100046. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA120.014479.

198. Vinay DS, Ryan, E.P., Pawelec, G., Talib, W.H., Stagg, J., Elkord, E., Lichtor, T., Decker, W.K., Whelan, R.L., Kumara, H.M.C.S., Signori, E., Honoki, K., Georgakilas, A.G., Amin, A., Helferich, W.G., Boosani, C.S., Guha, G., Ciriolo, M.R., Chen, S., Mohammed, S.I., Azmi, A.S., Keith, W.N., Bilsland, A., Bhakta, D., Halicka, D., Fujii, H., Aquilano, K., Ashraf, S.S., Nowsheen, S., Yang, X., Choi, B.K., & Kwon, B.S. . Immune evasion in cancer: mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies. Seminars in Cancer Biology. 2015;35(Suppl):S185-S98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.004.

199. Greten FR, 7 Grivennikov, S.I. . Inflammation and cancer: triggers, mechanisms, and consequences Immunity. 2019;51(1):27-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025.

Singh N, Baby, D., Rajguru, J.P., Patil, P.B., Thakkannavar, S.S., & Pujari, V.B. . Inflammation and cancer. Annals of African Medicine. 2019;18(3):121-6. doi: https://doi.oeg/10.4103/aam.aam\_56\_18.
Garner H, & de Visser, K.E. . Immune crosstalk in cancer progression and metastatic spread: a complex conversation. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2020;20(8):483-97. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0271-z.

202. Zhao H, Wu, L., Yan, G., Chen, Y., Zhou, M., Wu, Y., & Li, Y. . Inflammation and tumor progression: signaling pathways and targeted intervention. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2021;6:263. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00658-5.

203. Kim SK, & Cho, S.W. . The evasion mechanisms of cancer immunity and drug intervention in the tumor microenvironment. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2022;13:868695. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.868695.

204. Wong RSY. Role of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (nsaids) in cancer prevention and cancer promotion. Advances in Pharmacological Sciences. 2019;2019:3418975. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3418975.

205. O'Donnell JS, Teng, M.W.L., & Smyth, M.J. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to t cell-based immunotherapy. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology. 2019;16(3):151-67. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-018-0142-8.

206. Shiravand Y, Khodadadi, F., Kashani, S.M.A., Hosseini-Fard, S.R., Hosseini, S., Sadeghirad, H., Ladwa, R., O'Byrne, K., & Kulasinghe, A. . Immune checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. Current Oncology. 2022;29(5):3044-60. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/curroncol29050247.

207. Erb MA, Scott, T.G., Li, B.E., Xie, H., Paulk, J., Seo, H.S., Souza, A., Roberts, J.M., Dastjerdi, S., Buckley, D.L., Sanjana, N.E., Shalem, O., Nabet, B., Zeid, R., Offei-Addo, N.K., Dhe-Paganon, S., Zhang, F., Orkin, S.H., Winter, G.E., & Bradner, J.E. . Transcription control by the enl yeats domain in acute leukaemia. Nature. 2017;543(7644):270-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21688.

Huang HT, Dobrovolsky, D., Paulk, J., Yang, G., Weisberg, E.L., Doctor, Z.M., Buckley, D.L., Cho, J.H., Ko, E., Jang, J., Shi, K., Choi, H.G., Griffin, J.D., Li, Y., Treon, S.P., Fischer, E.S., Bradner, J.E., Tan, L., & Gray, N.S. . A chemoproteomic approach to query the degradable kinome using a multi-kinase degrader. Cell Chemical Biology. 2018;25(1):88-99.e6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.10.005.
Crew AP, Raina, K., Dong, H., Qian, Y., Wang, J., Vigil, D., Serebrenik, Y.V., Hamman, B.D., Morgan, A., Ferraro, C., Siu, K., Neklesa, T.K., Winkler, J.D., Coleman, K.G., & Crews, C.M. . Identification and characterization of von hippel-lindau-recruiting proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) of tank-binding kinase 1. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(2):583-98. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00635

210. Chessum NEA SS, Caldwell JJ, Pasqua AE, Wilding B, Colombano G, Collins I, Ozer B, Richards M, Rowlands M, Stubbs M, Burke R, McAndrew PC, Clarke PA, Workman P, Cheeseman MD, & Jones, K. . Demonstrating in-cell target engagement using a pirin protein degradation probe (CCT367766). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(3):918-33. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b01406.

211. Zorba A, Nguyen, C., Xu, Y., Starr, J., Borzilleri, K., Smith, J., Zhu, H., Farley, K.A., Ding, W., Schiemer, J., Feng, X., Chang, J.S., Uccello, D.P., Young, J.A., Garcia-Irrizary, C.N., Czabaniuk, L., Schuff, B., Oliver, R., Montgomery, J., Hayward, M.M., Coe, J., Chen, J., Niosi, M., Luthra, S., Shah, J.C., El-Kattan, A., Qiu, X., West, G.M., Noe, M.C., Shanmugasundaram, V., Gilbert, A.M., Brown, M.F., & Calabrese, M.F. . Delineating the role of cooperativity in the design of potent PROTACs for btk. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2018;115(31):E7285-E92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1803662115.

212. Burslem GM, Song, J., Chen, X., Hines, J., & Crews, C.M. Enhancing antiproliferative activity and selectivity of a flt-3 inhibitor by proteolysis targeting chimera conversion. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2018;140(48):16428-32. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b10320.

213. Dobrovolsky D, Wang, E.S., Morrow, S., Leahy, C., Faust, T., Nowak, R.P., Donovan, K.A., Yang, G., Li, Z., Fischer, E.S., Treon, S.P., Weinstock, D.M., & Gray, N.S. . Bruton tyrosine kinase degradation as a therapeutic strategy for cancer. Blood. 2019;133(9):952-61. doi: https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-07-862953.

214. Sun Y, Ding, N., Song, Y., Yang, Z., Liu, W., Zhu, J., & Rao, Y. . Degradation of bruton's tyrosine kinase mutants by PROTACs for potential treatment of ibrutinib-resistant non-hodgkin lymphomas. Leukemia. 2019;33(8):2105-10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0440-x.

215. Song Y, Park, P.M.C., Wu, L., Ray, A., Picaud, S., Li, D., Wimalasena, V.K., Du, T., Filippakopoulos, P., Anderson, K.C., Qi, J., & Chauhan, D. . Development and preclinical validation of a novel covalent ubiquitin receptor rpn13 degrader in multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 2019;33(11):2685-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0467-z.

216. Zhang X, Crowley, V.M., Wucherpfennig, T.G., Dix, M.M., & Cravatt, B.F. Electrophilic PROTACs that degrade nuclear proteins by engaging dcaf16. Nature Chemical Biology. 2019;15(7):737-46. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0279-5.

217. Hsu JH, Rasmusson, T., Robinson, J., Pachl, F., Read, J., Kawatkar, S., O' Donovan, D.H., Bagal, S., Code, E., Rawlins, P., Argyrou, A., Tomlinson, R., Gao, N., Zhu, X., Chiarparin, E., Jacques, K., Shen, M., Woods, H., Bednarski, E., Wilson, D.M., Drew, L., Castaldi, M.P., Fawell, S., & Bloecher, A. . EED-targeted PROTACs degrade eed, ezh2, and suz12 in the prc2 complex. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(1):41-6.e17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.11.004C.

218. Potjewyd F, Turner, A.W., Beri, J., Rectenwald, J.M., Norris-Drouin, J.L., Cholensky, S.H., Margolis, D.M., Pearce, K.H., Herring, L.E., & James, L.I. . Degradation of polycomb repressive complex 2 with an eed-targeted bivalent chemical degrader. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(1):47-56.e15. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.11.006.

219. Lui S, Da, Y., Wang, F., Yan, R., Shu, Y., Lin, P., & Lin, J. . Targeted selective degradation of bruton's tyrosine kinase by PROTACs. Medicinal Chemistry Research. 2020;29:802-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00044-020-02526-3.

220. Ma A, Stratikopoulos, E., Park, K.S., Wei, J., Martin, T.C., Yang, X., Schwarz, M., Leshchenko, V., Rialdi, A., Dale, B., Lagana, A., Guccione, E., Parekh, S., Parsons, R., & Jin, J. . Discovery of a first-in-class ezh2 selective degrader. Nature Chemical Biology. 2020;16(2):214-22. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0421-4.

Shah RR, Redmond, J.M., Mihut, A., Menon, M., Evans, J.P., Murphy, J.A., Bartholomew, M.A., & Coe, D.M. . Hi-JAK-ing the ubiquitin system: the design and physicochemical optimisation of jak PROTACs. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;28(5):115326. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2020.115326.
Winzker M, Friese, A., Koch, U., Janning, P., Ziegler, S., Waldmann, H. . Development of a pdeδ-targeting PROTACs that impair lipid metabolism. Angewandt Chemie International Edition.

2020;59(14):5595-601. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201913904.

223. Gabizon R, Shraga, A., Gehrtz, P., Livnah, E., Shorer, Y., Gurwicz, N., Avram, L., Unger, T., Aharoni, H., Albeck, S., Brandis, A., Shulman, Z., Katz, B.Z., Herishanu, Y., & London, N. . Efficient targeted degradation via reversible and irreversible covalent PROTACs. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 2020;142(27):11734-42. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b13907.

224. Cheng J, Li, Y., Wang, X., Dong, G., & Sheng, C. . Discovery of novel pdeδ degraders for the treatment of kras mutant colorectal cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(14):7892-905. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00929

225. Wang M, Lu, J., Wang, M., Yang, C.Y., & Wang, S. . Discovery of shp2-d26 as a first, potent, and effective PROTAC degrader of shp2 protein. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(14):7510-28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00471.

226. Cheng B, Ren, Y., Cao, H., & Chen, J. Discovery of novel resorcinol diphenyl ether-based PROTAClike molecules as dual inhibitors and degraders of pd-11. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;199:112377. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112377.

227. Guo WH, Qi, X., Yu, X., Liu, Y., Chung, C.I., Bai, F., Lin, X., Lu, D., Wang, L., Chen, J., Su, L.H., Nomie, K.J., Li, F., Wang, M.C., Shu, X., Onuchic, J.N., Woyach, J.A., Wang, M.L., & Wang, J. . Enhancing intracellular accumulation and target engagement of PROTACs with reversible covalent chemistry. Nature Communications. 2020;11(1):4268. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17997-6.

228. Shen Y, Gao, G., Yu, X., Kim, H., Wang, L., Xie, L., Schwarz, M., Chen, X., Guccione, E., Liu, J., Bedford, M.T., & Jin, J. . Discovery of first-in-class protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (prmt5) degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(17):9977-89. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01111.

229. Si J, Shi, X., Sun, S., Zou, B., Li, Y., An, D., Lin, X., Gao, Y., Long, F., Pang, B., Liu, X., Liu, T., Chi, W., Chen, L., Dimitrov, D.S., Sun, Y., Du, X., Yin, W., Gao, G., Min, J., Wei, L., & Liao, X. . Hematopoietic progenitor kinase1 (hpk1) mediates t cell dysfunction and is a druggable target for t cell-based immunotherapies. Cancer Cell. 2020;38(4):551-66.e11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2020.08.001.

230. Zhou Z, Long, J., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, X., Tang, L., Chang, Q., Chen, Z., Hu, G., Hu, S., Li, Q., Peng, C., & Chen, X. . Targeted degradation of cd147 proteins in melanoma. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2020;105:104453. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2020.104453.

231. Xue G, Chen, J., Liu, L., Zhou, D., Zuo, Y., Fu, T., & Pan, Z. . Protein degradation through covalent inhibitor-based PROTACs. Chemical Communications. 2020;56:1521-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/C9CC08238G.

232. Schiemer J, Horst, R., Meng, Y., Montgomery, J.I., Xu, Y., Feng, X., Borzilleri, K., Uccello, D.P., Leverett, C., Brown, S., Che, Y., Brown, M.F., Hayward, M.M., Gilbert, A.M., Noe, M.C., & Calabrese, M.F. . Snapshots and ensembles of btk and ciap1 protein degrader ternary complexes. Nature Chemical Biology. 2021;17(2):152-60. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-00686-2.

233. Liu Z, Hu, X., Wang, Q., Wu, X., Zhang, Q., Wei, W., Su, X., He, H., Zhou, S., Hu, R., Ye, T., Zhu, Y., Wang, N., & Yu, L. Design and synthesis of ezh2-based PROTACs to degrade the prc2 complex for targeting the noncatalytic activity of ezh2. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(5):2829-48. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c02234.

234. Zhou H, Bai, L., Xu, R., McEachern, D., Chinnaswamy, K., Li, R., Wen, B., Wang, M., Yang, C.Y., Meagher, J.L., Sun, D., Stuckey, J.A., & Wang, S. . SD-91 as a potent and selective stat3 degrader capable of achieving complete and long-lasting tumor regression. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2021;12(6):996-1004. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.1c00155.

235. Xu H, Ohoka, N., Yokoo, H., Nemoto, K., Ohtsuki, T., Matsufuji, H., Naito, M., Inoue, T., Tsuji, G., & Demizu, Y. . Development of agonist-based PROTACs targeting liver x receptor. Frontiers in Chemistry. 2021;9:674967. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2021.674967.

236. Wang Y, Zhou, Y., Cao, S., Sun, Y., Dong, Z., Li, C., Wang, H., Yao, Y., Yu, H., Song, X., Li, M., Wang, J., Wei, M., Yang, G., & Yang, C. . In vitro and in vivo degradation of programmed cell death ligand 1 (pd-11) by a proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). Bioorganic Chemistry. 2021;111:104833. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.104833.

237. Tu Y, Sun, Y., Qiao, S., Luo, Y., Liu, P., Jiang, Z.X., Hu, Y., Wang, Z., Huang, P., & Wen, S. . Design, synthesis, and evaluation of vhl-based ezh2 degraders to enhance therapeutic activity against lymphoma. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(14):10167-84. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.imedchem.1c00460

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00460.

238. Xiao Z, Song, S., Chen, D., van Merkerk, R., van der Wouden, P.E., Cool, R.H., Quax, W.J., Poelarends, G.J., Melgert, B.N., & Dekker, F.J. Proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (mif) has anti-proliferative activity in lung cancer cells. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(32):17514-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202101864.

239. Cao S, Ma, L., Liu, Y., Wei, M., Yao, Y., Li, C., Wang, R., Liu, N., Dong, Z., Li, X., Li, M., Wang, X., Yang, C., & Yang, G. . Proteolysis-targeting chimera (PROTAC) modification of dovitinib enhances the antiproliferative effect against flt3-itd-positive acute myeloid leukemia cells. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(22):16497-511. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00996.

240. Zhao Y, Shu, Y., Lin, J., Chen, Z., Xie, Q., Bao, Y., Lu, L., Sun, N., & Wang, Y. Discovery of novel btk PROTACs for b-cell lymphomas. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;225:113820. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113820.

241. Chang Y, Min, J., Jarusiewicz, J.A., Actis, M., Yu-Chen Bradford, S., Mayasundari, A., Yang, L., Chepyala, D., Alcock, L.J., Roberts, K.G., Nithianantham, S., Maxwell, D., Rowland, L., Larsen, R., Seth, A., Goto, H., Imamura, T., Akahane, K., Hansen, B.S., Pruett-Miller, S.M., Paietta, E.M., Litzow, M.R., Qu, C., Yang, J.J., Fischer, M., Rankovic, Z., & Mullighan, C.G. . Degradation of janus kinases in crlf2-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2021;138(23):2313-26. doi: https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020006846.

242. Pal Singh. S, Dammeijer, F. & Hendriks, R.W. . Role of bruton's tyrosine kinase in b cells and malignancies. Molecular Cancer. 2018;17:57. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-018-0779-z.

243. Alu A, Lei, H., Han, X., Wei, Y., & Wei, X. BTK inhibitors in the treatment of hematological malignancies and inflammatory diseases: mechanisms and clinical studies. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2022;15:138. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-022-01353-w.

244. Andreotti AH, Schwartzberg, P.L., Joseph, R.E., & Berg, L.J. . T-cell signaling regulated by the tec family kinase, itk. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2010;2(7):a002287. doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a002287.

245. Lasserre R, Cuche, C., Blecher-Gonen, R., Libman, E., Biquand, E., Danckaert, A., Yablonski, D., Alcover, A., & Di Bartolo, V. . Release of serine/threonine-phosphorylated adaptors from signaling microclusters down-regulates t cell activation. Journal of Cell Biology. 2011;195(5):839-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201103105.

246. Thomas SJ, Snowden, J.A., Zeidler, M.P., & Danson, S.J. . The role of jak/stat signalling in the pathogenesis, prognosis and treatment of solid tumours. British Journal of Cancer. 2015;113(3):365-71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.233.

247. Brooks AJ, & Putoczki, T. . JAK-STAT signalling pathway in cancer. Cancers. 2020;12(7):1971. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12071971.

248. Knutson SK, Wigle, T.J., Warholic, N.M., Sneeringer, C.J., Allain, C.J., Klaus, C.R., Sacks, J.D., Raimondi, A., Majer, C.R., Song, J., Scott, M.P., Jin, L., Smith, J.J., Olhava, E.J., Chesworth, R., Moyer, M.P., Richon, V.M., Copeland, R.A., Keilhack, H., Pollock, R.M., Kuntz, K.W. A selective inhibitor of ezh2 blocks h3k27 methylation and kills mutant lymphoma cells. Nature Chemical Biology. 2012;8(11):890-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1084.

249. Chu L, Qu, Y., An, Y., Hou, L., Li, J., Li, W., Fan, G., Song, B.L., Li, E., Zhang, L., & Qi, W. . Induction of senescence-associated secretory phenotype underlies the therapeutic efficacy of PRC2 inhibition in cancer. Cell Death & Disease. 2022;13:155. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04601-6.

250. Riggi N, Aguet, M., & Stamenkovic, I. . Cancer metastasis: a reappraisal of its underlying mechanisms and their relevance to treatment. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease. 2018;13:117-40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-020117-044127.

251. Roche J. The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer. Cancers. 2018;10(2):52. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers10020052.

252. Singh M, Yelle, N., Venugopal, C., & Singh, S.K. . EMT: mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2018;182:80-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.08.009.

253. Fares J, Fares, M.Y., Khachfe, H.H., Salhab, H.A., & Fares, Y. . Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2020;5(1):28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0134-x.

254. Ribatti D, Tamma, R., & Annese, T. . Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer: a historical overview. Translational Oncology. 2020;13(6):100773. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2020.100773.

255. Wang X, Feng, S., Fan, J., Li, X., Wen, Q., & Luo, N. . New strategy for renal fibrosis: targeting smad3 proteins for ubiquitination and degradation. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2016;116:200-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2016.07.017.

256. Bondeson DP, Smith, B.E., Burslem, G.M., Buhimschi, A.D., Hines, J., Jaime-Figueroa, S., Wang, J., Hamman, B.D., Ishchenko, A., & Crews, C.M. . Lessons in PROTAC design from selective degradation with a promiscuous warhead. Cell Chemical Biology. 2018;25(1):78-87.e5. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.09.010.

257. Cromm PM, Samarasinghe, K.T.G., Hines, J., & Crews, C.M. . Addressing kinase-independent functions of fak via PROTAC-mediated degradation. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2018;140(49):17019-26. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b08008.

258. Smith BE, Wang, S.L., Jaime-Figueroa, S., Harbin, A., Wang, J., Hamman, B.D., & Crews, C.M. . Differential PROTAC substrate specificity dictated by orientation of recruited e3 ligase. Nature Communications. 2019;10(1):131. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-08027-7.

259. Popow J, Arnhof, H., Bader, G., Berger, H., Ciulli, A., Covini, D., Dank, C., Gmaschitz, T., Greb, P., Karolyi-Özguer, J., Koegl, M., McConnell, D.B., Pearson, M., Rieger, M., Rinnenthal, J., Roessler, V., Schrenk, A., Spina, M., Steurer, S., Trainor, N., Traxler, E., Wieshofer, C., Zoephel, A., & Ettmayer, P. . Highly selective ptk2 proteolysis targeting chimeras to probe focal adhesion kinase scaffolding functions.

Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(5):2508-20. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b01826.

260. Jain N, Hartert, K., Tadros, S., Fiskus, W., Havranek, O., Ma, M.C.J., Bouska, A., Heavican, T., Kumar, D., Deng, Q., Moore, D., Pak, C., Liu, C.L., Gentles, A.J., Hartmann, E., Kridel, R., Smedby, K.E., Juliusson, G., Rosenquist, R., Gascoyne, R.D., Rosenwald, A., Giancotti, F., Neelapu, S.S., Westin, J., Vose, J.M., Lunning, M.A., Greiner, T., Rodig, S., Iqbal, J., Alizadeh, A.A., Davis, R.E., Bhalla, K.,. & Green, M.R. . Targetable genetic alterations of tcf4 (e2-2) drive immunoglobulin expression in diffuse large b cell lymphoma. Science Translational Medicine. 2019;11(497):eaav5599. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aav5599.

261. Feng Y, Su, H., Li, Y., Luo, C., Xu, H., Wang, Y., Sun, H., Wan, G., Zhou, B., & Bu, X. Degradation of intracellular tgf-β1 by PROTACs efficiently reverses m2 macrophage induced malignant pathological events. Chemical Communications. 2020;56(19):2881-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c9cc08391j.
262. Manda S, Lee, N.K., Oh, D.C., & Lee, J. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) for the dual degradation of igf-1r and src. Molecules. 2020;25(8):1948. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25081948.

263. Lee Y, Heo, J., Jeong, H., Hong, K.T., Kwon, D.H., Shin, M.H., Oh, M., Sable, G.A., Ahn, G.O., Lee, J.S., Song, H.K., & Lim, H.S. . Targeted degradation of transcription coactivator SRC-1 through the n-degron pathway. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2020;59(40):17548-55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202005004.

264. Law RP, Nunes, J., Chung, C.W., Bantscheff, M., Buda, K., Dai, H., Evans, J.P., Flinders, A., Klimaszewska, D., Lewis, A.J., Muelbaier, M., Scott-Stevens, P., Stacey, P., Tame, C.J., Watt, G.F., Zinn, N., Queisser, M.A., Harling, J.D., & Benowitz, A.B. . Discovery and characterisation of highly cooperative fakdegrading PROTACs. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(43):23327-34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202109237.

265. Luo G, Lin, X., Vega-Medina, A., Xiao, M., Li, G., Wei, H., Velázquez-Martínez, C.A., & Xiang, H. . Targeting of the foxm1 oncoprotein by e3 ligase-assisted degradation. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(23):17098-114. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c01069.

266. Li X, Zhang, Z., Gao, F., Ma, Y., Wei, D., Lu, Z., Chen, S., Wang, M., Wang, Y., Xu, K., Wang, R., Xu, F., Chen, J.Y., Zhu, C., Li, Z., Yu, H., & Guan, X. . c-Myc-Targeting PROTAC based on a TNA-DNA bivalent binder for combination therapy of triple-negative breast cancer. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2023;145(16):9334-42. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.3c02619.

267. Fan H, Zhao, X., Sun, S., Luo, M., & Guan, J.L. . Function of focal adhesion kinase scaffolding to mediate endophilin a2 phosphorylation promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and mammary cancer stem cell activities in vivo. journal of Biological Chemistry. 2013;288(5):3322-33. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.420497.

268. Cooper J, & Giancotti, F.G. . Integrin signaling in cancer: mechanotransduction, stemness, epithelial plasticity, and therapeutic resistance. Cancer Cell. 2018;35(3):347-67. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.007.

269. Chuang HH, Zhen, Y.Y., Tsai, Y.C., Chuang, C.H., Hsiao, M., Huang, M.S., & Yang, C.J. . FAK in cancer: from mechanisms to therapeutic strategies. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2020;23(3):1726. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23031726.

270. Cuadrado A, & Nebreda, A.R. . Mechanisms and functions of p38 mapk signalling. Biochemical Journal. 2010;429(3):403-17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20100323.

271. Martínez-Limón A, Joaquin, M., Caballero, M., Posas, F., & de Nadal, E. . The p38 pathway: from biology to cancer therapy. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2020;21(6):1913. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21061913.

272. Kudaravalli S, den Hollander, P., & Mani, S.A. . Role of p38 map kinase in cancer stem cells and metastasis. Oncogene. 2022;41(23):3177-85. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-022-02329-3.

273. Zhan T, Rindtorff, N., & Boutros, M. . Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(11):1461-73. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.304.

274. Hanahan D, & Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.

275. Feitelson MA, Arzumanyan, A., Kulathinal, R.J., Blain, S.W., Holcombe, R.F., Mahajna, J., Marino, M., Martinez-Chantar, M.L., Nawroth, R., Sanchez-Garcia, I., Sharma, D., Saxena, N.K., Singh, N., Vlachostergios, P.J., Guo, S., Honoki, K., Fujii, H., Georgakilas, A.G., Bilsland, A., Amedei, A., Niccolai, E., Amin, A., Ashraf, S.S., Boosani, C.S., Guha, G., Ciriolo, M.R., Aquilano, K., Chen, S., Mohammed, S.I., Azmi, A.S., Bhakta, D., Halicka, D., Keith, W.N., & Nowsheen, S. Sustained proliferation in cancer: mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets. Seminars in Cancer Biology. 2015;35:S25-254. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.006.

276. Degirmenci U, Wang, M., & Hu, J. Targeting aberrant ras/raf/mek/erk signaling for cancer therapy. Cells. 2020;9(1):198. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9010198.

277. Avery TY, Köhler, N., Zeiser, R., Brummer, T., & Ruess, D.A. Onco-immunomodulatory properties of pharmacological interference with ras-raf-mek-erk pathway hyperactivation. Frontiers in Oncology. 2022;12:931774. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.931774.

278. Dickson MA, & Schwartz, G.K. Development of cell-cycle inhibitors for cancer therapy. Current Oncology. 2009;16(2):36-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.3747/co.v16i2.428.

279. Bai J, Li, Y., & Zhang, G. Cell cycle regulation and anticancer drug discovery. Cancer Biology & Medicine. 2017;14(4):348-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2017.0033.

280. Yan VC, Butterfield, H.E., Poral, A.H., Yan, M.J., Yang, K.L., Pham, C.D., & Muller, F.L. Why great mitotic inhibitors make poor cancer drugs. Trends in Cancer. 2020;6(11):924-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2020.05.010.

Zhong L, Li, Y., Xiong, L., Wang, W., Wu, M., Yuan, T., Yang, W., Tian, C., Miao, Z., Wang, T., & Yang, S. Small molecules in targeted cancer therapy: advances, challenges, and future perspectives. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2021;6(1):201. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00572-w.
Itoh Y, Kitaguchi, R., Ishikawa, M., Naito, M., & Hashimoto, Y. Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of nuclear receptor-degradation inducers. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2011;19(22):6768-78. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2011.09.041.

283. Okuhira K, Demizu, Y., Hattori, T., Ohoka, N., Shibata, N., Nishimaki-Mogami, T., Okuda, H., Kurihara, M., & Naito, M. Development of hybrid small molecules that induce degradation of estrogen receptor-alpha and necrotic cell death in breast cancer cells. Cancer Science. 2013;104(11):1492-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12272.

284. Ohoka N, Nagai, K., Hattori, T., Okuhira, K., Shibata, N., Cho, N., & Naito, M. Cancer cell death induced by novel small molecules degrading the tacc3 protein via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Cell Death & Disease. 2014;5(11):e1513. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.471.

285. Winter GE, Mayer, A., Buckley, D.L., Erb, M.A., Roderick, J.E., Vittori, S., Reyes, J.M., di Iulio, J., Souza, A., Ott, C.J., Roberts, J.M., Zeid, R., Scott, T.G., Paulk, J., Lachance, K., Olson, C.M., Dastjerdi, S., Bauer, S., Lin, C.Y., Gray, N.S., Kelliher, M.A., Churchman, L.S., & Bradner, J.E. BET bromodomain proteins function as master transcription elongation factors independent of cdk9 recruitment. Molecular Cell. 2017;67(1):5-18.e9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.06.004.

286. Winter GE, Buckley, D.L., Paulk, J., Roberts, J.M., Souza, A., Dhe-Paganon, S., & Bradner, J.E. Phthalimide conjugation as a strategy for in vivo target protein degradation. Science. 2015;348(6241):1376-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab1433.

287. Zengerle M, Chan, K.H., & Ciulli, A. Selective small molecule induced degradation of the bet bromodomain protein brd4. ACS Chemical Biology. 2015;10(8):1770-7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00216.

288. Ohoka N, Okuhira, K., Ito, M., Nagai, K., Shibata, N., Hattori, T., Ujikawa, O., Shimokawa, K., Sano, O., Koyama, R., Fujita, H., Teratani, M., Matsumoto, H., Imaeda, Y., Nara, H., Cho, N., & Naito, M. In vivo knockdown of pathogenic proteins via specific and nongenetic inhibitor of apoptosis protein (iap)-dependent protein erasers (SNIPERs). Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2017;292(11):4556-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.768853.

289. Bai L, Zhou, B., Yang, C.Y., Ji, J., McEachern, D., Przybranowski, S., Jiang, H., Hu, J., Xu, F., Zhao, Y., Liu, L., Fernandez-Salas, E., Xu, J., Dou, Y., Wen, B., Sun, D., Meagher, J., Stuckey, J., Hayes, D.F., Li, S., Ellis, M.J., & Wang, S. Targeted degradation of bet proteins in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer Research. 2017;77(9):2476-87. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2622.

290. Remillard D, Buckley, D.L., Paulk, J., Brien, G.L., Sonnett, M., Seo, H.S., Dastjerdi, S., Wühr, M., Dhe-Paganon, S., Armstrong, S.A., & Bradner, J.E. Degradation of the baf complex factor brd9 by heterobifunctional ligands. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2017;56(21):5738-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201611281.

291. Robb CM, Contreras, J.I., Kour, S., Taylor, M.A., Abid, M., Sonawane, Y.A., Zahid, M., Murry, D.J., Natarajan, A., & Rana, S. Chemically induced degradation of cdk9 by a proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). Chemical Communications. 2017;53(54):7577-80. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c7cc03879h.
292. Madak JT, Cuthbertson, C.R., Chen, W., Showalter, H.D., & Neamati, N. Design, synthesis, and characterization of brequinar conjugates as probes to study dhodh inhibition. Chemistry. 2017;23(56):13875-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201702999.

293. Burslem GM, Smith, B.E., Lai, A.C., Jaime-Figueroa, S., McQuaid, D.C., Bondeson, D.P., Toure, M., Dong, H., Qian, Y., Wang, J., Crew, A.P., Hines, J., & Crews, C.M. The advantages of targeted protein degradation over inhibition: an rtk case study. Cell Chemical Biology. 2018;25(1):67-77.e3. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.09.009.

294. Zhou B, Hu, J., Xu, F., Chen, Z., Bai, L., Fernandez-Salas, E., Lin, M., Liu, L., Yang, C.Y., Zhao, Y., McEachern, D., Przybranowski, S., Wen, B., Sun, D., & Wang, S. Discovery of a small-molecule degrader of bomodomain and extra-terminal (bet) proteins with picomolar cellular potencies and capable of achieving tumor regression. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(2):462-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01816.

295. Chan KH, Zengerle, M., Testa, A., & Ciulli, A. Impact of target warhead and linkage vector on inducing protein degradation: comparison of bromodomain and extra-terminal (bet) degraders derived from triazolodiazepine (jq1) and tetrahydroquinoline (i-bet726) bet inhibitor scaffolds. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(2):504-13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01912.

296. Shibata N, Nagai, K., Morita, Y., Ujikawa, O., Ohoka, N., Hattori, T., Koyama, R., Sano, O., Imaeda, Y., Nara, H., Cho, N., & Naito, M. Development of protein degradation inducers of androgen receptor by conjugation of androgen receptor ligands and inhibitor of apoptosis protein ligands. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(2):543-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00168.

297. Hatcher JM, Wang, E.S., Johannessen, L., Kwiatkowski, N., Sim, T., & Gray, N.S. Development of highly potent and selective steroidal inhibitors and degraders of cdk8. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2018;9(6):540-5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.8b00011.

298. Ohoka N, Morita, Y., Nagai, K., Shimokawa, K., Ujikawa, O., Fujimori, I., Ito, M., Hayase, Y., Okuhira, K., Shibata, N., Hattori, T., Sameshima, T., Sano, O., Koyama, R., Imaeda, Y., Nara, H., Cho, N., & Naito, M. Derivatization of inhibitor of apoptosis protein (iap) ligands yields improved inducers of estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  degradation. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2018;293(18):6776-90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA117.001091.

299. Powell CE, Gao, Y., Tan, L., Donovan, K.A., Nowak, R.P., Loehr, A., Bahcall, M., Fischer, E.S., Jänne, P.A., George, R.E., & Gray, N.S. Chemically induced degradation of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (alk). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2018;61(9):4249-55. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b01655.

300. Nowak RP, DeAngelo, S.L., Buckley, D., He, Z., Donovan, K.A., An, J., Safaee, N., Jedrychowski, M.P., Ponthier, C.M., Ishoey, M., Zhang, T., Mancias, J.D., Gray, N.S., Bradner, J.E., & Fischer, E.S. Plasticity in binding confers selectivity in ligand-induced protein degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2018;14(7):706-14. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-018-0055-y.

301. Salami J, Alabi, S., Willard, R.R., Vitale, N.J., Wang, J., Dong, H., Jin, M., McDonnel, D.P., Crew, A.P., Neklesa, T.K., & Crews, C.M. Androgen receptor degradation by the proteolysis-targeting chimera arcc-4 outperforms enzalutamide in cellular models of prostate cancer drug resistance. Communications Biology. 2018;1:100. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0105-8.

302. Han X, Wang, C., Qin, C., Xiang, W., Fernandez-Salas, E., Yang, C.Y., Wang, M., Zhao, L., Xu, T., Chinnaswamy, K., Delproposto, J., Stuckey, J., & Wang, S. Discovery of ard-69 as a highly potent proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrader of androgen receptor (ar) for the treatment of prostate cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(2):941-64. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b01631.

303. Zoppi V, Hughes, S.J., Maniaci, C., Testa, A., Gmaschitz, T., Wieshofer, C., Koegl, M., Riching, K.M., Daniels, D.L., Spallarossa, A., & Ciulli, A. Iterative design and optimization of initially inactive proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) identify vz185 as a potent, fast, and selective von hippel-lindau (vhl) based dual degrader probe of brd9 and brd7. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(2):699-726. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b01413.

304. Hu J, Hu, B., Wang, M., Xu, F., Miao, B., Yang, C.Y., Wang, M., Liu, Z., Hayes, D.F., Chinnaswamy, K., Delproposto, J., Stuckey, J., & Wang, S. Discovery of erd-308 as a highly potent proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrader of estrogen receptor (er). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(3):1420-42. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b01572.

305. Kim SA, Go, A., Jo, S.H., Park, S.J., Jeon, Y.U., Kim, J.E., Lee, H.K., Park, C.H., Lee, C.O., Park, S.G., Kim, P., Park, B.C., Cho, S.Y., Kim, S., Ha, J.D., Kim, J.H., & Hwang, J.Y. A novel cereblon modulator for targeted protein degradation. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;16(65-74). doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.01.023.

306. Jiang B, Wang, E.S., Donovan, K.A., Liang, Y., Fischer, E.S., Zhang, T., & Gray, N.S. Development of dual and selective degraders of cyclin-dependent kinases 4 and 6. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2019;58(19):6321-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201901336.

307. Chen H, Chen, F., Pei, S., & Gou, S. Pomalidomide hybrids act as proteolysis targeting chimeras: synthesis, anticancer activity and b-raf degradation. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2019;87:191-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2019.03.035.

308. Farnaby W, Koegl, M., Roy, M.J., Whitworth, C., Diers, E., Trainor, N., Zollman, D., Steurer, S., Karolyi-Oezguer, J., Riedmueller, C., Gmaschitz, T., Wachter, J., Dank, C., Galant, M., Sharps, B., Rumpel, K., Traxler, E., Gerstberger, T., Schnitzer, R., Petermann, O., Greb, P., Weinstabl, H., Bader, G., Zoephel, A., Weiss-Puxbaum, A., Ehrenhöfer-Wölfer, K., Wöhrle, S., Boehmelt, G., Rinnenthal, J., Arnhof, H., Wiechens, N., Wu, M.Y., Owen-Hughes, T., Ettmayer, P., Pearson, M., McConnell, D.B., & Ciulli, A. BAF complex vulnerabilities in cancer demonstrated via structure-based PROTAC design. Nature Chemical Biology. 2019;15(7):672-80. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0294-6.

309. Spradlin JN, Hu, X., Ward, C.C., Brittain, S.M., Jones, M.D., Ou, L., To, M., Proudfoot, A., Ornelas, E., Woldegiorgis, M., Olzmann, J.A., Bussiere, D.E., Thomas, J.R., Tallarico, J.A., McKenna, J.M., Schirle, M., Maimone, T.J., & Nomura, D.K. Harnessing the anti-cancer natural product nimbolide for targeted protein degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2019;15(7):747-55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0304-8.

310. Chi JJ, Li, H., Zhou, Z., Izquierdo-Ferrer, J., Xue, Y., Wavelet, C.M., Schiltz, G.E., Zhang, B., Cristofanilli, M., Lu, X., Bahar, I., & Wan, Y. A novel strategy to block mitotic progression for targeted therapy. EBioMedicine. 2019;49:40-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.10.013.

311. Da Y, Liu, S., Lin, P., Wang, F., Yan, R., Shu, Y., & Lin, J. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of small molecule PROTACs for potential anticancer effects. Medicinal Chemistry Research. 2020;29:334-40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00044-019-02485-4.

312. Wei J, Hu, J., Wang, L., Xie, L., Jin, M.S., Chen, X., Liu, J., & Jin, J. Discovery of a first-in-class mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1/2 degrader. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(23):10897-911. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01528.

313. Han X, Zhao, L., Xiang, W., Qin, C., Miao, B., Xu, T., Wang, M., Yang, C.Y., Chinnaswamy, K., Stuckey, J., & Wang, S. Discovery of highly potent and efficient PROTAC degraders of androgen receptor (ar) by employing weak binding affinity vhl e3 ligase ligands. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(24):11218-31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01393.

314. Jiang F, Wei, Q., Li, H., Li, H., Cui, Y., Ma, Y., Chen, H., Cao, P., Lu, T., & Chen, Y. Discovery of novel small molecule induced selective degradation of the bromodomain and extra-terminal (bet) bromodomain protein brd4 and brd2 with cellular potencies. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;28(1):115181. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2019.115181.

315. Vollmer S, Cunoosamy, D., Lv, H., Feng, H., Li, X., Nan, Z., Yang, W., & Perry, M.W.D. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of mek PROTACs. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(1):157-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00810.

316. Zeng M, Xiong, Y., Safaee, N., Nowak, R.P., Donovan, K.A., Yuan, C.J., Nabet, B., Gero, T.W., Feru, F., Li, L., Gondi, S., Ombelets, L.J., Quan, C., Jänne, P.A., Kostic, M., Scott, D.A., Westover, K.D., Fischer, E.S., & Gray, N.S. Exploring targeted degradation strategy for oncogenic krasg12c. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(1):19-31.e6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.12.006.

317. Li Z, Pinch, B.J., Olson, C.M., Donovan, K.A., Nowak, R.P., Mills, C.E., Scott, D.A., Doctor, Z.M., Eleuteri, N.A., Chung, M., Sorger, P.K., Fischer, E.S., & Gray, N.S. Development and characterization of a wee1 kinase degrader. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(1):57-65.e9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.10.013.

318. Testa A, Hughes, S.J., Lucas, X., Wright, J.E., & Ciulli, A. . Structure-based design of a macrocyclic PROTAC. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2020;59(4):1727-34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201914396.

319. Mu X, Bai, L., Xu, Y., Wang, J., & Lu, H. Protein targeting chimeric molecules specific for dual bromodomain 4 (brd4) and polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1) proteins in acute myeloid leukemia cells. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications. 2020;521(4):833-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.11.007.

320. Zhou F, Chen, L., Cao, C., Yu, J., Luo, X., Zhou, P., Zhao, L., Du, W., Cheng, J., Xie, Y., & Chen, Y. Development of selective mono or dual PROTAC degrader probe of cdk isoforms. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;187:111952. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111952.

321. Cheng M, Yu, X., Lu, K., Xie, L., Wang, L., Meng, F., Han, X., Chen, X., Liu, J., Xiong, Y., & Jin, J. Discovery of potent and selective epidermal growth factor receptor (egfr) bifunctional small-molecule degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(3):1216-32. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01566.

322. Kregel S, Wang, C., Han, X., Xiao, L., Fernandez-Salas, E., Bawa, P., McCollum, B.L., Wilder-Romans, K., Apel, I.J., Cao, X., Speers, C., Wang, S., & Chinnaiyan, A.M. Androgen receptor degraders overcome common resistance mechanisms developed during prostate cancer treatment. Neoplasia. 2020;22(2):111-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2019.12.003.

323. Zhang H, Zhao, H.Y., Xi, X.X., Liu, Y.J., Xin, M., Mao, S., Zhang, J.J., Lu, A.X., & Zhang, S.Q. Discovery of potent epidermal growth factor receptor (egfr) degraders by proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;189:112061. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112061.

324. Steinebach C, Ng, Y.L.D., Sosič, I., Lee, C.S., Chen, S., Lindner, S., Vu, L.P., Bricelj, A., Haschemi, R., Monschke, M., Steinwarz, E., Wagner, K.G., Bendas, G., Luo, J., Gütschow, M., & Krönke, J. Systematic exploration of different e3 ubiquitin ligases: an approach towards potent and selective cdk6 degraders. Chemical Science. 2020;11(13):3474-86. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d0sc00167h.

325. Han XR, Chen, L., Wei, Y., Yu, W., Chen, Y., Zhang, C., Jiao, B., Shi, T., Sun, L., Zhang, C., Xu, Y., Lee, M.R., Luo, Y., Plewe, M.B., & Wang, J. Discovery of selective small molecule degraders of braf-v600e. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(8):4069-80. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b02083.

326. De Dominici M, Porazzi, P., Xiao, Y., Chao, A., Tang, H.Y., Kumar, G., Fortina, P., Spinelli, O., Rambaldi, A., Peterson, L.F., Petruk, S., Barletta, C., Mazo, A., Cingolani, G., Salvino, J.M., & Calabretta, B. Selective inhibition of ph-positive all cell growth through kinase-dependent and -independent effects by cdk6-specific PROTACs. Blood. 2020;135(18):1560-73. doi: https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019003604.
327. Gonzalez TL, Hancock, M., Sun, S., Gersch, C.L., Larios, J.M., David, W., Hu, J., Hayes, D.F., Wang, S., & Rae, J.M. Targeted degradation of activating estrogen receptor α ligand-binding domain mutations in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment. 2020;180(3):611-22. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-020-05564-y.

328. Sun N, Ren, C., Kong, Y., Zhong, H., Chen, J., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Zhou, Y., Qiu, X., Lin, H., Song, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. Development of a brigatinib degrader (siais117) as a potential treatment for alk positive cancer resistance. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;193:112190. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112190.

329. Scott DE, Rooney, T.P.C., Bayle, E.D., Mirza, T., Willems, H.M.G., Clarke, J.H., Andrews, S.P., & Skidmore, J. Systematic investigation of the permeability of androgen receptor PROTACs. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(8):1539-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00194.

330. He K, Zhang, Z., Wang, W., Zheng, X., Wang, X., & Zhang, X. Discovery and biological evaluation of proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) as an egfr degraders based on osimertinib and lenalidomide. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;30(12):127167. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2020.127167.

331. Bensimon A, Pizzagalli, M.D., Kartnig, F., Dvorak, V., Essletzbichler, P., Winter, G.E., & Superti-Furga, G. Targeted degradation of slc transporters reveals amenability of multi-pass transmembrane proteins to ligand-induced proteolysis. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(6):728-39.e9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.04.003.

332. Roberts BL, Ma, Z.X., Gao, A., Leisten, E.D., Yin, D., Xu, W., & Tang, W. Two-stage strategy for development of proteolysis targeting chimeras and its application for estrogen receptor degraders. ACS Chemical Biology. 2020;15(6):1487-96. doi: https://doi.oeg/10.1021/acschembio.0c00140.

333. Li L, Mi, D., Pei, H., Duan, Q., Wang, X., Zhou, W., Jin, J., Li, D., Liu, M., & Chen, Y. In vivo target protein degradation induced by PROTACs based on e3 ligase dcaf15. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2020;5(1):129. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00245-0.

334. Teng M, Jiang, J., He, Z., Kwiatkowski, N.P., Donovan, K.A., Mills, C.E., Victor, C., Hatcher, J.M., Fischer, E.S., Sorger, P.K., Zhang, T., & Gray, N.S. Development of cdk2 and cdk5 dual degrader tmx-2172. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2020;59(33):13865-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202004087.

335. Jang J, To, C., De Clercq, D.J.H., Park, E., Ponthier, C.M., Shin, B.H., Mushajiang, M., Fischer, E.S., Eck, M.I., Jänne, P.A., & Gray, N.S. Mutant-selective allosteric egfr degraders are effective against a broad range of drug-resistant mutations. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2020;59(34):14481-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202003500.

336. Bond MJ, Chu, L., Nalawansha, D.A., Li, K., & Crews, C.M. Targeted Degradation of Oncogenic KRASG12C by VHL-Recruiting PROTACs. ACS Central Science. 2020;6(8):1367-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.0c00411.

337. Zhao L, Han, X., Lu, J., McEachern, D., & Wang, S. A highly potent PROTAC androgen receptor (ar) degrader ard-61 effectively inhibits ar-positive breast cancer cell growth in vitro and tumor growth in vivo. Neoplasia. 2020;22(10):522-32. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2020.07.002.

338. Adhikari B, Bozilovic, J., Diebold, M., Schwarz, J.D., Hofstetter, J., Schröder, M., Wanior, M., Narain, A., Vogt, M., Dudvarski Stankovic, N., Baluapuri, A., Schönemann, L., Eing, L., Bhandare, P., Kuster, B., Schlosser, A., Heinzlmeir, S., Sotriffer, C., Knapp, S., & Wolf, E. PROTAC-mediated degradation reveals a non-catalytic function of AURORA-A kinase. Nature Chemical Biology. 2020;16(11):1179-88. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-00652-y.

339. Posternak G, Tang, X., Maisonneuve, P., Jin, T., Lavoie, H., Daou, S., Orlicky, S., Goullet de Rugy, T., Caldwell, L., Chan, K., Aman, A., Prakesch, M., Poda, G., Mader, P., Wong, C., Maier, S., Kitaygorodsky, J., Larsen, B., Colwill, K., Yin, Z., Ceccarelli, D.F., Batey, R.A., Taipale, M., Kurinov, I., Uehling, D., Wrana, J., Durocher, D., Gingras, A.C., Al-Awar, R., Therrien, M., & Sicheri, F. Functional characterization of a PROTAC directed against braf mutant v600e. Nature Chemical Biology. 2020;16(11):1170-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0609-7.

340. Chen L, Chen, Y., Zhang, C., Jiao, B., Liang, S., Tan, Q., Chai, H., Yu, W., Qian, Y., Yang, H., Yao, W., Yu, J., Luo, Y., Plewe, M., Wang, J., Han, X.R., & Liu, J. Discovery of first-in-class potent and selective tropomyosin receptor kinase degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(23):14562-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01342.

Xiang W, & Wang, S. Selectively targeting tropomyosin receptor kinase a (trka) via PROTACs. ACS
Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;63(23):14560-1. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01947.
Donovan KA, Ferguson, F.M., Bushman, J.W., Eleuteri, N.A., Bhunia, D., Ryu, S., Tan, L., Shi, K.,

Yue, H., Liu, X., Dobrovolsky, D., Jiang, B., Wang, J., Hao, M., You, I., Teng, M., Liang, Y., Hatcher, J., Li, Z., Manz, T.D., Groendyke, B., Hu, W., Nam, Y., Sengupta, S., Cho, H., Shin, I., Agius, M.P., Ghobrial, I.M., Ma, M.W., Che, J., Buhrlage, S.J., Sim, T., Gray, N.S., & Fischer, E.S. Mapping the degradable kinome provides a resource for expedited degrader development. Cell. 2020;183(6):1714-31.e10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.10.038.

343. Zhao HY, Yang, X.Y., Lei, H., Xi, X.X., Lu, S.M., Zhang, J.J., Xin, M., & Zhang, S.Q. Discovery of potent small molecule PROTACs targeting mutant egfr. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;208:112781. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112781.

344. Takwale AD, Jo, S.H., Jeon, Y.U., Kim, H.S., Shin, C.H., Lee, H.K., Ahn, S., Lee, C.O., Du Ha, J., Kim, J.H., & Hwang, J.Y. Design and characterization of cereblon-mediated androgen receptor proteolysistargeting chimeras. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;208:112769. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112769.

345. Hu J, Wei, J., Yim, H., Wang, L., Xie, L., Jin, M.S., Kabir, M., Qin, L., Chen, X., Liu, J., & Jin, J. Potent and selective mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1/2 (mek1/2) heterobifunctional small-molecule degraders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(24):15883-905. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01609.

346. Wei M, Zhao, R., Cao, Y., Wei, Y., Li, M., Dong, Z., Liu, Y., Ruan, H., Li, Y., Cao, S., Tang, Z., Zhou, Y., Song, W., Wang, Y., Wang, J., Yang, G., & Yang, C. First orally bioavailable prodrug of proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrades cyclin-dependent kinases 2/4/6 in vivo. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;209:112903. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112903.

Qiu X, Li, Y., Yu, B., Ren, J., Huang, H., Wang, M., Ding, H., Li, Z., Wang, J., & Bian, J. Discovery of selective cdk9 degraders with enhancing antiproliferative activity through PROTAC conversion. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;211:113091. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.113091.
Alabi S, Jaime-Figueroa, S., Yao, Z., Gao, Y., Hines, J., Samarasinghe, K.T.G., Vogt, L., Rosen, N., & Crews, C.M. Mutant-selective degradation by braf-targeting PROTACs. Nature Communications. 2021;12(1):920. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21159-7.

349. Lu AS, Rouhimoghadam, M., Arnatt, C.K., Filardo, E.J., & Salem, A.K. Proteolytic targeting chimeras with specificity for plasma membrane and intracellular estrogen receptors. Molecular Pharmaceutics. 2021;18(3):1455-69. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmeceut.1c00018.

350. Lee GT, Nagaya, N., Desantis, J., Madura, K., Sabaawy, H.E., Kim, W.J., Vaz, R.J., Cruciani, G., & Kim, I.Y. Effects of mtx-23, a novel PROTAC of androgen receptor splice variant-7 and androgen receptor, on crpc resistant to second-line antiandrogen therapy. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 2021;20(3):490-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-20-0417.

351. Zhang X, Luukkonen, L.M., Eissler, C.L., Crowley, V.M., Yamashita, Y., Schafroth, M.A., Kikuchi, S., Weinstein, D.S., Symons, K.T., Nordin, B.E., Rodriguez, J.L., Wucherpfennig, T.G., Bauer, L.G., Dix, M.M., Stamos, D., Kinsella, T.M., Simon, G.M., Baltgalvis, K.A., & Cravatt, B.F. DCAF11 supports targeted protein degradation by electrophilic proteolysis-targeting chimeras. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2021;143(13):5141-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.1c00990.

352. Chen L, Han, L., Mao, S., Xu, P., Xu, X., Zhao, R., Wu, Z., Zhong, K., Yu, G., & Wang, X. Discovery of a031 as effective proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) androgen receptor (ar) degrader for the treatment of prostate cancer. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;216:113307. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113307.

353. Kim GY, Song, C.W., Yang, Y.S., Lee, N.R., Yoo, H.S., Son, S.H., Lee, S.J., Park, J.S., Lee, J.K., Inn, K.S., & Kim, N.J. Chemical degradation of androgen receptor (ar) using bicalutamide analog-thalidomide PROTACs. Molecules. 2021;26(9):2525. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26092525.

354. Ren C, Sun, N., Kong, Y., Qu, X., Liu, H., Zhong, H., Song, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. Structure-based discovery of siais001 as an oral bioavailability alk degrader constructed from alectinib. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;217:113335. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113335.

355. Wang R, Ascanelli, C., Abdelbaki, A., Fung, A., Rasmusson, T., Michaelides, I., Roberts, K., & Lindon, C. Selective targeting of non-centrosomal aurka functions through use of a targeted protein degradation tool. Communications Biology. 2021;4(1):640. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02158-2.

356. Wang K, & Zhou, H. Proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) for epidermal growth factor receptor enhances anti-tumor immunity in non-small cell lung cancer. Drug Development Research. 2021;82(3):422-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ddr.21765.

357. Qu X, Liu, H., Song, X., Sun, N., Zhong, H., Qiu, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. Effective degradation of egfrl858r+t790m mutant proteins by crbn-based PROTACs through both proteosome and autophagy/lysosome degradation systems. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;218:113328. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113328.

358. Jiang B, Gao, Y., Che, J., Lu, W., Kaltheuner, I.H., Dries, R., Kalocsay, M., Berberich, M.J., Jiang, J., You, I., Kwiatkowski, N., Riching, K.M., Daniels, D.L., Sorger, P.K., Geyer, M., Zhang, T., & Gray, N.S. . Discovery and resistance mechanism of a selective cdk12 degrader. Nature Chemical Biology. 2021;17(6):675-83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00765-y.

359. King HM, Rana, S., Kubica, S.P., Mallareddy, J.R., Kizhake, S., Ezell, E.L., Zahid, M., Naldrett, M.J., Alvarez, S., Law, H.C., Woods, N.T., & Natarajan, A. Aminopyrazole based cdk9 PROTAC sensitizes pancreatic cancer cells to venetoclax. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2021;43:128061. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2021.128061.

360. Xie S, Sun, Y., Liu, Y., Li, X., Li, X., Zhong, W., Zhan, F., Zhu, J., Yao, H., Yang, D.H., Chen, Z.S., Xu, J., & Xu, S. Development of alectinib-based PROTACs as novel potent degraders of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (alk). Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(13):9120-40. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00270.

361. Du G, Jiang, J., Wu, Q., Henning, N.J., Donovan, K.A., Yue, H., Che, J., Lu, W., Fischer, E.S., Bardeesy, N., Zhang, T., & Gray, N.S. Discovery of a potent degrader for fibroblast growth factor receptor

1/2. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(29):15905-11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202101328.

362. Ren C, Sun, N., Liu, H., Kong, Y., Sun, R., Qiu, X., Chen, J., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Zhou, Y., Zhong, H., Yin, Q., Song, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. Discovery of a brigatinib degrader siais164018 with destroying metastasis-related oncoproteins and a reshuffling kinome profile. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(13):9152-65. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00373.

363. Han X, Zhao, L., Xiang, W., Qin, C., Miao, B., McEachern, D., Wang, Y., Metwally, H., Wang, L., Matvekas, A., Wen, B., Sun, D., & Wang, S. Strategies toward discovery of potent and orally bioavailable proteolysis targeting chimera degraders of androgen receptor for the treatment of prostate cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(17):12831-54. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00882.

364. Xiang W, Zhao, L., Han, X., Qin, C., Miao, B., McEachern, D., Wang, Y., Metwally, H., Kirchhoff, P.D., Wang, L., Matvekas, A., He, M., Wen, B., Sun, D., & Wang, S. Discovery of ard-2585 as an exceptionally potent and orally active PROTAC degrader of androgen receptor for the treatment of advanced prostate cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(18):13487-509. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00900.

365. Wei D, Wang, H., Zeng, Q., Wang, W., Hao, B., Feng, X., Wang, P., Song, N., Kan, W., Huang, G., Zhou, X., Tan, M., Zhou, Y., Huang, R., Li, J., & Chen, X.H. Discovery of potent and selective cdk9 degraders for targeting transcription regulation in triple-negative breast cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(19):14822-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c01350.

366. Xiang W, Wang, Q., Ran, K., Ren, J., Shi, Y., & Yu, L. Structure-guided discovery of novel potent and efficacious proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrader of brd4. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2021;115:105238. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.105238.

367. Gama-Brambila RA, Chen, J., Zhou, J., Tascher, G., Münch, C., & Cheng, X. A PROTAC targets splicing factor 3b1. Cell Chemical Biology. 2021;28(11):1616-27.e8. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2021.04.018.

368. Imaide S, Riching, K.M., Makukhin, N., Vetma, V., Whitworth, C., Hughes, S.J., Trainor, N., Mahan, S.D., Murphy, N., Cowan, A.D., Chan, K.H., Craigon, C., Testa, A., Maniaci, C., Urh, M., Daniels, D.L., & Ciulli, A. Trivalent PROTACs enhance protein degradation via combined avidity and cooperativity. Nature Chemical Biology. 2021;17(11):1157-67. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00878-4.

369. Min J, Mayasundari, A., Keramatnia, F., Jonchere, B., Yang, S.W., Jarusiewicz, J., Actis, M., Das, S., Young, B., Slavish, J., Yang, L., Li, Y., Fu, X., Garrett, S.H., Yun, M.K., Li, Z., Nithianantham, S., Chai, S., Chen, T., Shelat, A., Lee, R.E., Nishiguchi, G., White, S.W., Roussel, M.F., Potts, P.R., Fischer, M., & Rankovic, Z. Phenyl-glutarimides: alternative cereblon binders for the design of PROTACs. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2021;60(51):26663-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202108848. 370. Li L, Wu, Y., Yang, Z., Xu, C., Zhao, H., Liu, J., Chen, J., & Chen, J. Discovery of kras g12c-in-3 and pomalidomide-based PROTACs as degraders of endogenous kras g12c with potent anticancer activity. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2021;117:105447. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.105447.

371. Niu T, Li, K., Jiang, L., Zhou, Z., Hong, J., Chen, X., Dong, X., He, Q., Cao, J., Yang, B., & Zhu, C.L. Noncovalent cdk12/13 dual inhibitors-based PROTACs degrade cdk12-cyclin k complex and induce synthetic lethality with parp inhibitor. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;228:114012. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.114012.

372. Bhumireddy A, Bandaru, N.V.M.R., Raghurami Reddy, B., Gore, S.T., Mukherjee, S., Balasubramanian, W.R., Sumanth Kumar, V., Alapati, K.S., Venkata Gowri Chandra Sekhar, K., Nellore, K., Abbineni, C., & Samajdar, S. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of phenyl thiazole-based ar-v7 degraders. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2022;55:128448. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2021.128448. 373. Hu R, Wang, W.L., Yang, Y.Y., Hu, X.T., Wang, Q.W., Zuo, W.Q., Xu, Y., Feng, Q., & Wang, N.Y. Identification of a selective brd4 PROTAC with potent antiproliferative effects in ar-positive prostate cancer based on a dual bet/plk1 inhibitor. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;227:113922. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113922.

374. Liu Q, Tu, G., Hu, Y., Jiang, Q., Liu, J., Lin, S., Yu, Z., Li, G., Wu, X., Tang, Y., Huang, X., Xu, J., Liu, Y., & Wu, L. Discovery of bp3 as an efficacious proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrader of hsp90 for treating breast cancer. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;228:114013. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.114013.

Xiao L, Parolia, A., Qiao, Y., Bawa, P., Eyunni, S., Mannan, R., Carson, S.E., Chang, Y., Wang, X.,
Zhang, Y., Vo, J.N., Kregel, S., Simko, S.A., Delekta, A.D., Jaber, M., Zheng, H., Apel, I.J., McMurry, L., Su, F.,
Wang, R., Zelenka-Wang, S., Sasmal, S., Khare, L., Mukherjee, S., Abbineni, C., Aithal, K., Bhakta, M.S.,
Ghurye, J., Cao, X., Navone, N.M., Nesvizhskii, A.I., Mehra, R., Vaishampayan, U., Blanchette, M., Wang,
Y., Samajdar, S., Ramachandra, M., & Chinnaiyan, A.M. Targeting swi/snf atpases in enhancer-addicted
prostate cancer. Nature. 2022;601(7893):434-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04246-z.
Yang F, Wen, Y., Wang, C., Zhou, Y., Zhou, Y., Zhang, Z.M., Liu, T., & Lu, X. Efficient targeted
oncogenic krasg12c degradation via first reversible-covalent PROTAC. European Journal of Medicinal

Chemistry. 2022;230:114088. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.114088.

377. Lier S, Sellmer, A., Orben, F., Heinzlmeir, S., Krauß, L., Schneeweis, C., Hassan, Z., Schneider, C., Patricia Gloria Schäfer, A., Pongratz, H., Engleitner, T., Öllinger, R., Kuisl, A., Bassermann, F., Schlag, C., Kong, B., Dove, S., Kuster, B., Rad, R., Reichert, M., Wirth, M., Saur, D., Mahboobi, S., & Schneider, G. A novel cereblon e3 ligase modulator with antitumor activity in gastrointestinal cancer. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2022;119:105505. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.105505.

378. Liu F, Wang, X., Duan, J., Hou, Z., Wu, Z., Liu, L., Lei, H., Huang, D., Ren, Y., Wang, Y., Li, X., Zhuo, J., Zhang, Z., He, B., Yan, M., Yuan, H., Zhang, L., Yan, J., Wen, S., Wang, Z., & Liu, Q. A temporal PROTAC cocktail-mediated sequential degradation of aurka abrogates acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Advanced Science. 2022;9(22):e2104823. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202104823.

379. Bozilovic J, Eing, L., Berger, B.T., Adhikari, B., Weckesser, J., Berner, N.B., Wilhelm, S., Kuster, B., Wolf, E., & Knapp, S. Novel, highly potent PROTACs targeting AURORA-A kinase. Current Research in Chemical Biology. 2022;2:100032. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crchbi.2022.100032.

380. Yuan J, Dong, X., Yap, J., & Hu, J. The mapk and ampk signalings: interplay and implication in targeted cancer therapy. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2020;13(1):113. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00949-4.

381. Chong CR, & Jänne, P.A. The quest to overcome resistance to egfr-targeted therapies in cancer. Nature Medicine. 2013;18(11):1389-400. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3388.

382. Kargbo RB. PROTAC-mediated degradation of kras protein for anticancer therapeutics. ACS
Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;11(1):5-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00584.
383. Willems E, Dedobbeleer, M., Digregorio, M., Lombard, A., Lumapat, P.N., & Rogister, B. The functional diversity of aurora kinases: a comprehensive review. Cell Division. 2018;13:7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13008-018-0040-6.

384. Deeney JT, Belkina, A.C., Shirihai, O.S., Corkey, B.E., & Denis, G.V. BET bromodomain proteins brd2, brd3 and brd4 selectively regulate metabolic pathways in the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0151329. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151329.

385. Doroshow DB, Eder, J.P., & LoRusso, P.M. BET inhibitors: a novel epigenetic approach. Annals of Oncology. 2017;28(8):1776-87. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdx157.

386. Zhou Z, Li, X., Liu, Z., Huang, L., Yao, Y., Li, L., Chen, J., Zhang, R., Zhou, J., Wang, L., & Zhang, Q.Q. A bromodomain-containing protein 4 (brd4) inhibitor suppresses angiogenesis by regulating ap-1 expression. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2020;11:1043. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.01043.

Lu J, Qian, Y., Altieri, M., Dong, H., Wang, J., Raina, K., Hines, J., Winkler, J.D., Crew, A.P., Coleman,
K., & Crews, C.M. Hijacking the E3 ubiquitin ligase cereblon to efficiently target BRD4. Chemical Biology.
2015;22(6):755-63. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.05.009.

388. Peng C, Zeng, W., Su, J., Kuang, Y., He, Y., Zhao, S., Zhang, J., Ma, W., Bode, A.M., Dong, Z., & Chen, X. Cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (cdk2) is a key mediator for egf-induced cell transformation mediated through the elk4/c-fos signaling pathway. Oncogene. 2016;35(9):1170-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.175.

389. Zhang M, Zhang, L., Hei, R., Li, X., Cai, H., Wu, X., Zheng, Q., & Cai, C. CDK inhibitors in cancer therapy, an overview of recent development. American Journal of Cancer Research. 2021;11(5):1913-35.
390. Ghafouri-Fard S, Khoshbakht, T., Hussen, B.M., Dong, P., Gassler, N., Taheri, M., Baniahmad, A., & Dilmaghani, N.A. A review on the role of cyclin dependent kinases in cancers. Cancer Cell International. 2022;22(1):325. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-022-02747-z.

391. Yan G, Zhong, X., Yue, L., Pu, C., Shan, H., Lan, S., Zhou, M., Hou, X., Yang, J., & Li, R. Discovery of a PROTAC targeting alk with in vivo activity. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;212:113150. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.113150.

392. Kargbo RB. PROTAC-mediated degradation of estrogen receptor in the treatment of cancer. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;10(10):1367-9. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00397.

393. Kargbo RB. PROTAC compounds targeting trk for use in cancer therapeutics. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(6):1090-1. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00235.
394. Xu J, Murphy, S.L., Kochanek, K.D., & Arias, E. Mortality in the united states, 2021. In: NCHS, editor. Data Brief No 4562022.

395. Tomoshige S, Nomura, S., Ohgane, K., Hashimoto, Y., & Ishikawa, M. Degradation of huntingtin mediated by a hybrid molecule composed of IAP antagonist linked to phenyldiazenyl benzothiazole derivative. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2018;28(4):707-10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2018.01.012.

396. Bassi ZI, Fillmore, M.C., Miah, A.H., Chapman, T.D., Maller, C., Roberts, E.J., Davis, L.C., Lewis, D.E., Galwey, N.W., Waddington, K.E., Parravicini, V., Macmillan-Jones, A.L., Gongora, C., Humphreys, P.G., Churcher, I., Prinjha, R.K., & Tough, D.F. . Modulating PCAF/GCN5 immune cell function through a PROTAC approach. ACS Chemical Biology. 2018;13(10):2862-7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00705.

397. Silva MC, Ferguson, F.M., Cai, Q., Donovan, K.A., Nandi, G., Patnaik, D., Zhang, T., Huang, H.T., Lucente, D.E., Dickerson, B.C., Mitchison, T.J., Fischer, E.S., Gray, N.S., & Haggarty, S.J. . Targeted degradation of aberrant tau in frontotemporal dementia patient-derived neuronal cell models. eLife. 2019;8:e45457. doi: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.45457.

398. Nunes J, McGonagle, G.A., Eden, J., Kiritharan, G., Touzet, M., Lewell, X., Emery, J., Eidam, H., Harling, J.D., & Anderson, N.A. . Targeting IRAK4 for degradation with PROTACs. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;10(7):1081-5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00219.

399. Wu H, Yang, K., Zhang, Z., Leisten, E.D., Lie, Z., Xie, H., Liu, J., Smith, K.A., Novakova, Z., Barinka, C., & Tang, W. . Development of multifunctional histone deacetylase 6 degraders with potent antimyeloma activity. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(15):7042-57. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00516.

400. de Wispelaere M, Du, G., Donovan, K.A., Zhang, T., Eleuteri, N.A., Yuan, J.C., Kalabathula, J., Nowak, R.P., Fischer, E.S., Gray, N.S., & Yang, P.L. . Small molecule degraders of the hepatitis C virus protease reduce susceptibility to resistance mutations. Nature Communications. 2019;10(1):3468. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11429-w.

401. An Z, Lv, W., Su, S., Wu, W., & Rao, Y. . Developing potent PROTACs tools for selective degradation of HDAC6 protein. Protein & Cell. 2019;10(8):606-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-018-0602-z.

402. Yang K, Wu, H., Zhang, Z., Leisten, E.D., Nie, X., Liu, B., Wen, Z., Zhang, J., Cunningham, M.D., & Tang, W. . Development of selective histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) degraders recruiting von hippellindau (VHL) E3 ubiquitin ligase. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(4):575-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00046.

403. Mares A, Miah, A.H., Smith, I.E.D., Rackham, M., Thawani, A.R., Cryan, J., Haile, P.A., Votta, B.J., Beal, A.M., Capriotti, C., Reilly, M.A., Fisher, D.T., Zinn, N., Bantscheff, M., MacDonald, T.T., Vossenkamper, A., Dace, P., Churcher, I., Benowitz, A.B., Watt, G., Denyer, J., Scott-Stevens, P., & Harling, J.D. . Extended pharmacodynamic responses observed upon PROTAC-mediated degradation of RIPK2. Communications Biology. 2020;3(1):140. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-0868-6.

404. Li MX, Yang, Y., Zhao, Q., Wu, Y., Song, L., Yang, H., He, M., Gao, H., Song, B.L., Luo, J., & Rao, Y. . Degradation versus inhibition: development of proteolysis-targeting chimeras for overcoming statininduced compensatory upregulation of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(9):4908-28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00339.

405. Kargbo RB. PROTAC compounds targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein for treating neurogenerative disorders: alzheimer's and parkinson's diseases. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(6):1086-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00192.

406. Degorce SL, Tavana, O., Banks, E., Crafter, C., Gingipalli, L., Kouvchinov, D., Mao, Y., Pachl, F., Solanki, A., Valge-Archer, V., Yang, B., & Edmondson, S.D. . Discovery of proteolysis-targeting chimera molecules that selectively degrade the IRAK3 pseudokinase. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(18):10460-73. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01125.

407. Xiao Y, Wang, J., Zhao, L.Y., Chen, X., Zheng, G., Zhang, X., & Liao, D. . Discovery of histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3)-specific PROTACs. Chemical Communications. 2020;56(68):9866-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cc03243c.

408. Hu M, Zhou, W., Wang, Y., Yao, D., Ye, T., Yao, Y., Chen, B., Liu, G., Yang, X., Wang, W., & Xie, Y. . Discovery of the first potent proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC) degrader of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase 1. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2020;10(10):1943-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acsb.2020.02.010

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.02.010.

409. Chen Y, Ning, Y., Bai, G., Tong, L., Zhang, T., Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Xie, H., Ding, J., & Duan, W. . Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of IRAK4-targeting PROTACs. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;12(1):82-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00474.

410. Cao F, de Weerd, S., Chen, D., Zwinderman, M.R.H., van der Wouden, P.E., & Dekker, F.J. . Induced protein degradation of histone deacetylases 3 (HDAC3) by proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;208:112800. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.

411. Zhang J, Fu, L., Shen, B., Liu, Y., Wang, W., Cai, X., Kong, L., Yan, Y., Meng, R., Zhang, Z., Chen, Y.P., Liu, Q., Wan, Z.K., Zhou, T., Wang, X., Gavine, P., Del Rosario, A., Ahn, K., Philippar, U., Attar, R., Yang, J., Xu, Y., Edwards, J.P., & Dai, X. Assessing IRAK4 functions in ABC DLBCL by IRAK4 kinase inhibition and protein degradation. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(12):1500-9.e13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.08.010.

412. Yokoo H, Shibata, N., Naganuma, M., Murakami, Y., Fujii, K., Ito, T., Aritake, K., Naito, M., & Demizu, Y. . Development of a hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase-degradation inducer. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2021;12(2):236-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00605.

413. Jiang X, Zhou, J., Wang, Y., Liu, X., Xu, K., Xu, J., Feng, F., & Sun, H. . PROTACs suppression of GSK-3β, a crucial kinase in neurodegenerative diseases. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;210:112949. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112949.

414. Wang W, Zhou, Q., Jiang, T., Li, S., Ye, J., Zheng, J., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Deng, M., Ke, D., Wang, Q., Wang, Y., & Wang, J.Z. A novel small-molecule PROTAC selectively promotes tau clearance to improve

cognitive functions in Alzheimer-like models. Theranostics. 2021;11(11):5279-95. doi: https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.55680.

415. Luo G, Li, Z., Lin, X., Li, X., Chen, Y., Xi, K., Xiao, M., Wei, H., Zhu, L., & Xiang, H. . Discovery of an orally active VHL-recruiting PROTAC that achieves robust HMGCR degradation and potent hypolipidemic activity in vivo. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2021;11(5):1300-14. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.11.001.

416. Hahn F, Hamilton, S.T., Wangen, C., Wild, M., Kicuntod, J., Brückner, N., Follett, J.E.L., Herrmann, L., Kheimar, A., Kaufer, B.B., Rawlinson, W.D., Tsogoeva, S.B., & Marschall, M. Development of a PROTACbased targeting strategy provides a mechanistically unique mode of anti-cytomegalovirus activity. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021;22(23):12858. doi:

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312858.

417. Cao Z, Gu, Z., Lin, S., Chen, D., Wang, J., Zhao, Y., Li, Y., Liu, T., Li, Y., Wang, Y., Lin, H., & He, B. . Attenuation of NLRP3 inflammasome activation by indirubin-derived PROTAC targeting HDAC6. ACS Chemical Biology. 2021;16(12):2746-51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.1c00681.

418. Desantis J, Mercorelli, B., Celegato, M., Croci, F., Bazzacco, A., Baroni, M., Siragusa, L., Cruciani, G., Loregian, A., & Goracci, L. . Indomethacin-based PROTACs as pan-coronavirus antiviral agents. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;226:113814. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113814.

419. Xu Z, Liu, X., Ma, X., Zou, W., Chen, Q., Chen, F., Deng, X., Liang, J., Dong, C., Lan, K., Wu, S., & Zhou, H.B. . Discovery of oseltamivir-based novel PROTACs as degraders targeting neuraminidase to combat H1N1 influenza virus. Cell Insight. 2022;1(3):100030. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellin.2022.100030.

420. Tseng YL, Lu, P.C., Lee, C.C., He, R.Y., Huang, Y.A., Tseng, Y.C., Cheng, T.R., Huang, J.J., & Fang, J.M. . Degradation of neurodegenerative disease-associated TDP-43 aggregates and oligomers via a proteolysis-targeting chimera. Journal of Biomedical Science. 2023;30(1):27. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-023-00921-7.

421. Stone NJ, Robinson, J.G., Lichtenstein, A.H., Bairey Merz, C.N., Blum, C.B., Eckel, R.H., Goldberg, A.C., Gordon, D., Levy, D., Lloyd-Jones, D.M., McBride, P., Schwartz, J.S., Shero, S.T., Smith, S.C. Jr., Watson, K., & Wilson, P.W. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2014;63(25 Pt B):2889-934. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.002.

422. Wang YZ, Yang, L., & Li, C.F. . Protective effect of atorvastatin meditated by HMGCR gene on diabetic rats with atherosclerosis: an in vivo and in vitro study. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 2018;104:240-51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.04.179

423. Adams SP, Tsang, M., & Wright, J.M. . Lipid-lowering efficacy of atorvastatin. Cochrane Database System Review. 2015;2015(3):CD008226. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008226.pub3.

424. Preiss D, Seshasai, S.R., Welsh, P., Murphy, S.A., Ho, J.E., Waters, D.D., DeMicco, D.A., Barter, P., Cannon, C.P., Sabatine, M.S., Braunwald, E., Kastelein, J.J., de Lemos, J.A., Blazing, M.A., Pedersen, T.R., Tikkanen, M.J., Sattar, N., & Ray, K.K. . Risk of incident diabetes with intensive-dose compared with moderate-dose statin therapy: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2011;305(24):2556-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.860.

425. Hwang S, Hartman, I.Z., Calhoun, L.N., Garland, K., Young, G.A., Mitsche, M.A., McDonald, J., Xu, F., Engelking, L., & DeBose-Boyd, R.A. . Contribution of accelerated degradation to feedback regulation of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase and cholesterol metabolism in the liver. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2016;291(26):13479-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.728469.

426. Institute HR. Chemical synthesis and phenotypic validation of precision PROTACs for cancer and cardiovascular disease 2023. Available from: https://www.hri.org.au/our-research/cardiovascular-

protective-signalling-and-drug-discovery/chemical-synthesis-and-phenotypic-validation-of-precision-protacs-for-cancer-and-cardiovascular-disease.

427. Kuek A, Hazleman, B.L., & Ostör, A.J. . Immune-mediated inflammatory diseases (IMIDs) and biologic therapy: a medical revolution. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2007;83(978):251-60. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/pgmj.2006.052688.

428. McInnes IB, & Gravallese, E.M. . Immune-mediated inflammatory disease therapeutics: past, present and future. Nature Review Immunology. 2021;21(10):680-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-021-00603-1.

429. Ortega MA, García-Montero, C., Fraile-Martinez, O., Alvarez-Mon, M.A., Gómez-Lahoz, A.M.,

Lahera, G., Monserrat, J., Rodriguez-Jimenez, R., Quintero, J., & Álvarez-Mon, M. . Immune-mediated diseases from the point of view of psychoneuroimmunoendocrinology. Biology. 2022;11(7):973. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/biology11070973.

430. Leus NG, Zwinderman, M.R., & Dekker, F.J. . Histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC 3) as emerging drug target in NF-κB-mediated inflammation. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology. 2016;33:160-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.06.019.

431. Ran J, & Zhou, J. . Targeted inhibition of histone deacetylase 6 in inflammatory diseases. Thoracic Cancer. 2019;10(3):405-12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/1759-7714.12974.

432. Hamminger P, Rica, R., & Ellmeier, W. . Histone deacetylases as targets in autoimmune and autoinflammatory diseases. Advances in Immunology. 2020;147:1-59. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ai.2020.06.001.

433. Magupalli VG, Negro, R., Tian, Y., Hauenstein, A.V., Di Caprio, G., Skillern, W., Deng, Q., Orning, P., Alam, H.B., Maliga, Z., Sharif, H., Hu, J.J., Evavold, C.L., Kagan, J.C., Schmidt, F.I., Fitzgerald, K.A., Kirchhausen, T., Li, Y., & Wu, H. . HDAC6 mediates an aggresome-like mechanism for NLRP3 and pyrin inflammasome activation. Science. 2020;369(6510):eaas8995. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aas8995.

434. Ning L, Rui, X., Bo, W., & Qing, G. . The critical roles of histone deacetylase 3 in the pathogenesis of solid organ injury. Cell Death & Discovery. 2021;12(8):734. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-021-04019-6.

435. Yang K, Song, Y., Xie, H., Wu, H., Wu, Y.T., Leisten, E.D., & Tang, W. . Development of the first small molecule histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) degraders. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2018;28(14):2493-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2018.05.057.

436. Yang K, Zhao, Y., Nie, X., Wu, H., Wang, B., Almodovar-Rivera, C.M., Xie, H., & Tang, W. . A cellbased target engagement assay for the identification of cereblon E3 ubiquitin ligase ligands and their application in HDAC6 degraders. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(7):866-76.e8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.04.008.

437. Gosu V, Basith, S., Durai, P., & Choi, S. . Molecular evolution and structural features of IRAK family members. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e49771. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049771. 438. Jain A, Kaczanowska, S., & Davila, E. . IL-1 receptor-associated kinase signaling and its role in inflammation, cancer progression, and therapy resistance. Frontiers in Immunology. 2014;5:553. doi:

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00553.

439. Chaudhary D, Robinson, S., & Romero, D.L. . Recent advances in the discovery of small molecule inhibitors of interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 4 (IRAK4) as a therapeutic target for inflammation and oncology disorders. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2015;58(1):96-110. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jm5016044.

440. Freihat LA, Wheeler, J.I., Wong, A., Turek, I., Manallack, D.T., & Irving, H.R. . IRAK3 modulates downstream innate immune signalling through its guanylate cyclase activity. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):15468. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51913-3.

441. Cuny GD, & Degterev, A. . RIPK protein kinase family: atypical lives of typical kinases. Seminar in Cell & Developmental Biology. 2021;109:96-105. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2020.06.014.
442. Honjo H, Watanabe, T., Kamata, K., Minaga, K., & Kudo, M. . RIPK2 as a new therapeutic target in inflammatory bowel diseases. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2021;12:650403. doi:

https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.650403.

443. Stanzione P, & Tropepi, D. . Drugs and clinical trials in neurodegenerative diseases. Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità. 2011;47(1):49-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN\_11\_01\_11.
444. Gribkoff VK, & Kaczmarek, L.K. . The need for new approaches in CNS drug discovery: why drugs have failed, and what can be done to improve outcomes. Neuropharmacology. 2016;120:11-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.03.021.

445. Breijyeh Z, & Karaman, R. . Comprehensive review on alzheimer's disease: causes and treatment. Molecules. 2020;25(24):5789. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25245789.

446. Guo T, Noble, W., & Hanger, D.P. . Roles of tau protein in health and disease. Acta Neuropathologia. 2017;133(5):665-704. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-017-1707-9

447. Kargbo RB. Treatment of Alzheimer's by PROTAC-Tau Protein Degradation. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;10(5):699-700. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00083.
448. Toral-Rios D, Pichardo-Rojas, P.S., Alonso-Vanegas, M., & Campos-Peña, V. . GSK3β and tau

protein in alzheimer's disease and epilepsy. Frontiers in Cell Neuroscience. 2020;14:19. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.00019.

449. Masrori P, & Van Damme, P. . Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a clinical review. European Journal of Neurology. 2020;27(10):1918-29. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.14393.

450. Lee YC, Huang, W.C., Lin, J.H., Kao, T.J., Lin, H.C., Lee, K.H., Lin, H.C., Shen, C.J., Chang, W.C., & Huang, C.C. . Znf179 E3 ligase-mediated TDP-43 polyubiquitination is involved in TDP-43- ubiquitinated inclusions (UBI) (+)-related neurodegenerative pathology. Journal of Biomedical Science. 2018;25(1):76. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-018-0479-4.

451. Ishigaki S, Niwa, J., Yamada, S., Takahashi, M., Ito, T., Sone, J., Doyu, M., Urano, F., & Sobue, G. . Dorfin-CHIP chimeric proteins potently ubiquitylate and degrade familial ALS-related mutant SOD1 proteins and reduce their cellular toxicity. Neurobiology of Disease. 2007;25(2):331-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2006.09.017.

452. McColgan P, & Tabrizi, S.J. . Huntington's disease: a clinical review. European Journal of Neurology. 2018;25(1):24-34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13413.

453. Fang Y, Wang, J., Zhao, M., Zheng, Q., Ren, C., Wang, Y., & Zhang, J. . Progress and challenges in targeted protein degradation for neurodegenerative disease therapy. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;65(17):11454-77. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.2c00844.

454. Jankovic J, & Tan, E.K. . Parkinson's disease: etiopathogenesis and treatment. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 2020;91(8):795-808. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2019-322338.

455. Qu J, Ren, X., Xue, F., He, Y., Zhang, R., Zheng, Y., Huang, H., Wang, W., & Zhang, J. . Specific knockdown of  $\alpha$ -synuclein by peptide-directed proteasome degradation rescued its associated neurotoxicity. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(6):751-62.e4. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.010.

456. De Clercq E. Antiviral therapy for human immunodeficiency virus infections. Clinical Microbiology Review. 1995;8(2):200-39. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.8.2.200.

457. Morens DM, & Fauci, A.S. Emerging pandemic diseases: how we got to COVID-19. Cell. 2020;182(5):1077-92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.021.

458. Lu L, Su, S., Yang, H., & Jiang, S. . Antivirals with common targets against highly pathogenic viruses. Cell. 2021;184(6):1604-20. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.013.

459. Ellebedy AH, & Ahmed, R. . Antiviral vaccines: challenges and advances. The Vaccine Book (Second Edition). 2016:283-310. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802174-3.00015-1.

460. De Clercq E. Fifty years in search of selective antiviral drugs. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;62(16):7322-39. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00175.

461. Kausar S, Said Khan, F., Ishaq Mujeeb Ur Rehman, M., Akram, M., Riaz, M., Rasool, G., Hamid Khan, A., Saleem, I., Shamim, S., & Malik, A. . A review: mechanism of action of antiviral drugs. International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology. 2021;35:20587384211002621. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/20587384211002621

462. Ahmad H, Zia, B., Husain, H., & Husain, A. . Recent advances in PROTAC-based antiviral strategies. Vaccines. 2023;12(2):270. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines11020270.

463. Bai Y, Jones, J.C., Wong, S.S., & Zanin, M. . Antivirals targeting the surface glycoproteins of influenza virus: mechanisms of action and resistance. Viruses. 2021;13(4):624. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/v13040624.

464. Li Y, Liu, D., Wang, Y., Su, W., Liu, G., & Dong, W. . The importance of glycans of viral and host proteins in enveloped virus infection. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021;12:638573. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.638573.

Tao J, Wang, H., Wang, W., Mi, N., Zhang, W., Wen, Q., Ouyang, J., Liang, X., Chen, M., Guo, W., Li, G., Liu, J., Zhao, H., Wang, X., Li, X., Feng, S., Liu, X., He, Z., & Zhao, Z. . Binding mechanism of oseltamivir and influenza neuraminidase suggests perspectives for the design of new anti-influenza drugs. PLoS Computational Biology. 2022;18(7):e1010343. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010343.
Raney KD, Sharma, S.D., Moustafa, I.M., & Cameron, C.E. . Hepatitis C virus non-structural

protein 3 (HCV NS3): a multifunctional antiviral target. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2010;285(30):22725-31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R110.125294.

467. Meewan I, Zhang, X., Roy, S., Ballatore, C., O'Donoghue, A.J., Schooley, R.T., & Abagyan, R. . Discovery of new inhibitors of hepatitis C virus NS3/4a protease and its D168A mutant. ACS Omega. 2019;4(16):16999-7008. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b02491.

468. Kieffer TL, & George, S. . Resistance to hepatitis C virus protease inhibitors. Current Opinions in Virology. 2014;8:16-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coviro.2014.04.008.

469. Francis MJ. Recent advances in vaccine technologies. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practices. 2018;48(2):231-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2017.10.002.

470. Tan X, Letendre, J.H., Collins, J.J., & Wong, W.W. Synthetic biology in the clinic: engineering vaccines, diagnostics, and therapeutics. Cell. 2021;184(4):881-98. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.01.017.

471. Si L, Shen, Q., Li, J., Chen, L., Shen, J., Xiao, X., Bai, H., Feng, T., Ye, A.Y., Li, L., Zhang, C., Li, Z., Wang, P., Oh, C.Y., Nurani, A., Niu, S., Zhang, C., Wei, X., Yuan, W., Liao, H., Huang, X., Wang, N., Tian, W.X., Tian, H., Li, L., Liu, X., & Plebani, R. . Generation of a live attenuated influenza A vaccine by proteolysis targeting. Nature Biotechnology. 2022;40(9):1370-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01381-4.

472. Gilbertson B, & Subbarao, K. . A new route to vaccines using PROTACs. Nature Biotechnology. 2022;40(9):1328-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01406-y.

473. Li Z, Bai, H., Xi, X., Tian, W.X., Zhang, J.Z.H., Zhou, D., & Si, L. PROTAC vaccine: a new way to live attenuated vaccines. Clinical and Translational Medicine. 2022;12(10):e1081. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.1081.

474. Shekhar N, Kaur, H., Sarma, P., Prakash, A., & Medhi, B. . Indomethacin: an exploratory study of antiviral mechanism and host-pathogen interaction in COVID-19. Expert Review of the Anti-infective Therapy. 2022;20(3):383-90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2022.1990756.

475. Zhang XD, Wang, Y., & Ye, L.H. . Hepatitis B virus X protein accelerates the development of hepatoma. Cancer Biology & Medicine. 2014;11(3):182-90. doi: https://doi.org/10.7497/j.issn.2095-3941.2014.03.004.

476. Gutierrez-Chamorro L, Felip, E., Ezeonwumelu, I.J., Margelí, M., & Ballana, E. . Cyclin-dependent kinases as emerging targets for developing novel antiviral therapeutics. Trends in Microbiology. 2021;29(9):836-48. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2021.01.014.

477. Liao C, Xiao, S., & Wang, X. . Bench-to-bedside: translational development landscape of biotechnology in healthcare. Health Sciences Review. 2023;7:100097. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hsr.2023.100097.

478. Gao H, Sun, X., & Rao, Y. . PROTAC technology: opportunities and challenges. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;11(3):237-40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00597.

479. Békés M, Langley, D.R., & Crews, C.M. . PROTAC targeted protein degraders: the past is prologue. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. 2022;21(3):181-200. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-021-00371-6.

480. Snyder LB, Flanagan, J.J., Qian, Y., Gough, S.M., Andreoli, M., Bookbinder, M., Cadelina, G., Bradley, J., Rousseau, E., Chandler, J., Willard, R., Pizzano, J., Crews, C.M., Crew, A.P., Houston, J., Moore, M.D., Peck, R., & Taylor, I. . Abstract 44: the discovery of ARV-471, an orally bioavailable estrogen receptor degrading PROTAC for the treatment of patients with breast cancer. Cancer Research. 2021;81:44. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2021-44.

481. Hamilton E, Vahdat, L., Han, H.S., Ranciato, J., Gedrich, R., Keung, C.F., Chirnomas, D., & Hurvitz, S. . Abstract PD13-08: first-in-human safety and activity of ARV-471, a novel PROTAC<sup>®</sup> estrogen receptor degrader, in ER+/HER. Cancer Research. 2022;82:PD13-08. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.SABCS21-PD13-08.

482. Nguyen TT, Kim, J.W., Choi, H.I., Maeng, H.J., & Koo, T.S. . Development of an LC-MS/MS method for ARV-110, a PROTAC molecule, and applications to pharmacokinetic studies. Molecules. 2022;27(6):1977. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27061977.

483. Petrylak DP, Gao, X., Vogelzang, N.J., Garfield, M.H., Taylor, I., Moore, M.D., Peck, R.A., & Burris III, H.A. . First-in-human phase I study of ARV-110, an androgen receptor (ar) PROTAC degrader in patients (pts) with metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer (mcrpc) following enzalutamide (enz) and/or abiraterone (abi). Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2020;38:3500. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15\_suppl.3500.

484. Lloyd MR, Wander, S.A., Hamilton, E., Razavi, P., & Bardia, A. . Next-generation selective estrogen receptor degraders and other novel endocrine therapies for management of metastatic hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: current and emerging role. Therapeutic Advances in Medical Oncology. 2022;14:17588359221113694. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/17588359221113694.

485. He W, Zhang, H., Perkins, L., Bouza, L., Liu, K., Qian, Y., & Fan, J. . Abstract PS18-09: novel chimeric small molecule AC682 potently degrades estrogen receptor with oral anti-tumor efficacy superior to fulvestrant. Cancer Research. 2021;81:PS18-09. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.SABCS20-PS18-09.

486. He Y, Koch, R., Budamagunta, V., Zhang, P., Zhang, X., Khan, S., Thummuri, D., Ortiz, Y.T., Zhang, X., Lv, D., Wiegand, J.S., Li, W., Palmer, A.C., Zheng, G., Weinstock, D.M., & Zhou, D. . DT2216-a Bcl-xL-specific degrader is highly active against Bcl-xL-dependent T cell lymphomas. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2020;13(1):95. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00928-9.

487. Kolb HC, Finn, M.G., & Sharpless, K.B. . Click chemistry: diverse chemical function from a few good reactions. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2001;40(11):2004-21. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20010601)40:11<2004::AID-ANIE2004>3.0.CO;2-5.

488. Fantoni NZ, El-Sagheer, A.H., & Brown, T. . A hitchhiker's guide to click-chemistry with nucleic acids. Chemical Reviews. 2021;121(12):7122-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.0c00928.

489. Ji X, Pan, Z., Yu, B., De La Cruz, L.K., Zheng, Y., Ke, B., & Wang, B. . Click and release: bioorthogonal approaches to "on-demand" activation of prodrugs. Chemical Society Review. 2019;48(4):1077-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c8cs00395e.

490. Smeenk MLWJ, Agramunt, J., & Bonger, K.M. . Recent developments in bioorthogonal chemistry and the orthogonality within. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology. 2021;60:79-88. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2020.09.002.

491. Lebraud H, Wright, D.J., Johnson, C.N., & Heightman, T.D. Protein degradation by in-cell selfassembly of proteolysis targeting chimeras. ACS Central Science. 2016;2(12):927-34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.6b00280.

492. Chen H, Chen, F., Liu, N., Wang, X., & Gou, S. . Chemically induced degradation of ck2 by proteolysis targeting chimeras based on a ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2018;81:536-44. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2018.09.005.

493. Yang Y, Gao, H., Sun, X., Sun, Y., Qiu, Y., Weng, Q., & Rao, Y. . Global PROTAC toolbox for degrading bcr-abl overcomes drug-resistant mutants and adverse effects. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(15):8567-83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00967.

494. Sun Y, Zhao, X., Ding, N., Gao, H., Wu, Y., Yang, Y., Zhao, M., Hwang, J., Song, Y., Liu, W., & Rao, Y. . PROTAC-induced btk degradation as a novel therapy for mutated btk c481s induced ibrutinib-resistant bcell malignancies. Cell Research. 2018;28(7):779-81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-018-0055-1.

495. Sun X, Wang, J., Yao, X., Zheng, W., Mao, Y., Lan, T., Wang, L., Sun, Y., Zhang, X., Zhao, Q., Zhao, J., Xiao, R.P., Zhang, X., Ji, G., & Rao, Y. . A chemical approach for global protein knockdown from mice to non-human primates. Cell Discovery. 2019;5:10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-018-0079-1.

496. Chen Y, Yuan, X., Tang, M., Shi, M., Yang, T., Liu, K., Deng, D., & Chen, L. Degrading flt3-itd protein by proteolysis targeting chimera (PROTAC). Bioorganic Chemistry. 2022;119:105508. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.105508.

497. Donoghue C, Cubillos-Rojas, M., Gutierrez-Prat, N., Sanchez-Zarzalejo, C., Verdaguer, X., Riera, A., & Nebreda, A.R. . Optimal linker length for small molecule PROTACs that selectively target p38α and p38β for degradation. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;201:112451. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112451.

498. Gao H, Wu, Y., Sun, Y., Yang, Y., Zhou, G., & Rao, Y. . Design, synthesis, and evaluation of highly potent fak-targeting PROTACs. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;11(10):1855-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00372.

499. Li Z, Lin, Y., Song, H., Qin, X., Yu, Z., Zhang, Z., Dong, G., Li, X., Shi, X., Du, L., Zhao, W., & Li, M. . First small-molecule PROTACs for g protein-coupled receptors: inducing α1A-adrenergic receptor degradation. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2020;10(9):1669-79. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.01.014.

500. Zhao B, & Burgess, K. . PROTACs suppression of cdk4/6, crucial kinases for cell cycle regulation in cancer. Chemical Communications. 2019;55(18):2704. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/C9CC00163H.
501. Zhou L, Chen, W., Cao, C., Shi, Y., Ye, W., Hu, J., Wang, L., & Zhou, W. . Design and synthesis of α-naphthoflavone chimera derivatives able to eliminate cytochrome p450 (cyp)1b1-mediated drug resistance via targeted cyp1b1 degradation. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;189:112028. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.112028.

502. Disch JS, Duffy, J.M., Lee, E.C.Y., Gikunju, D., Chan, B., Levin, B., Monteiro, M.I., Talcott, S.A., Lau, A.C., Zhou, F., Kozhushnyan, A., Westlund, N.E., Mullins, P.B., Yu, Y., von Rechenberg, M., Zhang, J., Arnautova, Y.A., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., McRiner, A.J., Keefe, A.D., Kohlmann, A., Clark, M.A., Cuozzo, J.W., Huguet, C., & Arora, S. Bispecific estrogen receptor α degraders incorporating novel binders identified using DNA-encoded chemical library screening. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(8):5049-66. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00127.

503. Liang JJ, Xie, H., Yang, R.H., Wang, N., Zheng, Z.J., Zhou, C., Wang, Y.L., Wang, Z.J., Liu, H.M., Shan, L.H., & Ke, Y. Designed, synthesized and biological evaluation of proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) as ar degraders for prostate cancer treatment. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;45:116331. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2021.116331.

504. Zhao B, & Burgess, K. TrkC-targeted kinase inhibitors and PROTACs. Molecular Pharmaceutics. 2019;16(10):4313-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.9b00673.

505. Wang L, Shao, X., Zhong, T., Wu, Y., Xu, A., Sun, X., Gao, H., Liu, Y., Lan, T., Tong, Y., Tao, X., Du, W., Wang, W., Chen, Y., Li, T., Meng, X., Deng, H., Yang, B., He, Q., Ying, M., & Rao, Y. Discovery of a first-inclass cdk2 selective degrader for aml differentiation therapy. Nature Chemical Biology. 2021;17(5):567-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00742-5.

506. Hati S, Zallocchi, M., Hazlitt, R., Li, Y., Vijayakumar, S., Min, J., Rankovic, Z., Lovas, S., & Zuo, J. AZD5438-PROTAC: a selective cdk2 degrader that protects against cisplatin- and noise-induced hearing loss. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;226:113849. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113849.

507. Zhang J, Chen, P., Zhu, P., Zheng, P., Wang, T., Wang, L., Xu, C., Zhou, J., & Zhang, H. Development of small-molecule brd4 degraders based on pyrrolopyridone derivative. Bioorganic Chemistry. 2020;99:103817. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2020.103817.

508. Zhang F, Wu, Z., Chen, P., Zhang, J., Wang, T., Zhou, J., & Zhang, H. Discovery of a new class of PROTAC brd4 degraders based on a dihydroquinazolinone derivative and lenalidomide/pomalidomide.
Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;28(1):115228. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2019.115228.
509. Liu H, Sun, R., Ren, C., Qiu, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, B. Construction of an IMiD-based azide library as a kit for PROTAC research. Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry. 2021;19(1):166-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ob02120b.

510. Bielskienė K, Bagdonienė, L., Mozūraitienė, J., Kazbarienė, B., & Janulionis, E. . E3 ubiquitin ligases as drug targets and prognostic biomarkers in melanoma. Medicina. 2015;51(1):1-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medici.2015.01.007.

511. Qi J, & Ronai, Z.A. . Dysregulation of ubiquitin ligases in cancer. Drug Resistance Updates. 2015;23:1-11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drup.2015.09.001.

512. George AJ, Hoffiz, Y.C., Charles, A.J., Zhu, Y., & Mabb, A.M. A comprehensive atlas of E3 ubiquitin ligase mutations in neurological disorders. Frontiers in Genetics. 2018;9:29. doi:

https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00029.

513. Deng L, Meng, T., Chen, L., Wei, W., & Wang, P. . The role of ubiquitination in tumorigenesis and targeted drug discovery. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2020;5(1):11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0107-0.

514. Humphreys LM, Smith, P., Chen, Z., Fouad, S., & D'Angiolella, V. . The role of E3 ubiquitin ligases in the development and progression of glioblastoma. Cell Death and Differentiation. 2021;28(2):522-37. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00696-6.

515. Hughes GR, Dudey, A.P., Hemmings, A.M., & Chantry, A. Frontiers in PROTACs. Drug Discovery Today. 2021;26(10):2377-83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2021.04.010.

516. Maniaci C, Hughes, S.J., Testa, A., Chen, W., Lamont, D.J., Rocha, S., Alessi, D.R., Romeo, R., & Ciulli, A. . Homo-PROTACs: bivalent small-molecule dimerizers of the VHL E3 ubiquitin ligase to induce self-degradation. Nature Communications. 2017;8(1):830. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00954-1.

517. Steinebach C, Lindner, S., Udeshi, N.D., Mani, D.C., Kehm, H., Köpff, S., Carr, S.A., Gütschow, M., & Krönke, J. . Homo-PROTACs for the chemical knockdown of cereblon. ACS Chemical Biology. 2018;13(9):2771-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00693.

518. He S, Ma, J., Fang, Y., Liu, Y., Wu, S., Dong, G., Wang, W., & Sheng, C. . Homo-PROTAC mediated suicide of MDM2 to treat non-small cell lung cancer. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2021;11(6):1617-28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.11.022.

519. Girardini M, Maniaci, C., Hughes, S.J., Testa, A., & Ciulli, A. . Cereblon versus VHL: hijacking E3 ligases against each other using PROTACs. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2019;27(12):2466-79. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2019.02.048.

520. Mayer G, & Heckel, A. . Biologically active molecules with a "light switch". Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2006;45(30):4900-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200600387.

521. Szymański W, Beierle, J.M., Kistemaker, H.A., Velema, W.A., & Feringa, B.L. . Reversible photocontrol of biological systems by the incorporation of molecular photoswitches. Chemical Reviews. 2013;113(8):6114-78. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/cr300179f.

522. Lerch MM, Hansen, M.J., van Dam, G.M., Szymanski, W., & Feringa, B.L. Emerging targets in photopharmacology. Angewandt Chemie International Edition. 2016;55(37):10978-99. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201601931.

523. Hüll K, Morstein, J., & Trauner, D. . In vivo photopharmacology. Chemical Reviews. 2018;118(21):10710-47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00037.

524. Silva JM, Silva, E., & Reis, R.L. . Light-triggered release of photocaged therapeutics - where are we

now? Journal of Control Release. 2019;298:154-76. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.02.006.
 Pfaff P, Samarasinghe, K.T.G., Crews, C.M., & Carreira, E.M. Reversible spatiotemporal control of induced protein degradation by bistable photoPROTACs. ACS Central Science. 2019;5(10):1682-90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.9b00713.

526. Reynders M, Matsuura, B.S., Bérouti, M., Simoneschi, D., Marzio, A., Pagano, M., & Trauner, D. . PHOTACs enable optical control of protein degradation. Science Advances. 2020;6(8):eaay5064. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay5064.

527. Jin YH, Lu, M.C., Wang, Y., Shan, W.X., Wang, X.Y., You, Q.D., & Jiang, Z.Y. Azo-PROTAC: novel light-controlled small-molecule tool for protein knockdown. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020;63(9):4644-54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b02058.

528. Naro Y, Darrah, K., & Deiters, A. . Optical control of small molecule-induced protein degradation. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2020;142(5):2193-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b12718.

529. Kounde CS, Shchepinova, M.M., Saunders, C.N., Muelbaier, M., Rackham, M.D., Harling, J.D., & Tate, E.W. A caged E3 ligase ligand for PROTAC-mediated protein degradation with light. Chemical Communications. 2020;56:5532-5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/D0CC00523A.

530. Xue G, Wang, K., Zhou, D., Zhong, H., & Pan, Z. . Light-induced protein degradation with photocaged PROTACs. Journal of American Chemical Society. 2019;141(46):18370-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b06422.

531. Liu J, Chen, H., Ma, L., He, Z., Wang, D., Liu, Y., Lin, Q., Zhang, T., Gray, N., Kaniskan, H.Ü., Jin, J., & Wei, W. . Light-induced control of protein destruction by opto-PROTAC. Science Advances. 2020;6(8):eaay5154. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay5154.

532. Cecchini C, Pannilunghi, S., Tardy, S., & Scapozza, L. . From conception to development: investigating PROTACs features for improved cell permeability and successful protein degradation. Frontiers in Chemistry. 2021;9:672267. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2021.672267.

533. Lee J, Lee, Y., Jung, Y.M., Park, J.H., Yoo, H.S., & Park, J. . Discovery of E3 ligase ligands for target protein degradation. Molecules. 2022;27(19):6515. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27196515.
534. Simpson LM, Glennie, L., Brewer, A., Zhao, J.F., Crooks, J., Shpiro, N., & Sapkota, G.P. . Target protein localization and its impact on PROTAC-mediated degradation. Cell Chemical Biology. 2022;29(10):1482-504.e7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2022.08.004.

535. Neklesa TK, Tae, H.S., Schneekloth, A.R., Stulberg, M.J., Corson, T.W., Sundberg, T.B., Raina, K., Holley, S.A., & Crews, C.M. . Small-molecule hydrophobic tagging-induced degradation of HaloTag fusion proteins. Nature Chemical Biology. 2011;7(8):538-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.597.

536. England CG, Luo, H., & Cai, W. . HaloTag technology: a versatile platform for biomedical applications. Bioconjugate Chemistry. 2015;26(6):975-86. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.5b00191.

537. Buckley DL, Raina, K., Darricarrere, N., Hines, J., Gustafson, J.L., Smith, I.E., Miah, A.H., Harling, J.D., & Crews, C.M. . HaloPROTACS: use of small molecule PROTACs to induce degradation of HaloTag fusion proteins. ACS Chemical Biology. 2015;10(8):1831-7. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00442.

538. Tomoshige S, Naito, M., Hashimoto, Y., & Ishikawa, M. . Degradation of HaloTag-fused nuclear proteins using bestatin-HaloTag ligand hybrid molecules. Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry. 2015;13(38):9746-50. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/c5ob01395j.

539. Nabet B, Roberts, J.M., Buckley, D.L., Paulk, J., Dastjerdi, S., Yang, A., Leggett, A.L., Erb, M.A., Lawlor, M.A., Souza, A., Scott, T.G., Vittori, S., Perry, J.A., Qi, J., Winter, G.E., Wong, K.K., Gray, N.S., & Bradner, J.E. . The dTAG system for immediate and target-specific protein degradation. Nature Chemical Biology. 2018;14(5):431-41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-018-0021-8.

540. Nabet B, Ferguson, F.M., Seong, B.K.A., Kuljanin, M., Leggett, A.L., Mohardt, M.L., Robichaud, A., Conway, A.S., Buckley, D.L., Mancias, J.D., Bradner, J.E., Stegmaier, K., & Gray, N.S. . Rapid and direct control of target protein levels with VHL-recruiting dTAG molecules. Nature Communications. 2020;11:4687. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18377-w.

541. Bond AG, Craigon, C., Chan, K.H., Testa, A., Karapetsas, A., Fasimoye, R., Macartney, T., Blow, J.J., Alessi, D.R., & Ciulli, A. Development of bromotag: a "bump-and-hole"-PROTAC system to induce potent, rapid, and selective degradation of tagged target proteins. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(20):15477-502. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c01532.

542. Nowak RP, Xiong, Y., Kirmani, N., Kalabathula, J., Donovan, K.A., Eleuteri, N.A., Yuan, J.C., & Fischer, E.S. Structure-guided design of a "bump-and-hole" bromodomain-based degradation tag. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2021;64(15):11637-50. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00958.

543. Cromm PM, & Crews, C.M. Targeted protein degradation: from chemical biology to drug discovery. Cell Chemical Biology. 2017;24(9):1181-90. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.05.024.

544. Bond MJ, & Crews, C.M. Proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) come of age: entering the third decade of targeted protein degradation. RSC Chemical Biology. 2021;2(3):725-42. doi: https://doi.org/10.1039/d1cb00011j.

545. Sun X, Gao, H., Yang, Y., He, M., Wu, Y., Song, Y., Tong, Y., & Rao, Y. PROTACS: great opportunities for academia and industry. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2019;4:64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-019-0101-6.

546. Nalawansha DA, & Crews, C.M. PROTACs: an emerging therapeutic modality in precision medicine. Cell Chemical Biology. 2020;27(8):998-1014. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.07.020.

547. Lu B, & Ye, J. Commentary: PROTACs make undruggable targets druggable: challenge and opportunity. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2021;11(10):3335-6. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2021.07.017.

548. He Y, Khan, S., Huo, Z., Lv, D., Zhang, X., Liu, X., Yuan, Y., Hromas, R., Xu, M., Zheng, G., & Zhou, D. Proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) are emerging therapeutics for hematologic malignancies. Journal of Hematology & Oncology. 2020;13:103. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00924-z.
549. Roy RD, Rosenmund, C., & Stefan, M.I. Cooperative binding mitigates the high-dose hook effect. BMC Systems Biology. 2017;11(1):74. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12918-017-0447-8.

550. Kostic M, & Jones, L.H. Critical assessment of targeted protein degradation as a research tool and pharmacological modality. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 2020;41(5):305-17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2020.02.006.

551. Pettersson M, & Crews. C.A. PROteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) – past, present and future. Drug Discovery Today: Technologies. 2019;31:15-27. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ddtec.2019.01.002.

552. Matsson P, & Kihlberg, J. How big is too big for cell permeability? Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2017;60(5):1662-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00237.

553. Atilaw Y, Poongavanam, V., Svensson Nilsson, C., Nguyen, D., Giese, A., Meibom, D., Erdelyi, M., & Kihlberg, J. Solution conformations shed light on PROTAC cell permeability. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2020;12(1):107-14. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.0c00556.

554. Wang Y, Jiang, X., Feng, F., Liu, W., & Sun, H. Degradation of proteins by PROTACs and other strategies. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2020;10(2):207-38. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2019.08.001.

555. A. M. Re-assessing the rule of 5, two decades on. Nature Review Drug Discovery.

2018;17(11):777. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2018.197.

556. Edmondson SD, Yang, B., & Fallan, C. Proteolysis targeting chimeras (PROTACs) in 'beyond ruleof-five' chemical space: recent progress and future challenges. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2019;29(13):1555-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2019.04.030.

557. Troup RI, Fallan, C., & Baud, M.G.J. Current strategies for the design of PROTAC linkers: a critical review. Exploration of Targeted Anti-tumor Therapy. 2020;1(5):273-312. doi: https://doi.org/10.37349/etat.2020.00018.

558. Zagidullin A, Milyukov, V., Rizvanov, A., & Bulatov, E. Novel approaches for the rational design of PROTAC linkers. Exploration of Targeted Anti-tumor Therapy. 2020;1(5):381-90. doi:

https://doi.org/10.37349/etat.2020.00023.

559. Kannt A, & Đikić, I. Expanding the arsenal of e3 ubiquitin ligases for proximity-induced protein degradation. Cell Chemical Biology. 2021;28(7):1014-31. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2021.04.007.

560. Ishida T, & Ciulli, A. E3 ligase ligands for PROTACs: how they were found and how to discover new ones. SLAS Discovery. 2021;26(4):484-502. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/2472555220965528.

561. García Jiménez D, Rossi Sebastiano, M., Vallaro, M., Mileo, V., Pizzirani, D., Moretti, E., Ermondi, G., & Caron, G. Designing soluble PROTACs: strategies and preliminary guidelines. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2022;65(19):12639-49. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.2c00201.

562. Zhao L, Zhao, J., Zhong, K., Tong, A., & Jia, D. Targeted protein degradation: mechanisms, strategies and application. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2022;7:113. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00966-4.

563. Takahashi D, Moriyama, J., Nakamura, T., Miki, E., Takahashi, E., Sato, A., Akaike, T., Itto-Nakama, K., & Arimoto, H. AUTACs: cargo-specific degraders using selective autophagy. Molecular Cell. 2019;76(5):797-810.e10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019.09.009.

564. Dey SK, & Jaffrey, S.R. RIBOTACs: small molecules target RNA for degradation. Cell Chemical Biology. 2019;26(8):1047-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.07.015.

565. Weng G, Cai, X., Cao, D., Du, H., Shen, C., Deng, Y., He, Q., Yang, B., Li, D., & Hou, T. PROTAC-DB 2.0: an updated database of PROTACs. Nucleic Acids Research. 2023;51(D1):D1367-D72. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac946.